
 

 
You can view the agenda on the website  
or use a smart phone camera and scan the code 

 
 

 
  

To: 
 
The Chair and Members 
of the Cabinet 
 

 

County Hall 
Topsham Road 
Exeter 
Devon  
EX2 4QD 
 

 

Date:  4 January 2022 Contact:  Karen Strahan, 01392 382264 

Email:  karen.strahan@devon.gov.uk 
 

CABINET 
 

Wednesday, 12th January, 2022 
 
A meeting of the Cabinet is to be held on the above date at 10.30 am in the Council 
Chamber - County Hall to consider the following matters. 
 
 Phil Norrey 
 Chief Executive 
 

A G E N D A 
 

 
 PART I - OPEN COMMITTEE 

 
1 Apologies for Absence  
 

2 Minutes  
 

 Minutes of the meeting held on 8 December 2021 (previously circulated). 
 

3 Items Requiring Urgent Attention  
 

 Items which in the opinion of the Chair should be considered at the meeting as 
matters of urgency. 
 

4 Announcements  
 

5 Petitions  
 

https://www.devon.gov.uk/democracy


6 Question(s) from Members of the Council  
 

 
 FRAMEWORK DECISION 

 
 NIL 

 
 KEY DECISIONS 

 
7 Budget Monitoring (Month 8) and Target Budget and Service Targets 2022/2023 

(Pages 1 - 6) 
 

 Report of the Director of Finance (DF/22/4) on the Budget Monitoring Position in 
the current financial year at Month 8 and giving an updated position on the Target 
Budget and Service Targets for 2022/2023, attached.  
 

  Electoral Divisions(s): All Divisions 
 

8 A Clean Growth Vision for Development (Pages 7 - 180) 
 

 Report of the Head of Economy, Enterprise and Skills (EES/22/1), on Clean 
Growth Opportunities and Vision for Development, attached. 
 
An Impact Assessment is also attached for the attention of Members at this 
meeting. 

  Electoral Divisions(s): Broadclyst; 
Whimple and Blackdown 

 
 MATTERS REFERRED 

 
9 Notice(s) of Motion (Pages 181 - 188) 
 

 The following Notices of Motion submitted to the County Council by the following 
Councillors have been referred to the Cabinet in accordance with Standing Order 
8(2) for consideration, to refer it to another Committee or make a recommendation 
back to the Council: 
 
(a) Restoring Railway Resilience (Councillor Hannaford) 

 
(b) After COP 26 (Councillor Atkinson) 

 
(c) Behaviour Change and Phasing Out Fossil Fuels (Councillor Hodgson) 

 
(d) Community Composting Initiatives (Councillor Hodgson) 
 

  Electoral Divisions(s): All Divisions 
 



 STANDING ITEMS 
 

10 Question(s) from Members of the Public  
 

11 Minutes  
 

 Minutes of the bodies shown below are circulated herewith for information or 
endorsement as indicated therein (i.e. any unstarred minutes):  
 

 a Farms Estate Interviewing Committee - 13th December, 2021 (Pages 189 - 
190) 

 b Farms Estate Interviewing Committee - 14th December, 2021 (Pages 191 - 
192) 

 c Farms Estate Interviewing Committee - 15th December, 2021 (Pages 193 - 
194) 
 

[NB: Minutes of County Council Committees are published on the Council’s Website:  

12 Delegated Action/Urgent Matters  
 

 The Register of Decisions taken by Members under the urgency provisions or 
delegated powers is available on the website in line with the Council’s Constitution 
and Regulation 13 of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings 
and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012.  The decisions taken and 
associated information can be found here.  
 

13 Forward Plan (Pages 195 - 206) 
 

 In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, the Cabinet is requested to review 
the list of forthcoming business (previously circulated) and to determine which 
items are to be defined as key and/or framework decisions and included in the 
Plan from the date of this meeting.  
 
The Forward Plan is available on the Council's website. 
 

 
 PART II - ITEMS WHICH MAY BE TAKEN IN THE ABSENCE OF THE PRESS 

AND PUBLIC 
 

 NIL 
 
 

Members are reminded that Part II Reports contain exempt information and should 
therefore be treated accordingly.  They should not be disclosed or passed on to any 
other person(s). They need to be disposed of carefully and should be returned to the 
Democratic Services Officer at the conclusion of the meeting for disposal. 

http://democracy.devon.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1
https://democracy.devon.gov.uk/mgDelegatedDecisions.aspx?&DR=14%2f03%2f2020-28%2f03%2f2020&RP=0&K=0&DM=3&HD=0&DS=2&Next=true&META=mgdelegateddecisions&V=0
http://democracy.devon.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=133&RD=0&bcr=1


MEETINGS INFORMATION AND NOTES FOR VISITORS 
 
Getting to County Hall and Notes for Visitors   
For SatNav purposes, the postcode for County Hall is EX2 4QD 
 
Further information about how to get to County Hall gives information on visitor 
parking at County Hall and bus routes. 
 
Exeter has an excellent network of dedicated cycle routes. For further information 
see the Travel Devon webpages.  
 
The nearest mainline railway stations are Exeter Central (5 minutes from the High 
Street), St David’s and St Thomas. All have regular bus services to the High Street.  
 
Visitors to County Hall are asked to report to Main Reception on arrival. If visitors 
have any specific requirements, please contact reception on 01392 382504 
beforehand.  
 
Membership of a Committee  
For full details of the Membership of a Committee, please visit the Committee page 
on the website and click on the name of the Committee you wish to see.  
 
Committee Terms of Reference  
For the terms of reference for any Committee, please visit the Committee page on 
the website and click on the name of the Committee. Under purpose of Committee, 
the terms of reference will be listed. Terms of reference for all Committees are also 
detailed within Section 3b of the Council’s Constitution.  
 
Access to Information 
Any person wishing to inspect any minutes, reports or background papers relating to 
an item on the agenda should contact the Clerk of the Meeting. To find this, visit the 
Committee page on the website and find the Committee. Under contact information 
(at the bottom of the page) the Clerk’s name and contact details will be present. All 
agenda, reports and minutes of any Committee are published on the Website  
 
Public Participation 
The Council operates a Public Participation Scheme where members of the public 
can interact with various Committee meetings in a number of ways. For full details of 
whether or how you can participate in a meeting, please look at the Public 
Participation Scheme or contact the Clerk for the meeting. 
 
In relation to Highways and Traffic Orders Committees, any member of the District 
Council or a Town or Parish Councillor for the area covered by the HATOC who is 
not a member of the Committee, may attend and speak to any item on the Agenda 
with the consent of the Committee, having given 24 hours’ notice. 
 
Webcasting, Recording or Reporting of Meetings and Proceedings 
The proceedings of any meeting may be recorded and / or broadcasted live, apart 
from any confidential items which may need to be considered in the absence of the 
press and public. For more information go to our webcasting pages  

https://new.devon.gov.uk/help/visiting-county-hall/
https://www.traveldevon.info/cycle/
https://democracy.devon.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
https://democracy.devon.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
https://democracy.devon.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=416&MId=2487&Ver=4&info=1
https://democracy.devon.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
https://democracy.devon.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
https://democracy.devon.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
https://www.devon.gov.uk/democracy/guide/public-participation-at-committee-meetings/part-1-can-i-attend-a-meeting/
https://www.devon.gov.uk/democracy/guide/public-participation-at-committee-meetings/part-1-can-i-attend-a-meeting/
https://devoncc.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


Anyone wishing to film part or all of the proceedings may do so unless the press and 
public are excluded for that part of the meeting or there is good reason not to do so, 
as directed by the Chair.  Filming must be done as unobtrusively as possible without 
additional lighting; focusing only on those actively participating in the meeting and 
having regard to the wishes of others present who may not wish to be filmed. 
Anyone wishing to film proceedings is asked to advise the Chair or the Democratic 
Services Officer in attendance.  
 
Members of the public may also use social media to report on proceedings.  
 
Declarations of Interest for Members of the Council  
It is to be noted that Members of the Council must declare any interest they may 
have in any item to be considered at this meeting, prior to any discussion taking 
place on that item. 
 
WiFI 
An open, publicly available Wi-Fi network (i.e. DCC) is normally available for 
meetings held in the Committee Suite at County Hall. 
 
Fire  
In the event of the fire alarm sounding, leave the building immediately by the nearest 
available exit following the fire exit signs.  If doors fail to unlock press the Green 
break glass next to the door. Do not stop to collect personal belongings; do not use 
the lifts; and do not re-enter the building until told to do so. Assemble either on the 
cobbled car parking area adjacent to the administrative buildings or in the car park 
behind Bellair. 
 

First Aid 
Contact Main Reception (Extension 2504) for a trained first aider.  
 
Mobile Phones 
Please switch off all mobile phones before entering the Committee Room or Council 
Chamber 
 
Alternative Formats 

If anyone needs a copy of an Agenda and/or a Report in 
another format (e.g. large print, audio tape, Braille or other 
languages), please contact the Customer Service Centre on 
0345 155 1015 or email: committee@devon.gov.uk or write to 
the Democratic and Scrutiny Secretariat in G31, County Hall, 
Exeter, EX2 4QD. 
Induction Loop available  

 
 

mailto:committee@devon.gov.uk




 
Cabinet 

12th January 2022 
DF/22/04 

BUDGET MONITORING 2021/22 & BUDGET TARGETS 2022/23 UPDATE 
Report of the Director of Finance 

 
Please note that the following recommendations are subject to consideration and 
determination by the Cabinet (and confirmation under the provisions of the Council's 
Constitution) before taking effect. 

Recommendation:  

a) That the month 8 budget monitoring forecast position is noted; 
b) That progress on the delivery of the Dedicated Schools Grant Management Plan 

is noted; and 
c) That the Provisional Settlement for 2022/23 is noted. 

 
1. Introduction 

1.1. This report outlines the financial position and forecast for the Authority at month 8 (to the 
end of November) of the financial year.   
 

1.2. At month 8 it is estimated that budgets will overspend by just over £8.3 million, an increase 
of £1.3 million from month 6.   

 
1.3. The Dedicated Schools Grant projected deficit, relating to Special Educational Needs and 

Disabilities (SEND), is forecast to be £39.0 million.  In line with Department of Education 
guidance this deficit will not be dealt with this financial year but carried to future years.  
 

1.4. Central government has continued to provide a number of grant funding streams this year 
to help support Local Authorities during the pandemic. The confirmed additional funding 
Devon County Council is expecting to receive directly this financial year is currently £50.7 
million, in addition to the £25.6 million carried forward from 2020/21. 

 
2. Revenue Expenditure Adult Care and Health Services 

 
2.1. Adult Care and Health services are forecast to overspend by just over £5.1 million, a 

reduction of £71,000 from month 6. This position includes £3.2 million of budgeted 
savings.  
 

2.2. Adult Care Operations is forecasting to overspend by just under £5.4 million, this is a mix 
of price and volume pressures. Within Learning Disabilities and Autism higher demand 
has continued into this year with client numbers in these areas being 142 more than the 
budgeted level of 3,569.  Older People is also experiencing significant pressures, mainly 
due to price pressures on residential and increase in the number of nursing placements 
which are 36 more than the budgeted level of 516. Adult Commissioning and Health and 
Mental Health is forecast to underspend by £230,000. 
 

3. Revenue Expenditure Children’s Services  

3.1. Children’s services are forecasting an overspend of £9.1 million an increase of £1.8 million 
from month 6.  However, this figure does not include the projected deficit of £39.1 million 
on Special Education Needs and Disabilities (SEND). 

Page 1

Agenda Item 7



3.2. Children’s Social Care is forecast to overspend by £7 million, an increase of £2.1 million 
from month 6. The forecast includes budgeted savings of £63,000 still considered 
deliverable. £1.78 million of the planned savings have been achieved to date. The Public 
Health Nursing Service is forecast to under spend by £554,000, due largely to 
accommodation cost savings and vacancy slippage. 

 
3.3. The forecast also includes a placements budget overspend of £3.3 million, an increase of 

just over £1.5 million from month 6, most of this increase relates to disabled childrens 
placements and independent residential care. Social Work Staffing, Strategic 
Management and legal disbursements together are forecasting an overspend of £1.7 
million mainly due to agency staff costs. Special Guardianship Orders and Adoption 
allowances, Early Help, and the Atkinson Secure Children’s Home combined are 
forecasting a total overspend of £2 million. 
 

3.4. The non-Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) element of Education and Learning is 
forecasting an overspend of just over £2.6 million, a reduction of £67,000 from month 6. 
Pressures continue within school transport, the result of rising costs associated with 
contract changes, and additional SEND personalised transport routes linked to continued 
growth in numbers.  

 
3.5. Within the DSG High Needs Block, SEND is forecasting an overspend of just over £39.1 

million, an increase of £3.1 million from month 6.  
 

3.6. The Council, in line with government guidance issued in 2020/21, continues to hold the 
SEND deficit in an adjustment account on the balance sheet.  A Statutory instrument that 
states all DSG deficits carried over from 2019/20 into 2020/21, and any subsequent deficit 
positions for the term of the override, are to be moved to an unusable reserve through a 
statutory accounting adjustment until April 2023 has now been enacted. In practice this 
means that the deficit does not have a negative impact on the assessment of the County 
Councils financial sustainability. 
 

3.7. At the end of 2020/21 the DSG reported a cumulative deficit of £48.9 million which was 
carried forward as a deficit reserve as per government guidance. When combined with 
the current year forecast the deficit is expected to be £88.1 million by the end of 2021/22. 
 

3.8. Education and Learning and Finance have developed a shared management plan which 
seeks to ensure children with SEN receive the support they need, whilst also addressing 
the funding deficit. Following discussions with the Department for Education regarding our 
detailed management plan the County Council has now commended participation in the 
Safety Valve Intervention Programme. The aim of this programme is to agree with the 
Department a package of reform to the high needs system that will bring the DSG deficit 
under control. The current management plan will form the basis of these discussions but 
will also include consideration of capital investment.  The intervention is expected to 
conclude with an agreed package of support measures and actions by the end of this 
financial year.  

 

3.9. For 2021/22 the current management plan contains a savings target of £6.2 million.  The 
forecast delivery at month 8 continues to be £2.1 million.  £4.1 million has been identified 
as undeliverable this financial year.  The demand growth from schools for new EHCP 
requests into the 0-25 team has continued. 

 
   

4. Revenue Expenditure Highways, Infrastructure Development and Waste 

Page 2

Agenda Item 7



4.1. Highways, Infrastructure Development and Waste is forecasting an underspend of 
£290,000 an improvement of £76,000 from month 6, the result of additional overheads 
being funded from the highways permitting scheme. Waste tonnages have increased 
significantly during the year, but the service is currently expected to outturn to budget. 
Highways is on track to fully deliver planned works programmes within budget, although 
this could be impacted if extreme weather is encountered over the winter. 

 
5. Revenue Expenditure Other Services 

  
5.1. Communities, Public Health, Environment and Prosperity (COPHEP) are forecasting an 

underspend of £1.5 million an improvement of £305,000 since month 6. The transport fleet 
continues to incur lower fuel and maintenance costs than budgeted as the pandemic 
continues to reduce activity, the County Hall travel plan remains on hold following the 
pandemic and a number of programmes within Communities have faced significant 
delays, the service has also received several significant planning applications which have 
resulted in improved fee income estimates. Corporate Services are forecasting an 
underspend of £671,000, and small reduction of £13,000 from month 6, pressures within 
Legal and HR continue to be more than offset by the forecast underspends within Digital 
Transformation and Business support. 

 
5.2. Non-service items, which include capital financing charges and business rates pooling 

gain, are forecast to underspend by £3.5 million.  
 

6. Capital Expenditure 
 

6.1. The approved capital programme for the Council is £216.7 million. This figure incorporates 
amounts brought forward from 2020/21, and other prior year approvals, of £46.2 million, 
and in year additions of £23.1 million.  Of this increase £21.2 million is externally funded. 
 

6.2. The year-end forecast at Month 8 is £184.4 million. Slippage is forecast at £32.3 million. 
 

6.3. Wherever possible slippage is offset by the accelerated delivery of other approved 
schemes within the capital programme.  The main areas of net slippage can be attributed 
to scheme variations and programme delays in Planning, Transportation and 
Environment, which reflects the complexity of the major schemes within this service area. 
 

6.4. Material and labour price increases are being experienced which are starting to 
detrimentally impact the delivery costs and tender prices being returned within the capital 
programme. This is currently being managed within existing funding and will continue to 
be monitored. 

 

7. Debt Over 3 Months Old  

7.1. Corporate aged debt stood at £2.3 million, being just over 1.0% of the annual value of 
invoices, against the annual target of 1.9%. The balance of debt owed will continue to be 
pursued with the use of legal action where appropriate to do so.  

 
 
 

8. Covid-19 funding 
 

8.1. In response to the COVID-19 outbreak the Government has continued to put in place a 
number of grant funding streams to help support Local Authorities in responding to the 

Page 3

Agenda Item 7



pandemic, most are a continuation of arrangements established last year.  To date Devon 
County Council is in direct receipt of pandemic related grants with a confirmed value of 
£50.7 million. 
 

8.2. In addition to the funds received this year the Authority was able to carry forward £25.6 
million of funding received last year. This mainly related to Contain Outbreak Management 
Funding, Test and Trace Funding and the Covid support Grant. 
 

8.3. These grants continue to have separate terms and conditions and differing levels of 
flexibility around their application and use, and plans continue to be developed for 
application of the funding. 

 

9. Provisional Local Government Settlement 2022/23 
9.1. On 16 December 2021, the Secretary of State for the Department for Levelling Up, 

Housing and Communities (DLUHC), Rt. Hon. Michael Gove MP, released a written 
statement to Parliament on the provisional local government finance settlement 2022/23. 
 

9.2. The 2022/23 local government finance settlement is for one year only and is based on the 
Spending Review 2021 (SR21) funding levels. This is the first time since 2015 that, in the 
context of a multi-year Spending Review, the government has only provided local 
authorities with a single-year settlement. 
 

9.3. Spending Review 2021 Additional Funding – The Chancellor announced an additional 
£1.6bn per annum (2022/23 to 2024/25) for local government as part of SR21.  The 
majority of this amount has been included in the Core Spending Power figures.  Based on 
the figures in the Core Spending Power amounts, there has been a net increase in funding 
(excluding the multiplier adjustment and Adult Social Care reform funding) of £1.526bn.   
A breakdown of this change is shown below.   
 

• + £822m – 2022/23 Services Grant – A new grant based on 2013/14 SFA shares 

• + £636m – Increase to the Social Care Grant  

• + £63m – Inflationary increase to the Improved Better Care Fund 

• + £72m – Increased RSG (based on CPI) 

• (£68m) –  Reduction in New Homes Bonus Funding 
 

9.4. Council Tax – As previously announced at SR21, the council tax referendum limit will be 
2% for local authorities, with social care authorities allowed an additional 1% social care 
precept.  
 

9.5. Local Government Funding Reform – No papers were published relating to the Fair 
Funding Review or the Business Rates Reset.  It would appear the government intend to 
make further announcements in the new year, before then consulting on any potential 
changes.   

 

9.6. The table over sets out Devon’s Core Funding of £103.2 million and shows the other 
grants that have been announced so far.  Other grants are expected to be announced in 
the coming weeks and months and these will be reporting as part of the overall budget 
papers in February if known by then.  The provisional settlement is very close to what was 
expected, and no change is therefore proposed to the Budget Targets for 2022/23 that 
were agreed by Cabinet in December. 

 

Page 4

Agenda Item 7



 

 

10. Conclusion 
10.1. As stated in the report the forecast overspend at month 8 has deteriorated since month 

6.   The pressures within Adult Care and Health have stabilised but Children’s services 
has worsened.  Close monitoring will continue and action taken where possible.  
 

10.2. Government funding to support Local Authorities in responding to the Pandemic 
continues to be significant, but the transmissibility of the new Omicron variant will 
undoubtedly increase pressure on service delivery and increase financial risks.  
 

10.3. The continuing growth in demand for new Education and Health Care Plans within the 
Special Educational Needs and Disabilities services continue to be a concern but the 
commencement of the Safety Valve intervention will provide the support necessary to 
bring the service back in to balance. 
 

10.4. Although the Provisional Settlement represents an increase to the authority’s funding 
next year it is not sufficient to meet the demand and cost pressures being faced by the 
authority.  The authority will have no choice but to make savings in order to balance its 
budget. 
 

Angie Sinclair 

Director of Finance 

Electoral Divisions: All  
Cabinet Member: Councillor Phil Twiss                        
Local Government Act 1972: List of Background Papers  
Contact for Enquiries: Matthew Thorpe 
Tel No: (01392) 380711 Room: 195 
Date Published:            4TH January 2022                                                  

£000

Revenue Support Grant 566

BRRS Central Government Top Up 80,654

BRRS Local Element* 21,997

Core Funding 103,217

New Homes bonus 2,143

Rural Services Delivery Grant 7,823

Social Care Grant 32,317

Improved Better Care Fund 29,126

ASC Reform/Market Sustainability & Cost of Care Fund 2,413

Services Grant 7,076

Other Grants 80,898

*  the actual amount we receive will be derived from returns completed by our Devon Districts

Page 5

Agenda Item 7





EES/22/1 
Cabinet 

12 January 2022 
 

A Clean Growth Vision for Development 
 
Report of the Head of Economy Enterprise and Skills 
 
Please note that the following recommendations are subject to consideration and 
determination by the Cabinet (and confirmation under the provisions of the Council’s 
Constitution) before taking effect. 

Recommendation: that Cabinet  
(a) endorses the West of East Devon Clean Growth Vision and a supporting 

Clean Growth Strategy report to enable it to be submitted to the East Devon 
District Council local plan consultation 

(b) to note that this is a pilot study that can be replicated elsewhere in Devon to fit 
in with local planning cycles and support sustainable development and the 
Devon Carbon Plan. 

1. Summary 
 
This report seeks the Council’s endorsement of the Clean Growth Vision for the 
West of East Devon and the strategy, commissioned by the County Council and 
agree it is submitted as part of the County Council’s evidence into the East Devon 
District Council local plan consultation. The report has been commissioned as a pilot 
approach by the Council to support establishing a clear framework for transitioning to 
a net zero economy. This approach can be applied to support other local plan 
development at the appropriate time, and subject to budget, to support the Devon 
Carbon Plan implementation. 
 
The vision document and supporting strategy focus on low carbon economic growth 
in the West of East Devon (WoED) The report outlines a vision for the area, 
recommends a series of actions that reflect priorities for growth and contains an 
Annexe of implementation projects that fit with the vision and could be used as a 
framework for funding bids. 
 
The study is also being submitted to East Devon District Council’s strategic planning 
committee for their endorsement as evidence for the production of the local plan. 
 
The Clean Growth Vision for the WoED is in three parts – a Vision document, a 
supporting technical report and an Annexe of anchor opportunities, set out in the 
appendices. 

2. Introduction 
 
The government defines clean growth as meaning growing our national income while 
cutting greenhouse gas emissions and launched its 10 point plan for a green 
industrial revolution in 2020.  Priority areas for investment range from offshore wind 
and greener buildings to green finance and protecting our natural environment, with 

Page 7

Agenda Item 8



the intention to decouple growth from carbon emissions and to enable the transition 
to a net zero economy through promoting innovation. 
 
In October 2021 government published its Net Zero Strategy, in the run up to 
COP26, which sets out how the UK will deliver on its commitment to reach net zero 
emissions by 2050. 
 
The Heart of the South West Local Enterprise Partnership also published its 
Blueprint for Clean Growth in 2021, which aims to grow the economy sustainably by 
delivering inclusive economic prosperity while protecting the environment, lowering 
emissions and enhancing natural capital. Six themes were prioritised towards 
achieving net zero by the 2040’s. This timeframe links with the draft East Devon 
Local Plan which runs until 2040. 
 
The Council has declared a climate emergency and committed to reach net zero for 
the Council in 2030 and for the County by 2050. This study helps identify how the 
Council can support economic growth in future, while meeting its net zero ambitions 
through sector innovation, natural capital investment, green skills and reducing 
emissions from transport and energy, focussing on part of East Devon. 
 
The Council commissioned this Clean Growth Vision to feed into the East Devon 
District Council local plan preparation and consultation as part of the evidence base, 
to consider the opportunities for development of clean growth sectors in the area and 
to support the sustainability of the airport. Opportunities to develop and support 
electric flights provides options for Exeter airport, in the wake of the loss of business 
resulting from the pandemic and the collapse of Flybe, supporting high quality jobs in 
the area. The first electric flight in England recently took off from Exeter Airport. 
 
The study considers the west of the district, including Cranbrook, nearby 
employment sites, including Exeter Science Park and Skypark and the wider 
surrounding area, including the Clyst Valley regional park and potential new areas 
for growth. As well as considering spatial factors and sectors, the vision also 
considers opportunities from the move to home working and covers other climate 
change aspects, such as transport, energy generation, skills requirements and 
building standards. 
 
Following a procurement process, City Science were appointed to undertake the 
work, which outlines the vision, makes a series of 11 delivery recommendations and 
provides an Annexe of 8 catalytic example projects that could deliver clean growth 
objectives and net zero outcomes. 

3. Proposal 
 
This vision and supporting technical report and annexe together represent a clean 
growth development and investment plan for the area identified, which could be 
replicated across other areas of the County and be used to support funding bids, for 
example for UK Shared Prosperity Fund or future growth funding. 
 
It fits with the Council’s declaration of a climate emergency and the commitment for 
the county to be net zero by 2050, as identified in the Devon Carbon Plan. 

Page 8

Agenda Item 8



 
The WoED is a place of exceptional assets - a special combination of natural capital, 
skilled innovators, ambitious local partnerships, energy resources, and ample space 
for business growth. It is a natural “gateway” linking Exeter and East Devon to the 
world through national and international connectivity. Already an established focal 
point for growth, the area is home to a growing number of high-performing, 
knowledge-intensive businesses, employment sites and new housing. 
 
The vision is for the area to be a carbon leader -for new development to be zero 
carbon and for the region to take pro-active steps to address emissions from legacy 
sectors. 
 
It sets out an ambition to provide leadership and new business opportunities in “hard 
to decarbonise” sectors where innovation is vital and where we have world-leading 
strengths –sustainable aviation, decarbonisation of transport, greener buildings, 
smart grids and environmental risk and finance. 
 
Utilising our world-leading skills delivery to provide opportunities for all to ensure that 
growth is inclusive and to deliver a place that enhances and works with its natural 
environment, providing an exceptional quality of life for all its residents. 
 
The vision is based on the idea that long-term job growth will be focused on 
knowledge-based assets and increased innovation.  The approach advocates 
bringing together industry, academic expertise, investment and demonstrators within 
a ‘Living Lab’. Four key areas for proactive investment that will help unlock the 
greatest economic benefits are identified – Sustainable Aviation, Greener Buildings 
Green Finance and Innovation and Smart Grids. 
 
Key themes identified are:  
 

 Redefining how we work and live well - unrivalled potential for the provision of a 
world-class lifestyle offer, set within the context of the Clyst Valley Regional 
Park and offers the potential for new types of workspace, that seize the 
opportunities for hybrid working. 

 A Thriving Innovation Ecosystem- to create a destination that fosters an 
entrepreneurial community, focused on solving society’s biggest challenges 
through the application and demonstration of world-class knowledge to 
stimulate new public, private, and research partnerships to unlock clean growth. 

 

 World-Class Demonstrators in Core Technologies- unlocking growth through 
four core technologies and a catalytic portfolio of innovation projects across 
Clean Growth sectors, with a focus on Sustainable Aviation, Greener Buildings, 
Green Finance & Innovation and Smart Grids. 

 

 Zero-Carbon Place-making - ensuring that every home is designed to be zero 
carbon and to create a sustainable, net zero carbon community, that gives 
residents and businesses a genuine alternative to the private car. 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 8



 Restoring Nature Connections - blurs the boundary between the built 
environment and natural landscape, enhancing the connections between 
people and nature. Integrated networks of nature recovery sites, habitats and 
wildlife corridors will weave through the area, supporting biodiversity net gain 
and rewilding and bringing nature to residents’ doorsteps. 

 

 Powered by Nature – using abundant natural resources to be leaders in clean 
energy infrastructure and with the opportunity to become net exporters, whilst 
spearheading the clean energy revolution and enhancing our natural 
environment. This will require wholesale change - trialling and adopting new 
technologies across our entire economy. 

 

 A Place for Creative Minds - creating the platform for new opportunity. To 
create the conditions for success by developing and delivering tailored skills 
pathways. Our vision, combined with world-leading skills provision, will inspire 
and excite a new generation of innovators. The vision aims to open up 
opportunities to all, while delivering a wide range of co-benefits including 
improved community cohesion, improved environment, healthier homes, and 
reduced energy and travel costs. 

 
The report includes 11 recommendations for delivery and provides some relevant 
case study examples from other locations. In summary the types of recommendation 
include: 
 

 Working in partnerships - to secure investment, market the area and develop 
bids for government funding  

 Growing our innovation potential through links to University, business support 
and encouraging entrepreneurship 

 Considering needs for infrastructure to support net zero development 

 Develop a skills strategy to reflect growth sectors 

 Wider considerations, such as housing affordability and the district’s climate 
targets 

 Development of a clean growth delivery action plan. 
 
The Annexe of Anchor Opportunities provides 8 catalytic projects that could be a 
focus for future funding bids or private investment, with an idea of costs, jobs, skills 
and GVA increases they would support and provides some examples from other 
areas where appropriate: 
 

1. Smart Grid and Energy Trading Research Centre £15 millions 
2. East Devon private wire feasibility study £50,000-£75,000 
3. Zero Carbon Community and Living Lab £300-400 millions 
4. Built Environment Innovation and Skills Hub £10 millions 
5. Sustainable Aviation Research Centre £20 millions 
6. Sustainable Finance Cluster £6-7 millions 
7. Crystal Clear Clyst Bond design study £100,000 – £110,000 
8. Clean Growth Gateway Park. 
 

Page 10

Agenda Item 8



4. Options/Alternatives 
 
There were two options to consider, endorse the vision document or do nothing. 
 

Option Pros Cons 

Endorse the vision, 
technical report and 
Annexe 

 offers 
recommendations and 
schemes to deliver 
clean growth in part of 
the County 

 garner support for the 
approach by formally 
endorsing 

 shows commitment to 
net zero objectives 
while supporting 
innovative economic 
growth 

 opportunity to replicate 
for other areas 

 Independent report, so 
not all findings will 
completely align with 
DCC priorities 

Do nothing   Opportunity to be a 
catalyst for change not 
taken 

 No buy-in from 
partners 

 Report “sits on shelf” 

 Limited opportunity to 
show potential to other 
districts 

5. Consultations 
 
City Science consulted with stakeholders within the Council and partners, via 
circulation of drafts for review, webinars, teams meetings, telephone calls and emails 
and the Council worked with East Devon district colleagues to finalise the scope and 
content to ensure a fit with local plan requirements. Key stakeholders, such as the 
University, Science Park, Airport, Exeter College were targeted to ensure their input 
had been considered. 

6. Financial Considerations 
 
No financial considerations. No additional funding is being sought to extend this 
approach to consider other local plan evidence.  External funding will be sought as 
the primary source of investment to take the recommendations forward. 

7. Legal Considerations 
 
There are no specific legal considerations. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 8



8. Environmental Impact Considerations (Including Climate Change) 
 
This report promotes a positive environmental message regarding the ability to carry 
out clean growth in Devon. There is no direct environmental benefit or impact from 
the study itself, however if the vision and recommendations were implemented there 
would be a significant positive environmental impact for the area and the Devon 
Carbon Plan overall. 

9. Equality Considerations 
 
Where relevant to the decision, the Equality Act 2010 Public Sector Equality Duty 
requires decision makers to give due regard to the need to: 
 

 eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other prohibited 
conduct; 

 

 advance equality by encouraging participation, removing disadvantage, taking 
account of disabilities and meeting people’s needs; and 

 

 foster good relations between people by tackling prejudice and promoting 
understanding. 

 
taking account of age, disability, race/ethnicity (includes Gypsies and Travellers), 
gender and gender identity, religion and belief, sexual orientation, pregnant women/ 
new and breastfeeding mothers, marriage/civil partnership status in coming to a 
decision, a decision maker may also consider other relevant factors such as caring 
responsibilities, rural isolation or socio-economic disadvantage. 
 
This may be achieved, for example, through completing a full Equality Impact Needs 
Assessment / Impact Assessment or other form of options/project management 
appraisal that achieves the same objective. 
 
In progressing this proposal, an Impact Assessment has been prepared which has 
been circulated separately to Cabinet Councillors and is also available alongside this 
Report on the Council’s website at: https://www.devon.gov.uk/impact/a-clean-growth-
vision-for-development/, which Councillors will need to consider for the purposes of 
this item. 
 
There are no equality considerations impacting on the decisions sought from the 
recommendations in this report. 

10. Reasons for Recommendations 
 
The Clean Growth Vision developed for the west of East Devon supports the 
development of clean growth sectors, skills and technologies in the area and 
provides recommendations and catalytic projects for future investment, sector 
innovation, skills provision and to protect the future of the airport and aviation sector. 
 
Endorsing the report enables the Council to support our climate change ambitions in 
East Devon but also by promoting the Vision as a blueprint, that can be used to 

Page 12

Agenda Item 8

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.devon.gov.uk%2Fimpact%2Fa-clean-growth-vision-for-development%2F&data=04%7C01%7Ckaren.strahan%40devon.gov.uk%7Cee50c0f3629a4cdd923a08d9c49648ed%7C8da13783cb68443fbb4b997f77fd5bfb%7C0%7C0%7C637756972004569081%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=RnA9HwPkvEzQCrDZBN0Ykbv4pNYUhDTz5XyKFnvGZWU%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.devon.gov.uk%2Fimpact%2Fa-clean-growth-vision-for-development%2F&data=04%7C01%7Ckaren.strahan%40devon.gov.uk%7Cee50c0f3629a4cdd923a08d9c49648ed%7C8da13783cb68443fbb4b997f77fd5bfb%7C0%7C0%7C637756972004569081%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=RnA9HwPkvEzQCrDZBN0Ykbv4pNYUhDTz5XyKFnvGZWU%3D&reserved=0


develop further opportunities for net zero growth in other sectors, for example 
marine, offshore wind and agritech could be key opportunities in other parts of the 
county worth investigating. 
 
Keri Denton 
Head of Economy Enterprise and Skills 
 
Electoral Divisions: Broadclyst; Whimple and Blackdown 
 
Cabinet Member for Economic Recovery and Skills Councillor Rufus Gilbert 

Local Government Act 1972: List of Background Papers 
Contact for Enquiries:  Melanie Sealey 
Tel No:  01392 383000  Room: County Hall, Exeter EX2 4QD 
 
Background Paper   Date   File Reference 
 
The West of East Devon Redefining how we work and live well – A Clean Growth 
Vision of the West of East Devon  
Vision, Strategy and Anchor Opportunities documents 2021 
Available as an additional document to this Cabinet Report at 
https://democracy.devon.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=4178&Ver=4   
 
A Clean Growth Vision for Development - Final 
 

Page 13

Agenda Item 8

https://democracy.devon.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=4178&Ver=4




The West of East Devon:
Redefining how we work 
and live well

P
age 15



Redefining 
how we work 
and live well
A Clean Growth Vision for the 
West of East Devon

Imagine a place that exemplifies 
carbon leadership – zero carbon by 
design, working symbiotically with 
the resources nature provides.  
Imagine a place where housing is 
Low-Carbon and high quality.  
Imagine a place that enhances and 
works with its natural environment, 
creating hectares of new country 
parks, while renewing and recovering 
biodiversity.  Imagine a place that 
embraces the future of work, that 
attracts world-class innovators, grows 
green skills and supports the 
development of world-class 
solutions.  Imagine a place where you 
can enjoy everything nature has to 
offer – coast, country, thrill-seeking 
or quiet reflection.

Now, imagine being able to call a 
place like this home. 

Our Clean 
Growth Vision
Transitioning our economy to one underpinned by clean growth is one of the greatest 
industrial opportunities of our time.  Our vision is for the West of East Devon to play a 
leading role in this transition, not just within the South West, but also exploiting local 
invention and knowledge nationally and internationally to increase our influence and impact.

Our vision for the West of East Devon is to be to be a carbon leader - for new development 
to be zero carbon and for the region to take proactive steps to address emissions from legacy 
sectors.  Our vision is to provide leadership and new business opportunities in “hard to 
decarbonise” sectors where innovation is vital and where we have world-leading strengths –
sustainable aviation, decarbonisation of transport, greener buildings, smart grids and 
environmental risk and finance.  Our vision is to radically reduce carbon while growing our 
economy and, through world-leading skills delivery, providing opportunities for all to ensure 
that growth is inclusive.  Our vision is to deliver a place that enhances and works with its 
natural environment, and provides an exceptional quality of life for all its residents. 

The West of East Devon is uniquely placed to lead.  Bringing together unique knowledge 
assets, world-leading environmental expertise, an airport committed to sustainable aviation, 
opportunities for retrofit and sustainable development, and industry-leading technology 
pilots, our area offers a rare combination of assets and innovative spirit that make it ideal as 
a demonstrator for whole-system change.

This document sets out our vision, opportunities and actions to put clean growth at the very 
heart of our economy.   Our vision is set out in five key themes:

Redefining how we work and live 
well

Invest & Learn

Zero-Carbon Place-Making

Energy from Nature

Inclusive Growth

Our vision to deliver a world-class lifestyle 
offer and seize the opportunities emerging 
from the future of work.  

Our vision to be leaders in clean energy 
infrastructure, utilising our natural 
resources to be net exporters of energy.

Our vision for a thriving innovation 
ecosystem, world-leading skills offer and 
active learning through demonstrators.

Our ambition to create a platform for new 
opportunity open to all, while ensuring the 
benefits of growth are felt widely.

Our vision for homes and places to be net 
zero and to enhance connections between 
people and nature.

P
age 16



Building on Our 
Key Strengths
Unique Assets in Close 
Proximity

Background
The West of East Devon

The West of East Devon is a place of exceptional assets - a special combination of natural capital, 
skilled innovators, ambitious local partnerships, energy resources, and ample space for Low-Carbon 
business growth.  The West  of East Devon is a natural “gateway” linking Exeter and East Devon to 
the world through national and international connectivity.  Already an established focal point for 
growth, the West of East Devon is home to a growing number of high-performing, knowledge-
intensive businesses, employment sites and new housing.  

Figure 1: The West of East Devon Study Area

Figure 2: GVA per Job in East Devon compared to Exeter, the South West and England

Figure 3: R&D Spend Per Capita in Devon compared to the South West and UK

The West of East Devon, shown in Figure 1, is 
an area of development set within close 
proximity to the Clyst Valley Regional Park and 
bounded by a series of Green Wedges.  The 
new settlement of Cranbrook is the largest 
town in the West and plays a core role in the 
growth plans for the area. There are plans for 
Cranbrook to expand up to 8,000 homes by 
2031 at which point it is expected to be the 
second largest town in East Devon. Cranbrook 
is also planned to include over 12,000m2 of 
employment land and other services 
alongside new housing.

The East Devon Economy

Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, economic 
growth in East Devon was similar to that of 
the wider South West.  Productivity in East 
Devon is higher than other local districts such 
as Mid Devon and West Devon.  However, 
productivity lags that of the South West 
(Figure 2) and is significantly below that of 
England as a whole.  

Key sectors within the area include air 
transport, wholesale trade and warehousing 
and support services for transport.  90% of air 
transport employment was provided by Flybe 
which went into administration in 2020.  
While Flybe’s business and assets were 
bought in April 2021, the long-term impacts 
are still uncertain.  Fortunately the area has 
seen growth in the logistics sector, driven by 
the investment by large international 
corporations (Lidl, Amazon, DPD).  East Devon 
will need to support the local workforce in 
building the skills of the future for green 
growth and a stronger economy.

Long-term job growth is focused around 
knowledge-based assets and increased 
innovation.  For example, Exeter Science Park 
provides a core site for knowledge-intensive, 
R&D-focused businesses.  This, and adjacent 
sites, are seen as a key driver for R&D 
investment within Devon (Figure 3) to 
increase wider productivity, employment and 
prosperity.

High-growth sub-region

Skills Provision

Natural Assets

Unique Synergy

Human Capital

Strong Partnerships

The area’s uniqueness stems from having collaborative assets and 
capabilities within close proximity including natural resources, 
expertise in clean technology and opportune test sites. 

The area including Exeter and the West of East Devon is one of 
the fastest growing sub-regions in the country.  This strong spatial 
connection presents significant opportunity.

The University of Exeter, Exeter College and a range of other skills 
providers have a strong track-record of delivering integrated skills 
pathways and developing programmes to support industry need. 

The Clyst Valley Regional Park, wider landscape and green work 
space support an exceptional quality-of-life offer, with renewable 
resources providing significant decarbonisation opportunities. 

Considerable expertise exists within the region including within 
anchor institutions such as the University and Met Office, highly-
innovative businesses and local demonstrators and developments.

Regional partners have a strong legacy of collaboration, appetite 
for innovation and track-record for delivery.  This forward-looking 
spirit is exemplified by early leadership in heat networks. 

P
age 17



An Unrivalled 
Clean Growth 
Opportunity
Key Sectoral Specialisms to 
Catalyse Change

Our Innovation Ambition

Our region is home to world-class 
innovators undertaking ambitious trials to 
unlock new clean technologies.  Our 
ambition is to take a proactive approach, 
working with innovators to support and 
develop a pipeline of innovation projects 
and demonstrators across clean technology.  
This ‘Live Lab’ approach will ensure we 
broaden our portfolio of innovation projects 
even further.  These innovations will be 
essential to enabling the decarbonisation of 
aviation, buildings, freight and wider 
transport within our own region, but will 
also provide critical insights and solutions 
that can be exploited across the UK and 
internationally.  We will create clear links 
between innovation and scale-up to ensure 
we translate learnings from pilots into 
economic and decarbonisation benefits.

Case Study: 2Zero

The West of East Devon is already home to 
industry-leading trials in clean aviation.  
Bringing together a global consortium of 
innovators, the 2Zero project has 
demonstrated hybrid-electric aircraft on 
regional commercial routes between Exeter 
and Newquay Airports providing pathways 
to zero emission for regional aircraft 
operations.  The consortium includes 
California-based Ampaire, Rolls Royce, 
Loganair and Exeter and Devon Airports.  

Jet Zero
• Future-proofing a 

£12bn sector for the 
UK Economy.

• Potential to 
contribute to 5,200 
UK jobs

Greener Buildings
• Significant skills and 

systems opportunity.
• Potential to 

contribute to 50,000 
new UK jobs by 2030

• £11bn opportunity

Green Finance 
• Exceptional local 

expertise in climate 
risk forecasting

• World-leading 
business school and 
sustainable MBA

Smart Grids
• £67bn global market 

opportunity
• Exceptional research 

specialisms
• Leading assets and 

international 
projects

A Compelling 
Offer
The Investment Opportunity

The West of East Devon is a catalyst for growth.  The local area is one of the fastest-growing 
sub-regions in the UK already providing significant new housing and sustainable employment.  
Further investment in the West will act as a catalyst, driving the creation of new industries, 
skills development and economic benefits across the wider South West,.

Economic Opportunity

Increased R&D

Clean Investment

The West of East Devon will provide highly-productive employment and innovations that will  
drive productivity across the wider region.  Increased productivity within East Devon alone 
represents a £537 million opportunity through increased GVA. Access to a highly-skilled 
workforce in East Devon, Exeter and across Devon will support sustainable growth.   

Transitioning the economy to net zero presents a significant investment opportunity.  In 
buildings alone, this includes £394 million in the domestic sector and £140 million in the non-
domestic sector.  Our success will catalyse this investment, creating 7,000 new local jobs. 

Our vision is for the West of East Devon to 
stimulate significant new research and 
development.  By bringing together industry, 
academic expertise, investment, and 
demonstrators within our ‘Living Lab’, the 
West of East Devon will accelerate 
collaboration and new discoveries that deliver 
benefit locally and nationally and support 
business growth.

The West of East Devon is uniquely 
positioned to act as an integration point and 
real-world demonstrator for zero carbon 
technologies.  With local capabilities across 9 
out 10 technologies identified through the 
government’s Ten Point Plan for a Green 
Industrial Revolution, the West of East 
Devon presents a compelling opportunity to 
demonstrate how whole system 
transformation can be delivered.

Our ambition is to strengthen our growing 
portfolio of pilots and demonstrators across 
all Clean technologies.   We have identified 
four key areas for proactive investment that 
will unlock the greatest economic benefits 
for our region and the UK – Jet Zero, Green 
Finance, Greener Buildings and Smart Grids.

P
age 18



Energy from Nature
Infrastructure of the Energy Revolution

Our vision is to be leaders in clean energy infrastructure.  As a region blessed with natural 
resources, we have an opportunity to be net exporters of energy, whilst spearheading the clean 
energy revolution and enhancing our natural environment.  This will require wholesale change -
trialling and adopting new technologies across our entire economy.  

We will become leaders in clean energy infrastructure by:
• Developing and supporting a diverse portfolio of energy innovation projects
• Supporting the development of SMART and renewable energy assets through the planning 

system
• Identifying opportunities to support accelerated investment into renewable energy
• Supporting research, trials, commercialisation and skills development across energy efficiency 

and generation technologies including Hydrogen
• Catalyse new collaborations between stakeholders, researchers and industry to unlock critical 

constraints.

The Centre for Future Clean 
Mobility

The Centre of Future Clean Mobility on 
Exeter Science Park, stands at the 
forefront of the road to zero carbon 
transport.  A research facility established 
by the Engineering Department of the 
University of Exeter, the Centre for Future 
Clean Mobility specialises in developing 
new hybrid and electric powertrain 
technologies for cleaner mobility.  Working 
with industry partners across maritime, 
aviation, freight, personal and 
autonomous vehicles, the Centre Future 
Clean Mobility has an extensive and 
growing portfolio of research projects.

Driving the Future
Testing and Scaling Solutions

Case Study: Electric 
Road Systems
The decarbonisation of long-haul road 
freight presents numerous technical, 
regulatory and design challenges.  The 
Centre for Future Clean Mobility is working 
with leading industry partners including 
Wood Plc and Furrer & Frey to explore the 
feasibility of Electric Road Systems as a 
potential decarbonisation technology for 
freight and logistics as part of a high-profile, 
DfT-funded project.

The West of East Devon is a natural hub of 
innovation in clean mobility.  Combining 
world-class research groups alongside a 
growing logistics sector, and airport 
committed to sustainable aviation, the area 
has a strong opportunity to pioneer 
approaches to decarbonisation of fleet, 
flight and specialist vehicles.  Many local 
businesses are already showing leadership 
in the decarbonisation of their fleets.  Our 
ambition is to build on this strong progress, 
supporting shared learnings and innovation 
projects to unlock opportunity.

We will strengthen our capabilities and 
visibility in this areas by:
• Proactively working with local operators 

to understand their decarbonisation 
needs

• Bringing together industry and academic 
to tackle complex decarbonisation 
challenges

• Develop innovation and demonstrator 
opportunities that work with our natural 
assets

• Actively promoting our successes on a 
national and international stage.

P
age 19



A Thriving 
Innovation 
Eco-system
Securing our future through 
invention today

The West of East Devon presents an 
enormous opportunity for innovation.  
Already the site of world-class innovation 
assets, exceptional digital and transport 
connectivity, ample space to grow and the 
benefits afforded by Enterprise Zone 
status, the West is an emerging 
powerhouse within the South West 
economy.

Our Vision is to foster an entrepreneurial 
community, focused on solving society’s 
biggest challenges through the application 
and demonstration of world-class 
knowledge. We will do this by…

• Delivering a World-Class Infrastructure Offer
Building on the exceptional assets and 
opportunities of the West, including the 
benefits afforded by Enterprise Zone status, we 
will deliver a world-class infrastructure offer 
that is attractive to businesses and employees 
alike, with the context of visionary 
decarbonisation targets.

• Actively Pursuing Innovation
We will actively pursue innovation and 
demonstration opportunities through a 
catalytic model to stimulate public, private, 
and research partnerships to unlock clean 
growth.

• Connecting Research & Industry
We will create the forum for collaboration 
within and around our core innovation themes, 
stimulating interest from global partners and 
growing our share of Foreign Direct 
Investment.

• Supporting Businesses at Every Stage
We will develop a proactive and 
entrepreneurial business support and funding 
network covering ideation, investment, go-to-
market, growth and scale-up to make the West 
of East Devon the best place to start a business 
within the South West.

• Fostering an Entrepreneurial Community
We will foster an Entrepreneurial Community, 
being guided by the needs of business at every 
stage in our pursuit of clean growth.

Delivering Inclusive Growth
A Place for People to Flourish

Building Futures

Stimulating Passion

Inclusive Opportunity

Our vision is build a future where everyone has a 
chance to flourish:
• Creating great places where people can thrive
• Creating new opportunities within our region
• Building future opportunities for all our residents
• Improving productivity and average wages
• And securing a zero carbon future for our planet.

Our vision creates the platform for new 
opportunity.  We will create the conditions for 
success by developing and delivering tailored 
skills pathways.  Our vision, combined with 
world-leading skills provision, will inspire and 
excite a new generation of innovators to create 
their own opportunities within clean growth.

An Entrepreneurial Spirit

This vision sets out a bold ambition for our 
region reflecting the dynamic, entrepreneurial 
spirit of our communities.  This vision is 
grounded in our shared passion for the natural 
environment.  By demonstrating how we can 
enhance our environment whilst supporting 
innovation we will create solutions that can be 
replicated globally.

It is essential to our vision that the benefits of clean 
growth are spread widely amongst all our 
communities.  Our vision for clean growth aims to 
open up opportunities to all, while delivering a wide 
range of co-benefits including improved community 
cohesion, improved environment, Net-Zero homes, 
and reduced energy and travel costs.

P
age 20



Our vision for skills provision is to 
create new symbiotic links 
between industry leaders in clean 
technology, skills providers, world-
class research and demonstrators 
across our region, promoting 
learning opportunities locally.   

Our ambition is that through skills 
development, the opportunities of 
Clean Growth are available to all.  
To support skills we will strengthen 
connections between learners and 
industry, providing real-world 
exposure to clean technology.

Our ambition is to create a 
vertically-integrated skills pathway 
that responds to the needs of the 
transition to Net Zero.  Our skills 
approach will be built on strong 
collaborations with industry and 
serve the needs of the whole UK.

Embracing the 
Future of Work
Hybrid Spaces and Places fit for 
Modern Industry

The world of work is changing.  While the 
COVID-19 pandemic has been devastating in 
many ways for many people, it has also 
accelerated significant changes in the way we 
work.  Greater flexibility, increasingly 
distributed teams and a proliferation of 
digital technologies are all key trends that are 
here to stay.  Collectively, these trends can 
support both improvements in productivity 
and quality of life as part of a well-designed 
work offer.

Our opportunity. The West of East Devon has 
a significant opportunity and aspiration to 
take a leading role in redefining workspaces 
for a modern, knowledge-based economy, 
supporting clean growth of new local start-
ups and relocating businesses.

Our Vision is to create places that 
accommodate the modern needs and 
aspirations of employees and businesses.  
Businesses locating in the West of East Devon 
will be able to provide an unrivalled 
employment offer.  Agile, vibrant work hubs 
will be designed and located to maximise 
employee autonomy, while connecting teams 
through a sense of community and 
entrepreneurial spirit.  Linked together by a 
network of tree-lined cycleways, these 
dynamic, digitally-connected hubs will have 
easy access to homes, nature, services, 
leisure and knowledge centres.  Collectively 
providing a “campus feel” the series of sites 
will maximise opportunities for collaboration,  
innovation and flexible growth.  

Transforming Skills for the Clean 
Growth Opportunity at the Future 
Skills Centre

Our transformative clean growth sectors are 
supported by ambitious and industry-leading 
skills provision.  Our regional partners have 
an exceptional track-record of pioneering 
skills development at all levels.  These 
partners work in collaboration with industry 
to create transformative skills pathways to 
deliver against business and technical need.  

Our skills offer for the Clean Growth 
opportunity will build on exceptional assets 
and training facilities such as the Future 
Skills Centre, maximising the potential for 
local learners to interact with industry and 
kick-start their career in Clean Technologies. 

Invest and Learn
Building on our unique skills offer

It is essential that the UK 
workforce has the correct skills for 
net zero to take advantage of the 
jobs being created. Our vision puts 
skills development at the heart of 
our response of the transition to a 
zero carbon economy. 

Vertically 
Integrated 

Skills 
Pathways

Clean Growth 
Industrial Need

World-Class 
Research and 

Innovation

Industry-
Leading Skills 

Provision

Learning from 
Real-World 

Demonstration

P
age 21



A Place to be 
Proud of
Leadership in Zero Carbon 
Place-Making

Zero Carbon Place-Making

Zero Carbon Homes

Infrastructure-led Development

Homes and places in the West of East 
Devon will be delivered in partnership 
with nature, embracing ambitious 
zero carbon place-making objectives. 

Community facilities will be within 
walking and cycling distances, while 
fast and reliable public transport will 
be prioritised over the private car.

Our region has already pioneered 
approaches to district heating and 
zero carbon standards of design.  

Our vision for the West will ensure 
that every home is designed to be 
zero carbon.  We will continue to 
pioneer new techniques and modern 
methods of construction to deliver 
high-quality homes, that are zero 
emissions over their lifetimes.

Our vision is to create a sustainable, net zero carbon community, that gives residents and 
businesses a genuine alternative to the private car.  We understand the need to deliver key 
infrastructure and services at the earliest possible opportunity to ensure that new residents 
have what they need on their doorstep.  

We will design communities around the concept of 20-minute neighbourhoods accessible by 
safe and attractive cycling routes and zero carbon public transport.  We will ensure the 
energy infrastructure to deliver net zero is secured up-front.  And we will ensure world-class 
digital connectivity to link local communities to global opportunities.

Restoring Nature

Connected Communities

Our vision for the West blurs the 
boundary between the built 
environment and natural landscape, 
enhancing the connections between 
people and nature.  Integrated 
networks of nature recovery sites, 
habitats and wildlife corridors will 
weave through the West, supporting 
biodiversity net gain and rewilding and 
bringing nature to residents doorsteps.

Our vision is to create diverse, mixed 
communities of homes, that serve the 
needs of first-time buyers, key workers, 
families, and downsizers.  

Our spatial vision will create accessible 
spaces for communities to gather 
including around communal public 
spaces, leisure facilities, parks, and 
community-owned assets.

P
age 22



A Chance to 
Redefine
Opportunities to Create 
With Us

The West of East Devon
The West of East Devon offers a number 
of valuable commercial, connectivity and 
green infrastructure assets.  Some of these 
assets are well established (such as Exeter 
Airport), whilst others provide new 
opportunities for high-quality 
development and economic growth.  This 
page sets out a selection of the core assets 
and opportunities for collaboration and 
investment.The Clean Growth Gateway

The Clean Growth Gateway includes 
a number of cornerstone assets and 
businesses at the Western tip of the 
West of East Devon including the Met 
Office a cluster of clean technology 
businesses. Key assets include Exeter 
Science Park – a site for innovative 
businesses, with Enterprise Zone 
status, in addition to existing space, 
Exeter Science Park has outline 
planning permission for 822,000 sq ft 
of development.

Jet Zero and The Sustainable 
Aviation Cluster

The Sustainable Aviation Cluster 
comprises a series of assets 
proximate to Exeter Airport, 
supported by the Net Zero 
Sustainable Aviation Board. These 
include:

• Skypark: With over 100 acres of 
space, Skypark aims to be the 
South West’s most significant 
Business Park development 
combining office, industrial and 
distribution space with a range of 
local facilities.

• Power Park:  Is one of four sites 
that make up the Exeter and East 
Devon Enterprise Zone and 
consists of land to the east of 
Exeter Airport designated for 
future development.

Clyst Valley Regional Park
The Clyst Valley Regional Park provides 2,338 
hectares of green space and habitats with a 
footprint that is roughly half the size of 
Exeter.  The aspiration is  that, over time, 
1,500 hectares will be fully accessible by the 
public, to complement developments within 
the West End and providing opportunities for 
leisure, active travel corridors and nature 
recovery.  

Cranbrook
xxx

Future Skills Centre
The Future Skills Centre is located on the 
site of the former Flybe Training 
Academy.  It was purchased by Devon 
County Council in 2020 to provide training 
and education opportunities to learners 
of all ages.  Run by Exeter College, the 
centre provides specialist facilities for the 
delivery of training for future-facing high-
tech jobs.

Energy Network Innovation

• Heat Networks: The region is a 
leader in the development of 
District Heat Networks. District 
Heat Networks present the 
opportunity to provide cost 
effective, low carbon heat to both 
residential and commercial 
properties. The Skypark Energy 
Centre provides hot water and 
heating to housing in Cranbrook 
and commercial buildings at 
Skypark as well as a private wire to 
the Lidl distribution centre, while 
the Monkerton Energy Centre 
provides hot water and heating to 
housing around Monkerton, 
Tithebarn and West Clyst, as well 
as commercial buildings at the 
Science Park.

• FAB Link: The FAB (France –
Alderney – Britain) project plans to 
construct an electrical 
interconnector underwater and 
underground between France and 
Great Britain via the island of 
Alderney. The link, which allows a 
maximum transmission of 1.4GW, 
will help to meet the need for 
increasing the capacity of energy 
trading between the UK and France
and provide a route to market for 
marine renewable energy as well 
as a potential opportunity to 
generate Green Hydrogen.

Cranbrook New Town
Cranbrook is a new town in the West of 
East Devon.  With around 3,000 
properties having already been delivered, 
Cranbrook is expected to eventually grow 
to 8,000 Net Zero Ready homes providing 
an opportunity to accelerate sustainable 
construction skills in East Devon.  
Cranbrook has a train station providing 
connectivity to Exeter and London.

Exeter Airport

Exeter Airport sits at the heart of the 
Sustainable Aviation Cluster and aims to 
be a leader in clean aviation.  The airport 
provides connectivity to a range of 
domestic and international destinations . 
Managed by RCA group who recognise 
that the decarbonisation of the aviation 
sector is critical to future success.

P
age 23



The West of East Devon
Redefining how we work and 

live well

P
age 24



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page |    
 

•  

 A Clean Growth 

Vision for 

Development in the 

West of East Devon  

Page 25



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | i  
 

Date issued:     30/11/2021 

Document status:    Final  

Version number:    1.5 

Document history: 

 

Authored by: 

Jo Muncaster Principal Consultant, City Science 

 

Contributions from: 

Grace Solsby, Jade Baker-Edwards, Simon Drake,  City Science 

Lee Stokes & Laurence Oakes -Ash 

 

Reviewed by: 

Lee Stokes City Science 

 

Approved by:  

Laurence Oakes-Ash CEO, City Science 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This report has been prepared by City Science Corporation Limited and its partner 

organisations with reasonable skill, care and diligence. This report is confidential to Devon 

County Council and its constituent parts and should not be shared with any external third 

parties, nor reproduced in whole or in part, without the prior written approval of City Science 

Corporation Limited.  

Author Version Change reference 

Jo Muncaster 1.0 First Draft  

Laurence Oakes-Ash 1.1 First Review 

Jo Muncaster 1.2 Second Review 

Laurence Oakes-Ash 1.3 Final Review 

Jo Muncaster 1.4 Update for Client Comments 

Jo Muncaster 1.5 Update for Client Comments 

Page 26



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | ii  
 

Executive Summary  

Vision Document 

Our vision for the West of East Devon is to be to be a carbon leader -for new development to be zero 

carbon and for the region to take pro-active steps to address emissions from legacy sectors.  Our 

vision is to provide leadership and new business opportunities in “hard to decarbonise” sectors where 

innovation is vital and where we have world-leading strengths –sustainable aviation, decarbonisation 

of transport, greener buildings, smart grids and environmental risk and finance.  Our vision is to 

radically reduce carbon while growing our economy and, through world-leading skills delivery, 

providing opportunities for all to ensure that growth is inclusive.  Our vision is to deliver a place that 

enhances and works with its natural environment and provides an exceptional quality of life for all its 

residents. 

The West of East Devon is a place of exceptional assets - a special combination of natural capital, 

skilled innovators, ambitious local partnerships, energy resources, and ample space for business 

growth.  It is a natural “gateway” linking Exeter and East Devon to the world through national and 

international connectivity.  Already an established focal point for growth, the West of East Devon is 

home to a growing number of high-performing, knowledge-intensive businesses, employment sites 

and new housing.   

The associated vision document builds on this evidence base and sets out a vision for the West of East 

Devon.  The West of East Devon has significant potential to be leader in Clean Growth, focused 

around its core assets and strengths.  Considering the key strengths and opportunities for the West of 

East Devon our Clean Growth Vision focuses on the following core themes: 

• Redefining how we work and live well.  The West of East Devon offers unrivalled potential for 

the provision of a world-class lifestyle offer.  Set within the context of the Clyst Valley 

Regional Park and its envisaged multi-use trails, the West of East Devon has significant 

opportunity to deliver low impact, local but connected living, creating highly-desirable places 

closely linked to their natural landscape.  The West of East Devon offers the potential for new 

types of work space, that seize the opportunities for hybrid working emerging following the 

COVID-19 pandemic. 

• A Thriving Innovation Ecosystem.  Our Vision for the West of East Devon is to create a 

destination that fosters an entrepreneurial community, focused on solving society’s biggest 

challenges through the application and demonstration of world-class knowledge.  Through 

the active pursuit of Innovation, our vision is that the West of East Devon stimulates new 

public, private, and research partnerships to unlock clean growth. 

• World-Class Demonstrators in Core Technologies.  Our Vision focuses on unlocking growth 

through four core technologies and a catalytic portfolio of innovation projects across Clean 

Growth sectors.  Our sectors of focus are Sustainable Aviation, Greener Buildings, Green 

Finance & Innovation and Smart Grids.   

Page 27



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | iii  
 

• Zero-Carbon Place-making.  Our vision is for Homes and places in the West of East Devon to 

be delivered in partnership with nature, embracing ambitious zero carbon place-making 

objectives.  Our vision for the West of East Devon will ensure that every home is designed to 

be zero carbon and to create a sustainable, net zero carbon community, that gives residents 

and businesses a genuine alternative to the private car.   

• Restoring Nature Connections.  Our vision for the West of East Devon blurs the boundary 

between the built environment and natural landscape, enhancing the connections between 

people and nature.  Integrated networks of nature recovery sites, habitats and wildlife 

corridors will weave through the area, supporting biodiversity net gain and rewilding and 

bringing nature to residents’ doorsteps. 

• Powered by Nature.  Our vision is to be leaders in clean energy infrastructure.  As a region 

blessed with natural resources, we have an opportunity to be net exporters of energy, whilst 

spearheading the clean energy revolution and enhancing our natural environment.  This will 

require wholesale change - trialling and adopting new technologies across our entire 

economy.   

• A Place for Creative Minds.  Our vision creates the platform for new opportunity.  We will 

create the conditions for success by developing and delivering tailored skills pathways.  Our 

vision, combined with world-leading skills provision, will inspire and excite a new generation 

of innovators to create their own opportunities within clean growth.  Our vision for clean 

growth aims to open up opportunities to all, while delivering a wide range of co-benefits 

including improved community cohesion, improved environment, healthier homes, and 

reduced energy and travel costs. 

Delivery Recommendations 

The following are recommendations based on our analysis, set out to aid the delivery and 

implementation of the vision.  Each of the recommendations made supports one of the five key 

themes in the vision. 

Recommendation 1:  Enhance Partnerships.  There is an opportunity to build 

from existing partnership structures and ensure that key partners and 

institutions are embraced within a robust governance structure.  This will help 

to provide a more effective platform from which to engage with central 

government and its agencies for example.  It will also help to align multiple 

different investment programmes, for example utility providers, to ensure that 

these work towards the achievement of this ambitious vision.  

Invest & Learn 

Page 28



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | iv  
 

Recommendation 2:  Innovation Portfolio.  A key challenge facing East Devon is 

that the number of innovation projects is currently insufficient within any 

particular technology to achieve the critical mass required to stimulate a new 

industry.  Our best practice review highlights key examples where the public 

sector has been able to catalyse development of a broad portfolio of innovation 

projects, in particular Oxfordshire’s iHub.  We recommend a similar model is 

adopted within East Devon with the objective of taking a pro-active role in 

stimulating and sourcing funding for a greater number of Clean Growth 

innovation and demonstrator projects that will drive down emissions.  

Recommendation 3:  Infrastructure First.  Delivery of truly sustainable places 

will require key services and alternatives to the private car to be provided as far 

in advance of housing delivery as possible.  Every opportunity to adopt an 

‘infrastructure first’ approach to delivery should be explored with a focus on 

connectivity and sensitive build aesthetics to complement the rural 

environment.  Opportunities to enable this are likely to be strengthened 

through the governance set out in Recommendation 1.   

Recommendation 4:  University Relationship.  The University has an essential 

role to play in the West of East Devon and could enable significant Government 

investment and business creation opportunities within key technologies.  

However, much needs to be done to improve the commercialisation of research 

which could provide such a significant opportunity for the region.  We believe 

an enhanced partnership would be in a strong position to influence and support 

changes and new activities that could improve the transfer of research to real-

world and commercial opportunities. 

Recommendation 5:  Future of Work.  Changes to working practices as a result 

of the COVID-19 pandemic, such as increased or flexible remote working, 

represent a strong opportunity to attract new businesses, employees and skills 

to the region, in particular in highly-productive sectors aligned to Climate Data 

such as financial services and energy efficient construction.  East Devon and 

partners should work with key sites within the West of East Devon to create a 

holistic marketing of residential and work-spaces that highlight the 

attractiveness of the area and responds to this emerging business need as well 

as determine a strategy to increase qualification levels in these key growth 

sectors, strongly linked to all types of available skills and training provision. 

Recommendation 6:  Business Support.  A more pro-active and entrepreneurial 

approach to business support should be adopted.  This should include 

mechanisms to encourage new business creation, mechanisms to fund new 

businesses from pre-seed through to growth, support to reach commercial 

customers and new markets and strong mentoring networks, where possible 

drawing on the knowledge and experience of successful local entrepreneurs. 

Zero-Carbon 

Place-Making 

Invest & Learn 

Zero-Carbon 

Place-Making 

Inclusive Growth 

Invest & Learn 

Redefining how 

we work and live 

well 

Invest & Learn 

Inclusive Growth 

Page 29



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | v  
 

Recommendation 7:  Strong Climate Targets.  East Devon’s climate targets were 

adopted prior to the Government’s adoption of the 2035 target for a 78% 

reduction in carbon emissions.  The West of East Devon is competing with other 

regions that have carbon targets that are more ambitious than even this.  While 

these differences may seem inconsequential, targets provide critical 

information to external stakeholders about the ambition of a region.  To 

heighten interest in the area as a centre for clean growth, targets will likely 

need to be updated and strengthened, with associated plans to support 

delivery.   

Recommendation 8:  Consider Wider Impacts.  Growth in the West of East 
Devon cannot be considered in isolation from wider potential effects.  For 
example, the affordability of housing is a challenge for the entire District - one 
that may be exacerbated over the long-term by migration trends resulting from 
the COVID-19 pandemic.  Whilst new, affordable housing has improved overall 
affordability in the region, if a price differential exists for new homes in the 
West of East Devon, compared to areas of employment (e.g. the City of Exeter 
or, for particular industries, coastal towns) this could have the effect of inducing 
longer distance trips for key workers who get priced out from other 
regions.  This is one of a number of examples that suggests that a holistic view 
should be taken to ensure that the economic benefits are spread widely and 
that policies are put in place to ensure the economic needs outside of the West 
of East Devon are met. 
 
Recommendation 9:  Delivery Action Plan.  Our analysis sets out a series of 

potential pathways for decarbonisation.  Innovation is sorely needed in many of 

these areas to unlock delivery pathways.  To accelerate clean growth, East 

Devon and partners should develop a delivery plan, that draws on learnings 

from innovation and pilots within the West of East Devon, with clear pathways 

to scale to the rest of the District. 

Recommendation 10:  Business-Focused Marketing.  The West of East Devon is 

competing with rival sites (both nationally and within the South West) that have 

strong business-focused marketing.  An exercise of rebranding is underway.  

The results of this exercise will need to be sufficiently compelling to enable the 

West of East Devon to stand out in an increasingly competitive market.  

Recommendation 11:  Pitch to Government.  If the productivity/head of East 

Devon could be raised to the average in England, this would add £537 million to 

the GVA of the District per year.  Our analysis also identifies the considerable 

potential for investment in retrofit and renewable generation and its associated 

job creation.  Inclusion of similar benefits within adjoining districts would 

increase the value of the potential pitch even further.  Therefore, a highly-

compelling pitch could be presented that combines economic benefit, 

investment in clean growth, new jobs and new zero carbon homes, that could 

unlock up-front investment in infrastructure.  To achieve the best outcomes for 

the site, we recommend that East Devon work with partners to refine the 

narrative around the wider regional opportunity. 

Zero-Carbon 

Place-Making 

Energy from 

Nature 

Inclusive Growth 

Energy from 

Nature 

Zero-Carbon 

Place-Making 

Invest & Learn 

Inclusive Growth 

Invest & Learn 

Page 30



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | vi  
 

  

Page 31



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | vii  
 

Contents 

Executive Summary .................................................................................................................... ii 

1 Introduction ........................................................................................................................ 8 

2 Understanding East Devon: Policy Review ....................................................................... 15 

3 Economic Performance and Energy ................................................................................. 37 

4 National and International Case Studies .......................................................................... 80 

5 Current Assets................................................................................................................... 90 

6 SWOT Analysis ................................................................................................................ 109 

7 Specific Opportunities for the West of East Devon ........................................................ 120 

8 East Devon’s Vision for Clean Growth Development ..................................................... 126 

9 Bibliography .................................................................................................................... 130 

Page 32



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 8  
 

1 Introduction 

1.1 Background 

The West of East Devon is an established focal point for accommodating growth.  The district area has 

benefitted from a number of developments and enabling investments over the last decade including road 

improvements; the development of a new community including a new rail station at Cranbrook; district heating 

networks; and strategic employment sites including the Skypark, Exeter Science Park, the Airpark, Exeter Airport 

and the Future Skills Centre.  

A strong partnership between East Devon District Council and the County Council has been established, working 

with the private sector and other public sector organisations.  This includes the establishment of the Exeter and 

East Devon Enterprise Zone with landowners, the Local Enterprise Partnership and the Cranbrook Strategic 

Delivery Board.  

1.1.1 Purpose of the Clean Growth Vision           

Devon County Council has commissioned this Clean Growth vision to support a strategic case for the future 

development of the “West End” area of East Devon.  This vision will feed into the East Devon District Council 

Local Plan Review and considers the overarching requirements to provide a high-level Clean Growth 

development and investment plan for the area, including spatial considerations, economic development & skills, 

environment, energy and transport infrastructure.  Central to the vision is the sustainable future for Exeter 

Airport and its contribution to an over-arching Clean Growth vision, which includes the Airport’s own aspirations 

to be at the forefront of electric and sustainable flight. 

The purpose of the Clean Growth Vision is to consider and set out: 

• The contribution to national policy and the competitive strengths of the West of East Devon 

• Engagement and consultation with local partners and stakeholders on the vision 

• A high level strategic case for a Clean Growth proposition and an outline of the Economic, social and 
environmental outcomes for the area and Devon, including skills and employment  

• A clear set of recommendations and next steps, including those to support Exeter Airport,  

• Short-term and longer-term priorities 

• Funding opportunities and investment proposals 

 

Intended Audiences  

The Clean Growth Development Vision is intended for the following audiences: 

• East Devon District Council 

• Devon County Council 

• University of Exeter 

• Heart of the South West LEP  

• Businesses based in the West of East Devon 

• Central Government 

• Inward Investors 

 

 

 

Page 33



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 9  
 

1.2 Scope 

The vision and strategic case reviews the exiting assets and strengths of East Devon that offer opportunities for 

Clean Growth. These incorporate:  

• Exeter Airport,  

• Employment sites and land use,  

• Skills provision and the local workforce,  

• Housing growth and demographics, 

• Green infrastructure and biodiversity,  

• Research and innovation ecosystem including Exeter Science Park,  

• The aviation, engineering, and logistic sectors, 

• Energy networks, distribution, and generation.  

 

The strategic case and this report set out the key national and local policy drivers including the Government’s 10 

Point Plan, Recovery plans, updated skills policies and changes to Treasury Green Book appraisal.  Further to 

this, the report sets out a local evidence base consolidating evidence from sources including the Team Devon 

Economic Recovery Prospectus, Devon Strategy for Growth, the emerging East Devon Local Plan and the Local 

Enterprise Partnership Local Industrial Strategy.  

Consultation has been undertaken with a range of stakeholders, including a workshop, to test the vision and 

strategic case and gain engagement on next steps and recommendations for taking forward the vision.  

A detailed review of the role of Exeter Airport in the clean growth development of East Devon has been 

undertaken to understand the opportunities available and the investment and funding landscape.  

The vision sets out clear objectives and recommendations to support the realisation of the vision and galvanise 

investment.  The findings of this report have been summarised into a proposition document to set out the 

economic, social and environmental outcomes for the area.  To meet the vision, the recommendations and 

opportunities have been assessed and mapped out to provide an attractive investment proposition.  

This document will support the development of the East Devon District Council Local Plan review for the period 
2021 – 2040, superseding the previous local plan that covered the period from 2013 to 2031. 

 

  

Page 34



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 10  
 

1.3 Regional Context 

1.3.1 Geography 

The geographical focus of this report is the West of East Devon. East Devon as a whole is predominantly a rural 

and coastal district within the South West of England.  The East of East Devon contains of two Areas of 

Outstanding Natural Beauty, which in total make up 66% of the land mass of the district.  The west of the 

district borders the city of Exeter and provides the majority of employment through its greater density of 

industrial land.  This “West End” is the focus of this report. 

The West of East Devon benefits from excellent transport links with it sitting at the base of the M5 corridor. Rail 

links are provided by the Waterloo line, and access to air travel is provided by Exeter Airport which provides a 

number of domestic and international routes. 

 
Figure 1: The West of East Devon 

1.3.2 Population 

East Devon has an estimated population of 146,000, with a population density of 180 per sq. km (UK average: 

275 per sq. km) (ONS, 2020). Over the preceding 5 years the population is estimated to have grown at a rate of 

1.4% per annum, which is faster than the South West as a whole (0.7% per annum).  

The average age of the population is older than the national average with a median age of 51.2 (UK: 40.3) (ONS, 

2020). 

Page 35



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 11  
 

1.3.3 Economy 

Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, East Devon had experienced consistent economic growth since 2016 of around 

4% per annum. Whilst this level of growth is greater than the rest of the South West and UK as a whole, 

productivity remains low, with economic growth often coming from low-skilled industries such as warehousing 

and wholesale and retail.  

This low productivity is contributing to low wages which are currently lower than average compared to the 

South West and England as a whole. Combining this with high house prices, housing affordability remains a 

considerable challenge for the area. 

Research, development and innovation provides an opportunity to generate high skilled, productive jobs. 

However, along with many other areas of the South West, R&D spend is low with businesses less likely to access 

government funding to support these activities. 

1.4 Methodology 

 
Figure 2:  Study Methodology 

Figure 2 sets out the methodology of the study across 4-phases.  The first stage of the study consolidates and 

reviews the relevant, up-to-date evidence across the following five themes: 

• Policy:  National, regional and local policies linked to Clean Growth are reviewed in the context of the 

West of East Devon. 

• Economy & Innovation:  Recent trends in economic activity, employment and productivity are reviewed 

alongside an analysis of regional innovation performance with a particular focus on Clean Growth 

industries. 

• Energy Infrastructure:  Existing Clean Growth assets are reviewed, including decarbonisation trends, 

grid infrastructure and renewable generation.   

• Best Practice Review:  A number of regional approaches to clean growth are reviewed, identifying 

common factors and contributors towards success. 

Page 36



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 12  
 

• Asset and Site Review:  Sites and innovation assets within, and adjacent to, the West of East Devon are 

reviewed and the spatial context described.   

1.4.1  Stakeholder Engagement 

Key to the success of a Clean Growth Development Vision is the engagement and support of key stakeholders in 

the West of East Devon and wider region.  It is also necessary to understand the needs of the innovators and 

businesses the region is seeking to attract.  The study therefore undertook engagement with stakeholders from 

both within the local area and from across the innovation landscape.  Engagement took the form of workshops, 

semi-structured stakeholder interviews and a survey of innovators in the Future Flights sector.   

1.4.2 Stakeholders Engaged 

A series of workshops and targeted engagement meetings were held with key stakeholders. The objective of 

these workshops and meetings was to: 

• Identify evidence to embed within the baseline assessment 

• Identify key assets and opportunities 

• Identify perceived strengths and weaknesses of the region 

• Understand barriers to economic growth and innovation 

• Identify and reconcile differing visions of the future 

 

Table 1 sets out the stakeholder organisations engaged through workshops and semi-structured interviews. 

 

Date Engagement Forum Stakeholders Engaged 

12/05/2021 Needs Workshop • Devon County Council 

• East Devon District Council 

17/05/2021 SWOT Workshop • Devon County Council 

• East Devon District Council 

• University of Exeter 

• Heart of the South West LEP 

• EON  

• LiveWest 

25/05/2021 1:1 Engagement • Exeter City Futures 

14/06/2021 1:1 Engagement • LDA Design 

15/06/2021 1:1 Engagement • Exeter City Council 

16/06/2021 1:1 Engagement • Rigby Group 

21/06/2021 1:1 Engagement • Simon Jupp MP 

26/06/2021 1:1 Engagement • University of Exeter 

28/06/2021 1:1 Engagement • DPD 

07/07/2021 1:1 Engagement • Exeter Science Park 

Table 1:  Local Stakeholders and Businesses Engaged in Vision Development  

 

Page 37



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 13  
 

In addition, a survey of innovators within the Clean Aviation / Future Flight sector was undertaken.  In total 9 

companies were engaged and provided feedback on the needs of their business and their motivations with 

respect to selecting a location for their business. 

1.4.3 Analysis 

To support the evidence-base for the strategic case, the study has developed bespoke analyses to evaluate the 

strategic options available to the West of East Devon and to quantify the potential from the wider Clean Growth 

opportunity.  These are as follows: 

• SWOT Analysis:  The SWOT Analysis consolidates evidence from the baseline review with the outputs of 

stakeholder engagement, providing a thematic analysis of the Strengths and Weaknesses of the West of 

East Devon. 

• Clean Growth Opportunity Analysis:  The study develops a bottom-up analysis of the scale of the 

investment potential related to retrofit and renewable generation within the East Devon area.  This 

provides a baseline estimate for the scale of the Clean Growth challenge, and also quantifies the 

potential for job creation through unlocking Clean Growth, catalysed by the West of East Devon . 

• Market and Competitor Analysis:  The market and competitor opportunity analysis evaluates the 

economic potential of different technologies against the current assets within the West of East Devon.  

The analysis also identifies leading competitor regions within each technology group, identifying gaps 

between these competitors and East Devon’s current offer. 

1.4.4 Visioning Process 

The final stage of the methodology (Figure 3), consolidates the research into a Clean Growth Vision for the West 

of East Devon.  This approach takes account of the local needs, policy landscape, local strengths, place-based 

assets, findings from the best-practice review, technology opportunities and market feedback, and funding and 

deliverability.   

Development of the vision also considers the positioning of the West of East Devon within the context of 

barriers and external competitors.  The vision is supported by clear recommendations for transformational 

investments and programme delivery to overcome these barriers and create a differentiated proposition for 

Clean Growth unique to the region.    

Page 38



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 14  
 

 
Figure 3:  Clean Growth Vision Development 

 

Page 39



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 15  
 

2 Understanding East Devon: Policy Review 

Chapter at a Glance 

This chapter includes a contextual review and consideration of East Devon, setting out the current data, 
policy and evidence available to understand the current economic landscape in East Devon.   

Policy in the UK is set at a National, Regional and Local level. Within the regulation and policies there are 

national legal requirements, targets and ambitions.  The UK has set out an ambitious climate change target to 

reduce carbon emissions by 78% in 2035 compared to 1990 levels in order to support reaching Net Zero by 

2050 as per the Climate Change Act (2008).  

Reactive strategies to support the recovery of the economy as a result of COVID-19 have been targeted to 

support the carbon targets and ambitions of the Government.  Significant changes have been made to funding 

streams in the period from April 2020 to reflect the change in policy.  These changes offer a significant 

opportunity to support innovation and capitalise on the funding available to catalyse change.   

We have undertaken a review of national, local and regional policy in the context of East Devon.  Using this 

review, we have mapped out the political environment in which East Devon is a part of, and what the key 

elements will be for East Devon as they chart their Clean Growth Vision.  

 
Economy Innovation Infrastructure Skills Energy/CO₂ 

National Build Back Better 
(2021) 

Levelling up Agenda 

Subsidy Control 
Consultation 

Net Zero Strategy 
(2021) 

Build Back 
Better (2021) 

ARPA  

National Infrastructure 
Strategy (2020) 

Green Book Appraisal 

Build Back Better 
(2021) 

National Planning 
Policy Framework 
(2019) 

UK Digital Strategy 

Gear Change 

National Bus Strategy 

General Aviation 
Roadmap  

Transport 
Decarbonisation Plan 

 

Ten Point Plan 
(2020) 

Skills White Paper 

10 Point Plan 
(2020) 

Energy White 
Paper (2020) 

Heat and 
Buildings 
Strategy (2021) 

UK Hydrogen 
Strategy (2021)  

Industrial 
Decarbonisation 
Strategy (2021) 

Regional HOTSW Local Industrial 
Strategy 

 

HOTSW Local 
Industrial 
Strategy 

HOTSW Local Industrial 
Strategy 

HOTSW Build Back 
Better Strategy 

HOTSW Local 
Industrial Strategy 

HOTSW Local 
Skills report 

HOTSW Local 
Industrial 
Strategy 

Page 40



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 16  
 

Peninsula Transport 
Strategy (forthcoming) 

HOTSW 
Blueprint for 
Clean Growth 

County Team Devon Economic 
Recovery Prospectus 

Devon Strategy for 
Growth 

   
Devon Carbon 
Plan 

East 
Devon 

East Devon Local Plan East Devon 
Local Plan 

East Devon Local Plan 

Cranbrook masterplan 

East Devon 
Infrastructure Delivery 
Plan 

Clyst Valley Master 
Plan 

East Devon Local 
Plan 

East Devon 
Local Plan 

Clyst Valley 
Master Plan 

East Devon 
Climate Change 
Strategy 

Table 2: Policy review for East Devon Development 

2.1.1 National Policy 

The Government has set out a clear objective to support clean, green growth.  An overview of national policies 

and strategies impacting clean growth development in East Devon have been outlined in Table 2.   A review of 

national policies has been undertaken and the key elements of the policies have then been summarised with 

their application to East Devon.  

Key legislation underpinning clean growth includes:  

• Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004): Obligates local planning authorities to prepare Local 
Plans and accompanying Infrastructure Delivery Plans 

• Planning Act (2008): Decision-making framework for nationally significant infrastructure projects 

• Climate Change Act (2008): Obligates the UK to meet net zero carbon emissions by 2050 

• Environment Act (1995): Obligates local authorities to monitor and manage air quality 

 

2.1.1.1 The National Infrastructure Strategy (2020) 

This provides a visionary strategy outlining the role of infrastructure in the UK and how the Government intends 

to use Infrastructure development to “Level up”.  This emphasises the need to consider infrastructure 

investment in a different way, considering the wider social and environmental benefits, particularly the need to 

achieve net zero carbon emissions by 2050, alongside the potential to stimulate economic growth.  

The National Infrastructure Strategy identifies five priorities: 

1. Driving recovery and rebuilding the economy 

2. ‘Levelling up’ and strengthening the Union 

3. Decarbonising the economy and adapting to climate change 

4. Supporting private investment in infrastructure 

5. Accelerating and improving delivery  

Page 41



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 17  
 

The strategy recognises that “COVID-19 continues to pose a huge challenge to the UK, as it does with every other 

major global economy.  The government will do whatever it takes to ensure the economy recovers as swiftly as 

possible.” 

Investment in the economy is targeted at the regions and communities that are forecast to be slower to recover 

from the COVID-19 pandemic.  Rural areas and towns deemed more in need are rated at a higher priority for 

funding to achieve this.  In order to meet its ambitious targets the government will continue to decarbonise the 

UK’s power, heat and transport networks – which together account for over two-thirds of UK emissions - and 

take steps to adapt to the risks posed by climate change.  The Strategy recognises that there has been a 

significant level of Government expenditure to maintain social welfare during the pandemic, and therefore a 

key element of the National Infrastructure Strategy is targeting private investment in infrastructure projects 

across the country.  Finally, the Government is looking to transform the way infrastructure projects are 

delivered in the UK.  This will be achieved through wide-ranging reforms from speeding up the planning system, 

to improving the way projects are chosen, procured and delivered, and a greater use of cutting-edge 

construction technology. 

The strategy sets out innovation and technological advancements as an opportunity to both accelerate the 

reduction in carbon emissions, and also to level up the country through greater access to gigabit broadband.  

Transformation in technology is expected to drive a revolution in how we live our lives and this strategy looks to 

embed it in all aspects of infrastructure. 

The Strategy sets out the plan for a UK Infrastructure Bank that will support the investment in green 

infrastructure across the UK, this Bank will provide a hybrid of public and private sector funding to accelerate 

funding in green infrastructure.  The bank will also be able to lend to local and mayoral authorities for key 

infrastructure projects and provide them with advice on developing and financing infrastructure.  In addition to 

this, the Government is developing new revenue support models to galvanise private investment, such as 

Regulated Asset Base Model funding and Contracts for Difference.    

Finally, and perhaps key for East Devon, the Strategy sets out “Project Speed” that looks to reduce the 

timeframe of a project lifecycle, recommending improvements such as the simplification of Environmental 

Impact Assessments, an amendment to permitted development rights to speed up public building development, 

technological innovation in construction.  The Net Zero commitment requirements will be incorporated into 

every stage of an infrastructure lifecycle whilst shortening and simplifying the consent process to deliver 

infrastructure faster.   

Application to East Devon 

The West of East Devon is well placed to capitalise on the technical transformation of the country, both 
through the SMART development of residential and non-domestic properties, and also to capitalise on the 
technological skills advancement in construction.   

The creation of a UK Infrastructure Bank offers an opportunity for funding of clean growth infrastructure 
projects in East Devon that can be topped-up with innovation specific funding.   

Changes to development rights will need to be closely managed to ensure that they are pre-empted and 
supported by clear Net-Zero commitments that fit the local targets and ambitions of East Devon.     

 

Page 42



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 18  
 

2.1.1.2 The Levelling Up Agenda 

The Levelling Up Fund was announced as part of the 2020 Spending Review and is set out in the National 

Infrastructure Strategy (Section 2.1.1.1) as a method for improving the investment in infrastructure and 

increasing jobs across the country, primarily in regions where economic recovery and resilience is likely to be 

lowest. 

A key theme of the agenda is the regeneration of town centres to rebuild brownfield sites, dated infrastructure 

and cultural investment, creating community-owned spaces to support the arts and serve as cultural spaces.   

The creation of 8 freeports in the UK will stimulate investment and jobs in some of the most deprived 

communities in the UK, additional green growth infrastructure such as carbon capture and storage, offshore 

wind and low carbon hydrogen will be promoted in traditionally industrial areas to support both meeting 

government carbon commitments and economic recovery.        

Again, the Government is looking to change how it makes decisions including the revised appraisal in the Green 

Book Review (Section 2.1.1.7) and by relocating 22,000 civil servants out of London and the South East by 2030 

Application to East Devon 

East Devon is tier 3 in the levelling up agenda, and so whilst its projects are lower in the priority scale for 
funding, there are clear opportunities to demonstrate green recovery and improved resilience for East 
Devon.   

East Devon is well-placed to seize the opportunity of civil service re-location, having previously supported the 
relocation of the Met Office.  Whilst the West of East Devon does not have any clear town sites for 
redevelopment, the opportunity to develop community-owned spaces will support the development of 
Cranbrook and surrounding areas.     

 

2.1.1.3 The 10 Point Plan for a Green Industrial Revolution (2020) 

The revision to the Climate Change Act (2008) in June 2019, to ‘ensure that the net UK carbon account for the 

year 2050 is at least 100% lower than the 1990 baseline’ (Net Zero), and the subsequent target of achieving a 

78% reduction by 2035 has catalysed the emergence of a number of national policies and strategies setting out 

pathways to decarbonised infrastructure.   

The Ten Point Plan for a Green Industrial Revolution (2020a) sets the tone for many of the UK Government’s 

emerging strategies, through the introduction of a series of key decarbonisation measures.  This includes 

commitments such as upscaling investment in renewable and nuclear energy infrastructure as well as ending 

the sale of new petrol and diesel vehicles by 2030.   

The 10 Point plan sets out the framework for significant investment in offshore wind and into modern ports and 

manufacturing infrastructure to expand the share of energy generation from renewables.  Within this is a target 

to quadruple offshore wind capacity by 2030 to produce 40GW of offshore wind.  To integrate clean 

technologies like offshore wind, the 10 point plan recognises the need to transform the energy systems, 

building more network infrastructure and utilising smart technologies like energy storage.  It proposes an 

Offshore Transmission Network Review that will set out a strategy to connect offshore wind in a clean and cost-

effective way - this review will be set out in the forthcoming Energy White Paper. 

Page 43



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 19  
 

The development of Low Carbon Hydrogen is point 2 in the plan and sets out a significant target to develop 

5GW of low carbon hydrogen production capacity by 2030, with an estimated 8,000 associated jobs.  It sets out 

an opportunity for hubs where renewable energy, CCUS and hydrogen congregate as industrial “SuperPlaces” at 

the forefront of technological development.  A £240million Net Zero Hydrogen Fund is expected to be 

announced in Summer 2021 to support the execution of this target. 

The transition to zero emission vehicles by 2035, and to end the sale of new diesel and petrol cars and vans by 

2030 is currently supported by a government tax scheme that incentivises the uptake of EVs.  This is also 

supported by a policy to develop “Gigafactories” to provide batteries for the automotive sector.  Funding for 

charging infrastructure continues to be supported as part of the strategy and to accelerate transition.   

The 10 point plan provides the framework for the National Bus Strategy (Section 2.1.1.10) and the government 

plan to begin the introduction of at least 4,000 more British Built Zero emission buses.  In addition to this they 

set out an ambition to electrify more railway lines and develop at least one fully zero-emission city centre.  The 

transport policy ambition sets out significant funding for cycle lanes and low-traffic neighbourhoods, including a 

new body, Active Travel England that will assess local authorities for their performance on active travel.   

The Government cites the establishment of the Jet Zero Council, as a key element of their ambition to push 

forward technology and uptake of sustainable aviation fuels and investment to develop zero-emission aircraft.  

They also set out investments in the Aerospace Technology Institute and a Sustainable Aviation Fuel 

competition, including the establishment of a Sustainable Aviation Fuel clearing house to enable the UK to 

certify new fuels. 

The Future Homes Standard, Future Building Standard and strengthening the energy efficiency requirement for 

private sector landlords are cited in the plan as key factors to help improve the energy efficiency of buildings.  

Protecting the natural environment is also recognised in the plan and use of the Green Recovery Challenge Fund 

is expected to support nature conservation ad restoration across England.    

Finally, the plan sets out a commitment to raise R&D investment to 2.4% of GDP by 2027, focused on green 

innovation and bringing down the costs of the net zero transition.   

Application to East Devon 

The advancement of offshore wind presents an opportunity for the Fab Link Project and the generation of 
green energy in East Devon, this could then be further developed alongside the government ambitions to 
generate 5GW of low-carbon hydrogen capacity by 2030.    

The ban of new petrol and diesel vehicle sales, 10 years ahead of initial targets, is likely to increase demand 
on the electrical grid.  This demand on the grid could then be compounded by the Government target to 
install 600,000 heat pumps by 2028.   

East Devon has an established shared space cycle pathway from Cranbrook to Exeter, but opportunities to 
expand the cycling network in the West of East Devon.  Electrification of existing transport infrastructure (for 
rail and bus) also presents an opportunity under the current plan.   

The Jet Zero Council, a commitment to funding innovation in sustainable aviation and the establishment of a 
Sustainable Aviation Fuel clearing house presents a strong opportunity for the Airport and Airpark.     

Page 44



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 20  
 

2.1.1.4 Build Back Better: Our plan for growth (2021) 

The National Industrial Strategy was issued in 2017 and in March 2021 was replaced with the government’s plan 

to support economic growth and recovery from COVID-19 through significant investment in green 

infrastructure, skills and innovation.  The Build Back Better Strategy is supported by a range of strategies that 

will be released throughout 2021, some of which have been noted in the forthcoming strategy section (section 

0). 

The Build Back Better plan is split into three core pillars of growth: Infrastructure, Skills and Innovation.   

In Infrastructure, the government has set out short-term economic improvements via investment in broadband, 

roads, rails and cities to boost productivity.  Funds such as the Levelling Up Fund, the UK Shared Prosperity Fund 

and the Towns funds will invest in local areas to support capital expenditure.  Details of the 10 point plan 

supporting Build Back Better can be found in section 2.1.1.3 and the National Infrastructure Strategy is covered 

in section 2.1.1.1.   

The government sets out a plan for productivity growth through the transformation of Further Education to 

align post-16 technical education with Employer demand.  The strategy notes specific gaps in skills for 

construction and manufacturing.  A Lifetime Skills Guarantee is proposed to support learning and employer-led 

skills bootcamps to ensure that employees have the skills required in the changing technological landscape.   

Finally in Innovation, the government sets out reforms in finance to incentivise investment in innovation, 

continued government support for start-ups and a Future Fund to address the scale-up gap for the most 

innovative businesses.    

The Strategy also sets out the evidence for Levelling up (section 2.1.1.2) and achieving Net Zero (section 

2.1.1.3).   

Application to East Devon 

The Vision for the West of East Devon provides an opportunity to develop and support skills pathways in 
clean technology sectors.   

Infrastructure has been reviewed as part of the National Infrastructure Strategy and innovation will be 
covered in the sector-specific sections.  A regional Build Back Better Strategy has been published by the Heart 
of the South West LEP and is included in section 2.1.2.2.   

2.1.1.5 Green Book Appraisal (Updated 2020) 

In 2020 HM Treasury updated The Green Book, the guidance they use to appraise policies, programmes and 

projects.  The aim of the review and resulting guidance was that it now better supports the Government’s 

strategic goal to “level up” the UK and should result in a fairer assessment of projects and expenditure outside 

of London.  The guidance has also been updated to reflect the increasing focus on environmental impacts and 

non-financial benefits.   

The Green Book sets out a framework for assessing public spending from generation options and longlist 

appraisal, through to shortlist appraisal and then monitoring and evaluation.  The guidance does not determine 

what the outcome of the decision-making process should be, but contrary to its previous versions, the updated 

version gives more detailed advice on how to value non-monetary benefits.   

Page 45



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 21  
 

To improve the culture around the development of proposals, increased emphasis has been placed on business 

case reviewers as critical gatekeepers, a new approach to assessing the Spending review, greater transparency 

on business cases for infrastructure projects and programmes and increased training for users of the Green 

Book.   

The Green Book sets out a requirement for all interventions to have SMART objectives and success measures 

across all benefits to society, not just a reliance on the monetary benefit-cost ratio. 

Application to East Devon 

East Devon needs to ensure that the “Golden Thread” of strategic alignment is clearly demonstrated from 
National Government aims and targets, through to significant projects.  Setting transparent, SMART 
objectives for these projects will also ensure that the non-monetary benefits to projects can be better 
assessed and incorporated into the value of a project.    

2.1.1.6 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (Updated 2019): 

This framework was last updated fully in February 2019.  It outlines the UK Government’s planning policies and 

the mechanism by which they should be accounted for within Local and Strategic Land Use Plans.  Paragraphs 

91 to 101 of NPPF emphasise the requirement for green space to promote healthy and safe communities.   

NPPF is further underpinned by a series of Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) notes which provide further multi-

disciplinary technical detail on the interpretation of NPPF.   

NPPF identifies sustainable transport as a key consideration in planning, to be undertaken in the earliest stages 

of plan-making and development proposals.  Opportunities to promote walking, cycling and public transport use 

should be identified and pursued, and the environmental impact of traffic and transport should be assessed.  

The provision of high-quality walking and cycling networks and supporting facilities through the use of Local 

Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans is recommended as well as the need to maintain and adapt the use of 

general aviation airfields. 

The NPPF sets out the continued importance of the Green Belt boundaries and the need to appreciate that 

elements of renewable energy projects will not meet the conditions of developing on Green Belt land.    

Further to this, the NPPF sets out the transition arrangements for development in a low-carbon future.  Whilst 

no explicit targets are set, the Frameworks states that “Any local requirements for the sustainability of buildings 

should reflect the Government’s policy for national technical standards”.  In addition, it recommends that plans 

should identify opportunities to source energy from decentralised, renewable or low carbon energy supply 

systems and that where these are community-led that they should be supported by local planning authorities.   

The framework sets out how planning policies and decisions should “prevent new and existing development 

from contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of 

soil, air, water or noise pollution or land instability.  Development should, wherever possible, help to improve 

local environmental conditions such as air and water quality, taking into account relevant information such as 

river basin management plans”.   

Page 46



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 22  
 

Proposed Planning reforms: Further to the NPPF, the Government issued a White Paper called “Planning for the 

Future” in August 2020 (Planning for the Future, 2020) that set out transformational planning reforms to speed 

up the delivery of new homes.  Changes that have already been made include the fast-track variation of working 

hours on construction sites, time limits on developments (extending the expiration date of permissions), 

variations on planning proceedings and electronic inspections of development strategies.  Development plans 

are also expected to be required to pass a simple test for “sustainable development”, the details of which are 

yet to be determined.   

Expected reform is anticipated in several areas such as:  

• Environmental Impact Assessments to simplify the process 

• Permitted Development Rights changes to enable faster decisions for public infrastructure 
improvements and changes of use from E class (commercial, business and service) to C3 residential.   

 

Application to East Devon 

The significant development plans of the West of East Devon put a spotlight on the planning policies of the 
area.   

East Devon has a clear asset in the use of a district heat network that will maximise the use of low carbon 
energy across the West of East Devon in both domestic and non-domestic properties.   

Close attention should be paid to previously permitted developments that may not meet the current East 
Devon Carbon commitments and that might be eligible for permitted development rights under the proposed 
reforms.   

2.1.1.7 Energy White Paper (2020) 

The Energy White Paper sets out the Government policies and commitments to meet their net zero targets, 

consistent with the 10 Point Plan (Section 2.1.1.3) and the Build Back Better strategy (Section 2.1.1.4).   

To transform energy, the white paper sets out bi-annual Contract for Difference auctions to meet the targeted 

40GW of offshore wind by 2030 (the next auction is due later in 2021) and the deployment of CCUS (Carbon 

Capture Usage and Storage) clusters.  It should be noted that the Build Back Better Strategy identifies the 

locations for CCUS hubs as the North East, the Humber, the North West, Scotland and Wales.  In addition, the 

paper sets out a commitment to establish a new UK Emissions Trading System to support industry to invest in 

low-carbon technology.   

For domestic properties the government sets out the intention to consult on ending gas grid connections to 

new homes from 2025 and to grow the installation of electric heat pumps.  In addition, a renewed commitment 

is made to establish the Future Homes Standard ensuring all new-build homes are zero carbon ready.  The 

paper sets out the anticipated increase of smart meters, smart tariffs and vehicle-to-grid to improve the 

consumer use of energy.  They highlight the use of Energy Local clubs to match local generators with local 

energy use with a top-up from a main energy supplier when local generation is insufficient.   

The energy white paper sets out again the support for Green Hydrogen production and the intended £240m 

Net-Zero Hydrogen Fund that will be announced in Summer 2021.   

The use of energy for transport is split into six key areas of focus, including the modal shift to public and active 

transport, place-based solutions, the decarbonisation of vehicles, decarbonising logistics, creating a green 

transport hub for innovation in the UK and becoming a global leader in transport emissions reduction.   

Page 47



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 23  
 

Application to East Devon 

The support for renewable energy fits well with the opportunity in East Devon to generate green energy via 
the Fab Link.   

The focus on smart energy use is well placed to be incorporated into the Cranbrook development, particularly 
to increase a balancing of the grid and reducing peak energy usage.   

As a semi-rural environment, the decarbonisation of transport will need to be heavily place-based and the 
decarbonisation of logistics is likely to influence the energy requirements of the Exeter Logistics Park. 

Further to this, the transformation of the Combined Heat and Power plant for the District Heat Network from 
gas to renewable energy would support the move to a Net Zero energy supply.   

 

2.1.1.8 Skills for Jobs: Lifelong Learning for Opportunity and Growth (White Paper) (2021) 

The Skills White Paper sets out how the Government intends to reform further education so that it supports 

people to get the skills our transforming economy requires.  The core mission of the paper is to increase 

productivity, support growth industries and support progression.   

Underpinning the lifetime element of the paper is the commitment that from 2025 everyone will be entitled to 

up to four years of loan funding throughout their lifetime to support post-18 education.  The goal of this policy 

is to meet some of the skills gaps at higher technical levels in engineering, health and social care.   

Supporting the development of clean growth, the paper sets out a measure for business groups, such as 

Chambers of Commerce to work alongside colleges to develop tailored skills plans to meet local training needs. 

This is supported by a £65m Strategic Development Fund for pilot areas to reshape their skills provision.  The 

window to become a Local Skills Improvement Plan trailblazer and a Strategic Development Fund pilot ended in 

May 2021.    

Overall, the policy seeks to better align post-18 education with business needs, and college provision.    

Application to East Devon 
 
Devon County Council has leased to Exeter College the Future Skills Centre, the building that was previously 
the Flybe Training Academy, to deliver training for high-tech jobs in engineering, digital, construction and 
clean growth.  Technology and machinery has been provided by local companies such as Centrax GT to 
enable students an insight into engineering and business technology that can fast-track their suitability for 
engineering careers.   

2.1.1.9 Subsidy control consultation (2020) 

Following the UK’s exit from the EU, the Government has an opportunity to redesign the domestic subsidy 

control regime replacing (in part) the EU State aid rules and regime.  This consultation paper sets out the 

proposed subsidy design approaches and provided the opportunity for feedback.  Consistent with many of the 

strategies set out by the Government, the key priorities are levelling up, achieving net zero carbon and 

economic recovery from COVID-19.   

Page 48



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 24  
 

The approach sets out seven key principles for public authorities to meet when issuing subsidies, this includes 

the requirement for the subsidies to remedy an identified market failure, or equity concern. Subsidies should be 

the “minimum size necessary” to achieve the policy objective and should seek to minimise any adverse effects 

on “UK Internal market” competition that might arise from a subsidy.   

The general framework put forward, suggests a less bureaucratic and more flexible regime than the EU state aid 
regime, “tailored to supporting start-ups, small businesses and new industries”.  This is consistent with the 
Government’s approach to kick-starting innovation in clean growth development.   Further guidance will be 
issued later in the year. 

 

Application to East Devon 

The improved flexibility and focus on supporting start-ups and new industries will mean that East Devon is 
well placed to maximise the impact of subsidies on their enterprise hubs.    

2.1.1.10 Transport Policies: Gear Change (2020) and Bus Back Better (2021) 

Gear Change and the National Bus Strategy (Bus Back Better) set out the Government’s policies and 

commitments to create a modal shift in transport from vehicles to active travel modes and public transport.   

Gear Change sets out the Government policy for increasing cycling and walking, through commitments such as 

building thousands of miles of additional cycle routes, prioritising physically separate routes from roads over the 

traditional painted lanes.  The strategy sets out a promotion of low-traffic neighbourhoods and improved active 

travel to school.  Also included in the strategy are key design principles for route developers to follow when 

building active travel routes.  Adoption of these principles will be required to benefit from the £2bn of funding 

that the Government has pledged over its term.  This is then supported by a commitment to have a long-term 

cycling and walking programme, consistent with the approach to roads, supported by the rail and bus network 

to provide a more joined-up approach to travel.   

The strategy repeats the advice in the NPPF that sustainable travel should be considered at the earliest stage of 

new-build development, and that this should be supported through Local Plans and Local Cycling and Walking 

Infrastructure Plans backed up by planning decisions.  The strategy recognises that Local Authorities are best 

placed to execute these changes as they are responsible for the majority of the roads that these changes will be 

made on.  Funding for active travel will be issued through Active Travel England who will approve and then 

monitor schemes, providing a central body for Active Travel.   

The National Bus Strategy (Bus Back Better) sets out a vision for the bus network in England and provides more 

detail on how the Government intends to fund their strategic aims as set out in the 10 point plan and Build Back 

Better.  It recognises that the success of the bus network in London has not been replicated throughout the 

country, and that in order to “level up” they will need to address the discrepancies in this.  £3bn has been 

earmarked for buses in England, which will be initially invested in recovering from the impacts of the COVID-19 

pandemic, providing more skills and people to enact the bus strategy, implementing Bus priority schemes to 

speed up journeys and accelerating the delivery of zero emission buses.   

The strategy sets out the need to make buses more regular, faster and reliable, cheaper and easier to 

understand, with smarter, more connected information for users, focusing on routes and interchangeable 

tickets, providing a more customer centric experience.  Integration with other transport modes and ticketing for 

journeys is also highlighted in the strategy.   

Page 49



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 25  
 

Transformational funding is set out for Local Transport Authorities provided they establish Enhanced 

Partnerships and publish a local Bus Service Improvement Plan in collaboration with local bus operators, 

community transport bodies and local business.  Short term funding has been set out through the COVID-19 Bus 

Services Support Grant to keep bus services running at a reduced capacity to compensate for social distancing.   

Application to East Devon 

Cranbrook has a fantastic opportunity to encourage active travel to Cranbrook school and other local primary 
schools (including St Martin’s), particularly since Cranbrook school covers primary through to secondary 
education and has been purposely built to support the Cranbrook development.  As the Sports England 
funding in Cranbrook comes to an end in 2021, there is a clear opportunity to approach Active Travel England 
to further the support for “school streets” and bike training in the West of East Devon.   

The development of Cranbrook in the West of East Devon has been relatively well supported by cycle paths 
on the B3174 heading to Exeter to support commuting, however, the South side of the West of East Devon, 
predominately along the A30 is less well served, and would benefit from improved infrastructure.  
Enhancements such as this could be identified and evidenced by the development of a Local Cycling and 
Walking Infrastructure Plan, that would support the development of the East Devon Local Plan. 

The West of East Devon boasts a railway station and bus routes through to Exeter Science Park, Exeter 
Logistics Park, Skypark and Cranbrook.  This presents an opportunity to integrate ticketing and journey 
planning between bus, rail and active travel.  A multimodal transport offering would embody both the 
policies within Gear Change and Bus Back Better.   

To maximise the opportunity for funding and to ensure that the West of East Devon has sufficient transport 
infrastructure to reduce reliance on private vehicles (and therefore in the future, EV charging requirements) 
the Local Transport Authority (Devon County Council) should be supported in preparing a Bus Service 
Improvement Plan, setting out the priorities for East Devon bus transport. East Devon should look to 
contribute to this at the earliest opportunity. 

    

2.1.1.11 Net Zero Strategy (2021) 

This Strategy, issued in Autumn 2021, sets out the Government’s strategy to transition the country to Net Zero.  

The Strategy covers all key elements of the economy considered integral to getting to Net Zero, and the actions 

that the government plans to undertake to achieve Net Zero. Where the 10 Point Plan set out an immediate 

“Build Back Better” response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Net Zero Strategy maps out the route to Net Zero, 

as supported by each of the points in the 10 Point Plan. 

Supporting the required actions by sector to get to Net Zero are transition plans for Innovation, Investment, 

Skills and Policy reform.  Here the strategy sets out how the Economy can support the move to Net Zero 

through stimulating Innovation and Research in Net Zero Solutions, utilising the UK Infrastructure Bank and 

Green Bonds to finance Low Carbon technologies and transition, publishing sector and supply chain 

development plans for key low carbon sectors to encourage investment in green skills and industries. 

Key for East Devon District Council, the strategy also includes a targeted section on embedding Net Zero in 

Government and ensuring that climate skills and training are delivered across the Civil Service.  BEIS will work 

with the Government Skills and Curriculum Unit (GSCU) to review the skills required in the Civil Service to lead 

the UK to decarbonise.  The Strategy sets out the plan to continue the Local Net Zero Programme (providing the 

Local Net Zero Hubs), promoting local authority best practice and successful projects and solutions.  

Page 50



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 26  
 

Application to East Devon 
The Strategy sets out the key sectors for investment to achieve Net Zero, these therefore set out the key 
sectors where East Devon could look to obtain Green Growth Funding in the coming decade.  The production 
of Hydrogen is a clear objective of the Government, and whilst not specifically earmarked by the Government 
for the South West, East Devon has an opportunity to be a local provider where no other has been proposed.  
The significant level of retrofit and green construction skills required, and citied throughout the document, 
presents a clear opportunity for East Devon, both through its existing property demographic, and through the 
planned development sites. Transport in the West of East Devon is supported by rail, a number of cycleways, 
and the 2Zero project at Exeter Airport, however, there is scope to further improve the accessibility of 
existing residential and non-residential sites, as well as ensuring that new developments are planned to 
maximise low carbon travel.  Finally, the proposal to utilise Clyst Valley for Carbon Capture projects will 
support the Government’s intention to develop markets and investment in greenhouse gas removal 
methods.  

2.1.1.12 Industrial Decarbonisation Strategy (2021) 

This Strategy sets out the UK Industrial Sectors and the transformation strategy for their manufacturing if they 

are to get to Net Zero.  In order to support this, the strategy details the actions to be taken to increase 

investment in carbon capture and storage, switching to low carbon technologies and energy and improving 

carbon pricing to nudge the market. 

Supporting industry to improve their building and process efficiency to reduce energy requirements is a clear 

aim of the strategy.  The Strategy also proposes product labelling and public procurement to drive consumer 

pressure for lower carbon manufacturing, including developing the market for Low Carbon products on a Global 

basis. 

Application to East Devon 
East Devon has a clear opportunity to market Clyst Valley as an opportunity for Carbon Capture to local 
industry.  In addition to this, the Environmental Intelligence sector at the Exeter Science Park is in a clear 
position to support local industry in providing product carbon labelling.  

 

2.1.1.13 Heat and Building Strategy (2021) 

The Heat and Building Strategy sets out the transition to high-efficiency low-carbon buildings to reduce energy 

usage and transition to low-carbon heating. Driving this ambition is the need to improve the efficiency of 

buildings supported by a significant growth in jobs and skills in retrofit and renewable energy.  

The strategy sets out the need to provide low-carbon technologies for heating, including heat pumps, heat 

networks and moving from natural gas to low-carbon hydrogen. Underpinning this is the aspiration for cost-

effective transition (this may be undermined by recent increases in electricity costs).  The strategy sets out 

specific actions to phase out the installation of natural gas boilers, reducing the cost of heat pumps to be 

comparable to boilers, improving affordability for capital costs, rebalancing energy costs, increasing heat pump 

installations and ensuring all new buildings are ready for Net Zero from 2025.  

 

 

Page 51



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 27  
 

Application to East Devon 
The West of East Devon has a significant opportunity to reduce the carbon intensity of building heat through 
the use of its local Heat Network and the decarbonisation of the CHP that fuels it.  The plans for this are being 
progressed which will support future expansion of the Heat Networks under the BEIS Zoning plans. 

In addition to this, the requirement for new residential properties to be ready for Net Zero will be key in the 
further development of Cranbrook and any additional developments in East Devon.  Retrofit skills and 
construction in the area will not only enable the region to improve decarbonisation in its own area, but also 
provide exportable skills and growth in the wider Devon region.  

2.1.1.14 Transport Decarbonisation Plan (2021) 

The Transport Decarbonisation Plan provides the detailed delivery plan for decarbonising the UK’s transport by 

2050.  The Plan sets out an underlying action plan and commitment for each form of transport including cycling 

and walking, buses and coaches, railways, roads, maritime and aviation.  The plan notes the multi-modal 

challenges for freight and logistics, and the different fuel types that will be required to support the sector to 

decarbonise.  

Key themes in the Transport Decarbonisation Plan include simplifying transport mode choice, providing equally 

costed options for transport and increasing flexibility.  Many of these options include significant capital 

investment in new infrastructure and the Plan includes a variety of competitions and grants to stimulate 

transition.  A Local Authority Toolkit for decarbonisation is proposed to provide guidance in delivering more 

sustainable transport measures and where significant challenges have been identified, such as in aviation, the 

strategy sets out substantial R&D and innovation strategies.  The Transport Plan also sets out the role of 

Hydrogen to support to decarbonisation of transport.  

Application to East Devon 
The West of East Devon benefits from multiple modes of transport including aviation at Exeter Airport, Rail at 
Cranbrook, a network of cycle pathways and a growing network of EV infrastructure. This plan provides an 
opportunity for East Devon to demonstrate how it could provide a flexible network of mobility and transport.  
In addition, the plan provides a blueprint in the Tees Valley Hydrogen plant for how Hydrogen can support 
transport and the decarbonisation of freight.   

2.1.1.15 UK Hydrogen Strategy (2021) 

In support of the 10 Point Plan, the UK Hydrogen Strategy sets out how the Government intends to meet its 

ambition of 5GW of low carbon hydrogen production capacity by 2030.  The strategy sets out a national plan for 

stimulating and generating UK Low Carbon Hydrogen through new funding channels and blueprint plans such as 

the Tees Valley Hydrogen Plant.  

The Strategy provides the case for Hydrogen and how it can support the UK to transition to Net Zero, it 

recognises that the market for providers and consumers of low-carbon Hydrogen is still very young, but in doing 

so, provides a roadmap for building the market.  This strategy is applied throughout the aforementioned 

Transport Decarbonisation Plan, Industrial Decarbonisation Strategy and Energy White Paper and identifies a 

potential job creation potential of 9,000 jobs by 2030 and up to 100,000 by 2050.  

 

 

Page 52



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 28  
 

Application to East Devon 
East Devon has a unique opportunity to stimulate Hydrogen production from renewable energy provided by 
the FAB link, in addition to this the proximity to the Strategic Road Network and Exeter Airport provides a 
direct market in transport for Hydrogen.  

2.1.1.16 General Aviation Roadmap (2021) 

The General Aviation Roadmap sets out the Government’s vision and strategic priorities for General Aviation in 

the UK, it recognises that regional airports and airfields provide crucial connectivity throughout the country and 

that in order to achieve the Government’s Net Zero ambitions, significant innovation, testing and trialling will be 

required.   

Future priorities for the General Aviation Unit within the CAA and the DfT include outreach to stimulate STEM 

and aviation skills in future career choices, establishing International Aviation Partnerships, improving 

stakeholder response times and a revised GA Change Programme for 2021.  The programme for 2021 focuses 

on COVID-19 recovery, the launch of the GAU Change Programme for 2021-22, the Launch of an Airfield 

Development Advisory Fund, reviewing and engaging on the modernisation of airspace and supporting all of the 

above with Skills and STEM outreach to generate a pipeline of aviation experts.     

Application to East Devon 

East Devon is well placed with the Future Skills Centre and its experience with the Flybe training academy to 
provide a clear pathway for aviation training and skills building.   

2.1.1.17 Advanced Research & Invention Agency 

In the Spending Review (2020) the Government set out its intention to create a new funding stream for 

Research and Invention that will complement the existing work performed by UK Research and Innovation.  This 

agency will focus on high-risk research, with the potential to produce transformative technological change, this 

programme of investment will be set by the Agency, and not by ministerial bodies, fast tracking the allocation of 

funding by those with the most technical expertise.   

The programme managers within the agency will be a “small number of the highest-calibre researchers, from 

public and private spheres” who will be empowered to dynamically channel funding to chase evolving visions.  

This flexibility will emulate the successful model of DARPA (Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency) in the 

US.   

Application to East Devon 

East Devon benefits from a strong relationship with Exeter University which is renowned for its leading 
research.  The University would be well placed to put forward researchers for the position of Programme 
Manager which could in turn significantly increase the innovation opportunities in the enterprise zone in East 
Devon.   

 

 

 

 

 

Page 53



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 29  
 

2.1.2 Regional Policy 

2.1.2.1 Heart of the South West Local Industrial Strategy (2020) 

The Heart of the South West is the Local Enterprise Partnership for the South West covering Somerset, Devon 

and Torbay.  It sets out three pillars for growth, Energy, Engineering and Digital.  It aims to use the South West’s 

“unrivalled set of industrial, academic and research assets” to maximise clean growth. 

A summary diagram of the pillars and their key sectors has been replicated below: 

 
Figure 4: Heart of the South West LEP Clean Growth Dynamic Heart 

 

To deliver Clean Growth the Strategy sets out the following actions: 

Energy • Driving innovation in advanced nuclear technologies 

• Driving innovation in marine renewables and other low carbon technologies for use 
worldwide 

• Becoming a net exporter of electricity by 2030 

• Transforming the energy system to meet carbon targets 
Engineering • Developing innovative products and services to serve clean growth markets 

• Developing a sustainable aviation cluster 

• Developing cleaner manufacturing processes by driving efficiencies through Industry 
4.0 digitalisation technologies 

Digital • Developing an environmental intelligence cluster by unlocking the power of data sets 
and applying AI technologies to optimise environmental decision making 

• Developing digital products and services that enable clean growth across a number of 
sectors (e.g.  agriculture, tourism, health etc.) 

 

Page 54



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 30  
 

Within Energy, a key opportunity identified is determining an alternative heat source for the Combined Heat 

and Power plant at Cranbrook.  Currently this plant is powered through gas, but in order to meet Net Zero 

targets the power source will need to be changed.  In addition to this, the strategy sets out the opportunity for 

local energy markets, this could be a key solution to the demand constraints of energy in East Devon.   

Within Engineering, East Devon has a key opportunity to excel in clean, sustainable aviation which fits with the 

strategy’s aspirations to develop a sustainable aviation cluster.  An initial project within this sector has been 

initiated with £2.4m of funding from the Future Flight Challenge to demonstrate hybrid-electric aircraft on 

regional routes in the South West of the UK as part of the 2Zero Programme, based at Exeter Airport in the 

West of East Devon.   

The 2ZERO project (Towards Zero Emissions in Regional Aircraft Operations) is a £30m Future Flight funded 
programme to demonstrate a hybrid-electric upgrade of commuter Aircraft.  The testbed aircraft will be 
developed and tested from Exeter Airport by a consortium including Ampaire, Rolls-Royce Electrical, 
Nottingham University, Loganiar, Exeter and Devon Airports, Cornwall Airport, HOTSW LEP and UK Power 
Network Services. 

The West of East Devon is well placed to capitalise on the strategy’s Digital aims, with the Met Office on the 

Exeter Science Park explicitly highlighted as a key asset and opportunity in this sector and the LEP has a proposal 

for an Environmental Intelligence Accelerator to maximise Research and Innovation at the University of Exeter 

into commercial activities.  Exeter Science Park in the West of East Devon is explicitly named as the preferred 

location for the Accelerator.   

Strategic Infrastructure Objectives identified are as follows: 

1. Create fast, resilient and clean transport networks which connect people with opportunities including 

through ultra-low emission and electric vehicles, aligned with the Automotive Sector Deal.   

2. Deliver improved connectivity across the area by securing significant levels of gigabit- capable 

infrastructure and at least 30Mbps services for all by 2025.   

3. Accelerate housing delivery (including affordable housing) whilst halving energy use in new buildings by 

2030 contributing to the realisation of the government’s Buildings Mission.   

4. Ensure there is sufficient employment land to support growth 

The Strategy also identifies East Devon as being within the top 20% local authorities for social mobility, this 

index has been monitored by the Government to determine the chances available to young people from poorer 

backgrounds to get the educational qualifications and opportunities they need to succeed and have a decent 

standard of living.   

2.1.2.2 Heart of the South West: Build Back Better (2021) 

The Build Back Better Strategy has been prepared by the Heart of the South West Local Enterprise Partnership 

to provide a regional strategy that mirrors the national Build Back Better Strategy (Section 2.1.1.4) as an integral 

part of the South West’s COVID-19 Recovery Plan. Within it, it sets out 15 transformative programmes for 

investment to support the economy in the South West.   

Page 55



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 31  
 

A key programme for East Devon within the strategy is the delivery of the Future of Flight Programme 2Zero 

which provides an initial opportunity to generate further investment into sustainable and clean aviation.  

Further to this, the strategy sets out an ambition to establish an innovation ecosystem to connect businesses 

with the area’s innovation and research entities, facilitating more collaboration and open access platforms.   

2.1.2.3 Heart of the South West: Blueprint for Clean Growth 

This blueprint sets out how the LEP intends to align their Local Industrial Strategy and their Build Back Better 

Strategy with the Government’s 10 point plan.  

In Low Carbon Energy, the blueprint identified the Government’s ambition to generate 1GW of energy from 

floating offshore wind as a key opportunity.  For East Devon, there may be potential to be incorporated into the 

FAB Link project and the offshore wind at Alderney. In addition to this, the generation of tidal stream energy in 

Alderney is also identified as a key opportunity.  

The LEP sets out its intention to establish a route map for green hydrogen as a transport fuel source in the 

South West, and “supporting key demonstrator projects where appropriate”.  

In “Greening Businesses” the LEP sets out an initial focus on skills in the energy and construction sectors to drive 

retrofit in existing buildings and to support recovery, supported by a supply chain programme.  The blueprint 

notes a “potential green finance deal to support enterprise and business start-ups that are developing 

innovative products and services for new clean growth markets”.   

In order to decarbonise transport, the Blueprint identifies the importance of the work of the Peninsula 

Transport Strategic Transport Board, to provide a clean, strategic transport strategy.  Most importantly for East 

Devon, the LEP identifies an intention to establish a Smart Aviation Cluster around Exeter Airport, supported by 

a Phase 3 application for the 2Zero project.  

The Blueprint sets out the £1m Natural Capital Demonstration Fund “to invest in projects that together can test 

innovative finance mechanisms for natural capital projects whilst delivering clean growth and wider economic 

benefits”.   

2.1.2.4 Heart of the South West: Local Skills Report (2021) 

Heart of the South West LEP has produced a timely skills review and strategy addressing the current state of 

affairs of skills in the South West and the forecast skills requirement. 

Key features of the working economy include the varied geography of the South West, the lower than average 

productivity in the South West, although notably, not in Exeter where productivity is in line with the national 

average, a high level of self-employment and SMEs and an ageing population.  

A skills demand is forecast across the following core sectors in the medium term: 

• Health and social work 

• Professional, support services and Information Technology 

• Accommodation, Food, Arts and Entertainment 

• Construction 

• Production, Manufacturing and STEM based employment 

 

Page 56



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 32  
 

“Longer-term, it is anticipated that skills demand will continue to be shaped by mega trends such as 

technological change, globalisation, climate change and demographic change” 

New skills demand is identified in “Ongoing technological advances, notably around clean growth and 

automation, Existing businesses seeking to integrate non-traditional sector roles (including data engineering, IT 

Security, market research and app/web development) into their activity and new opportunities created through 

enterprise and self-employment”.  The report covers the supply and demand mismatch further by identifying 

high qualification levels in sectors that have low vacancy rates in the South West. The strategy identifies three 

core sectors that it plans to drive growth in Engineering, Digital and Energy.  

Within engineering, specialisms in the South West are focused on marine, aerospace, photonics, nuclear, civil 

construction, medtech and defence. 

In Energy and Low-Carbon Growth, the report identifies key growth areas in nuclear technology, green energy, 

marine energy, photovoltaic, wind, nuclear fission and decommissioning expertise, and clean mobility 

technologies. 

2.1.2.5 Forthcoming Strategy 

The Peninsula Transport Strategy will be issued in Autumn 2021, setting out the strategic transport priorities for 

the South West of England.  A vision for the strategy has been released, inviting feedback on the priorities they 

have identified.  

2.1.3 County Policy 

2.1.3.1 Team Devon COVID-19 Economic and Business Recovery Prospectus (2020) 

COVID-19 presented an unparalleled shock to the economy in the UK, and the impact on Devon was expected to 

be particularly acute given its reliance on sectors such as retail and tourism which were particularly impacted.  

The Team Devon COVID-19 Economic and Business Recovery Prospectus sets out the support plan for managing 

the impact on the Economy.  It should be noted that this strategy was released in July 2020 and as such has 

based its strategies on the forecast impact of COVID-19.     

Within the prospectus, a key opportunity for East Devon is the proposal to re-train and upskill Devon residents 

to increase engineering, science-based and management competencies which have been more resilient sectors.  

This fits well with the specialisms of Exeter Science Park in the West of East Devon and provides a clear 

opportunity to grow these sectors.    

The prospectus highlights an opportunity to “build back better” in Environmental Technology and Clean Growth 

through attracting the sector by positioning Devon as a clean, green and healthy county.  This approach is 

extended to the digital technology sector, where the rise of remote working as a result of COVID-19 is 

highlighted as an opportunity to attract both inward investment and talent. 

Within the actions to support people, the prospectus seeks to secure £10m of funding to support a Green Skills 

Development Package incorporating capital and revenue funding to be spent over the next three years.  This 

opportunity could support the development of Cranbrook and the retrofitting of surrounding areas as well as 

provide an opportunity for the Future Skills Centre to position itself in the Green Skills Sector.   

Page 57



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 33  
 

Exeter Science Park is identified in the prospectus as the location for a Centre for Clean Mobility, with funding of 

£3.75m.  The construction for this building is now complete and provides a high-specification collaboration 

laboratory to be used for research, development and innovation with strong industrial engagement.   

2.1.3.2 Devon Carbon Plan (2020) 

The Devon Carbon Plan is Devon County Council’s strategy for meeting their target of Net Zero Carbon by 2050.  

The Plan outlines how everyone in Devon can reduce their emissions to Net Zero and highlights the barriers and 

opportunities arising from the transformations required.  The plan sets out objectives for meeting Net Zero, and 

the indicators that will be monitored to track progress to Net Zero. 

The vision for Devon includes more Smart Energy Systems, retrofitting energy efficiency measures into existing 

buildings, notably for East Devon, ensuring that new buildings are Zero-carbon, travelling less and shifting 

transport to public and active travel modes.  For energy, the plan recognises the need to divest from Fossil 

Fuels, this will be integral for East Devon in the decarbonisation of the District Heat Network.   

Within the plan are actions to be undertaken in order to meet the objectives of each thematic area, it 

recognises that the resources to deliver the plan are not yet identified and highlights opportunities for public 

sector and private sector investment.  Government targets have been distilled to represent the Devon 

proportion of action required, for example, the Government target for Heat Pump installations, has been 

represented as 11,200 heat pumps retrofitted in Devon by 2030.     

2.1.3.3 A Strategy for Growth – Devon County Council 2013-2020 (2013) 

Whilst the Strategy for Growth has reached the end of its period for assessment, the intrinsic policy established 

within it, gives a clear picture of where the county expected to be at the end of 2020.  Critical issues identified in 

2013 included low productivity, an unequal distribution of skilled workforce throughout the county and housing 

affordability.  The performance of Devon against these issues has been assessed in our Economic review.   

2.1.3.4 Exeter Transport Strategy (2020) 

The Exeter Transport Strategy sets out the transport infrastructure built in the ten years to 2020, and the 

current modes of transport used by Exeter’s commuters.  The development of jobs on the Sowton Industrial 

Estate and the West of East Devon is identified as being a key area that requires improved transport access to 

reduce the reliance on cars.  The Strategy also recognises that commuting traffic from Cranbrook to Exeter will 

increase over the period of the local plans.  

Key priorities identified from the Strategy engagement included the use of Park and Ride on all corridors, 

increasing active travel and maximising the efficiency of the existing network.  Key to Cranbrook, the strategy 

notes its intention to achieve a 15 minute bus frequency from Cranbrook to improve reliance and utilisation.  A 

“Devon Metro” rail service providing half hourly frequency is also included.  

The Strategy notes that a core element of improving public transport is the development of a single ticketing 

platform and a zero-emission transport subscription services as a “crucial step on the path towards net zero”. 

Cranbrook would be well placed to provide an innovation test-bed for this opportunity.     

Page 58



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 34  
 

2.1.4 East Devon Policy 

2.1.4.1 East Devon Local Plan 2013-2031 (2016) 

The 2016 East Devon Local Plan identifies planned growth of 17,100 new homes in the district across the period 

of the plan.  In addition, the West of East Devon is identified as being the central location for 150 hectares of 

land for employment development.   

Within the Local Plan a vision for the development of the West of East Devon is set out as follows: 

Securing the highest quality of mixed-use large-scale development to complement the role of the City of 
Exeter and serve and provide for the rest of East Devon.  A series of inter-related developments in a high-
quality environmental setting will be at the forefront of sustainable design and development securing high-
quality new homes and jobs with associated recreation, educational and cultural facilities linked by modern 
and efficient transportation and electronic media facilities. 

 The ”West End” is identified within the local plan as being a priority location for development, maximising 

employment opportunities and housing provision.  For every new home built, the plan sets out a strategy to 

create a new job.  This aspiration is supported by a development mix of 1 hectare of employment land for each 

250 homes proposed.   

The strategy identifies that 25% of homes built in “Major strategic ‘West end’ development sites” need to be 

affordable.  This looks to overcome the challenges identified in the Devon County Council “A strategy for 

Growth” (2013) where low productivity and housing affordability are identified as a barrier to growth in Devon. 

The Local Plan identifies that all new development will be required to be “low carbon”, and this is then later 

defined through the Government Building regulations as a requirement for new developments to be “zero 

carbon”.  The Plan notes that “developers will be expected to commit to extended periods of Post Occupancy 

Evaluation” to ensure that the delivery of zero carbon properties is achieved. 

2.1.4.2 Clyst Valley Masterplan (2021) 

The Clyst Valley Regional Park was a scheme included in the East Devon District Council Local Plan in 2016 to 

ensure that the new town of Cranbrook and developments close to Exeter were provided with a large scale, 

high quality greenspace.  The land designated to the park will be protected from development unless it is 

integral to the provision of the park.   

Core to the masterplan for Clyst Valley is the provision of a network of walking and cycling trails.  These trails 

will improve access for residents to the park and increase use of the park and the ability to commute on traffic 

free routes to work places and school.  The Clyst Valley Trail provides a backbone of cycling infrastructure 

through the regional park, from which routes fan out into the neighbouring towns and villages.   

The provision of a Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANGS) is part of the EDDC policy for developers of 

major housing allocations.  Where developers are unable to deliver that greenspace as part of the development, 

their contributions will be used towards the preservation of the Clyst Valley Regional Park through the 100 

hectares of land that is safeguarded for SANGS in the Cranbrook development plan.   

Page 59



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 35  
 

The Masterplan sets out clear objectives, schemes, funding streams and target timescales for the key themes of 

Nature, Education, People, Climate, water, soil, landscape and heritage and includes key targets such as a net 

gain in biodiversity, achieving Natural England’s Accessible Natural Greenspace standards, delivering a high 

quality network of traffic-free routes, decarbonising public transport, and creating a Clyst Canopy.  The majority 

of the funding required for these schemes is expected to be met by developer contributions, either through 

Section 106 or through the Community Infrastructure Levy and this is expected to generate c.£9.3m over the 

next 25 years.  Another route for funding identified is through business sponsorship and charitable donations, 

specifically charities that will support a targeted project (e.g.  tree planting).   

2.1.4.3 Cranbrook Development Plan Document (2019) 

The Cranbrook Development Plan Document guides the future development of Cranbrook beyond the current 

1,800 homes that have been built to the expected 7,750 in the plan (of which there are existing planning 

permissions for 3,500).  The Plan aims to assist and speed up the delivery of Cranbrook in a planned, 

commercially viable and profitable manner, whilst developing a town that is a healthy and attractive place to 

live and work in. 

Using national demonstrator schemes such as the NHS Healthy New Towns and the Sport England Delivery pilot 

scheme, the plan sets out objectives to ensure that it provides residents with good mental and physical health 

through its design and delivery.  Despite these pilot schemes having come to an end by the time of this report, 

the key themes and objectives set out by the schemes have been incorporated into the plan for Cranbrook to 

ensure that they have a lasting effect.   

The strategic policies set out within the plan support the district planning team in making planning decisions and 

setting out priorities for infrastructure ensuring that the development of residential properties is supported, at 

the right rate, by employment land and wider infrastructure.   

The Cranbrook plan sets out that affordable housing must be at a rate of “not less than 15% of total dwelling 

numbers” rather than 25%, this is due to a higher than planned rate of affordable housing to date (30%) and a 

review that has determined that in order to meet the infrastructure requirements of the town, a certain level of 

developer contributions will be required.  In order to attain the higher contributions, the forecast profits from 

house sales will need to be higher.  The delivery of a sustainable development is valued above the provision of 

affordable housing, as the plan interprets from the National Planning Policy Framework (section 2.1.1.6).   

Ensuring that Cranbrook is a Net Zero Carbon development threads through the plan, and clear 

recommendations and policies are set out to help them to achieve this, specifically through the use of the 

District Heat Network and ensuring that all properties are “PV-ready” as a minimum.  In addition to this, the 

policies set out the ability for the district to monitor the performance of properties to ensure that housebuilders 

are meeting the standards agreed as part of their planning permission.  Consistent with ensuring that properties 

are “PV-ready” is that properties and the wider development is “EV-ready”, in the expectation of demand in the 

coming years.      

2.1.4.4 East Devon Infrastructure Delivery Plan (2017) 

The Infrastructure Delivery plan was reviewed in 2017, the plan sets out the prioritisation of infrastructure into 

three priorities of critical, important and desirable.  Each area of development in East Devon is individually 

assessed, with the required infrastructure identified and allocated a priority in line with the Council’s 

specification.  Consistent with the projected house building forecast, the majority of the infrastructure 

requirements are focused around the West of East Devon where the majority of the housing development is 

planned.   

Page 60



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 36  
 

Priority one (critical) infrastructure for the West of East Devon includes the extension of the district heat 

network into the new developments which is consistent with the Cranbrook development plan and the East 

Devon Local Plan and will be important for meeting the district’s Net Zero targets.  Other infrastructure key to 

meeting their net zero aspirations is a scheme for WPD to extend high voltage electricity power lines 

underground in Cranbrook.   

2.1.4.5 East Devon District Council Climate Change Strategy 2020 -2025 (2020) 

The Climate change strategy sets out a clear target for the council to be carbon neutral by 2040. This is 

supported by an action plan that supports the progression of wider stakeholders to net zero, but predominately 

focuses on the actions and emissions of the council, its buildings and employees.   

The strategy was written prior to the Government’s most recent targets for Net Zero, and as such, does not 

recognise the national target of a 78% carbon reduction against 1990 levels by 2035.  It does however, set out a 

clear methodology, as prepared with the assistance of the University of Exeter to assess the Carbon Footprint of 

the Council and an action plan with which to reduce or offset the carbon emissions of the council.   

There is a clear opportunity in the revision of the climate change strategy to incorporate the updated national 

targets and also a wider aspiration for East Devon as a whole to become Net Zero which could be supported 

through a sub-set of actions from the wider Devon Carbon Plan. 

2.1.5 In Summary 

East Devon has set out clear intentions in its policy to support and influence clean growth development, 

however the pace at which national targets and aspirations have been changing has not yet been reflected in 

local targets and plans. Both national and regional policy set a clear intention to support people with a focus on 

skills to drive a green recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic.       

  

Page 61



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 37  
 

3 Economic Performance and Energy 

3.1.1 Introduction 

Pre-pandemic, economic growth in East Devon since 2016 has been in line with the rest of the South West and 

UK at around 4% per annum (Figure 5).  Prior to this, East Devon’s economic growth has been more volatile, 

with contractions seen in 2013 and 2015 that were far below the regional and national average. 

 
Figure 5: GVA growth 1999-2019 (ONS, 2021) 

Despite this economic growth, productivity has remained stagnant and below that of the UK as a whole.  This 

has largely been driven through economic growth being achieved in relatively low skilled, low wage industries 

such as construction, warehousing, retail and wholesale.  This stagnation in productivity puts pressure on wages 

and delivers a barrier to increases in living standards. 

Alongside this, housing affordability remains low and is progressively getting worse (ONS, 2021).  This presents a 

barrier to attracting talent and industry into the area, although this is partly mitigated by the popularity of the 

area as a place to live due to its proximity to the coastline and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty. 

3.1.2 Productivity 

3.1.2.1 Why is productivity important? 

Productivity is widely accepted as a key enabler for improving long-term living standards and as a necessary 

condition for sustainable economic growth.  With Clean Growth becoming a prerequisite to many economic 

strategies, there is increased complexity to the balancing of improved living standards and protecting and 

healing our natural environment.  Identifying strategies which can deliver on both fronts is therefore the 

optimum solution. 

This section outlines historic productivity and economic trends in East Devon to provide an evidence-based 

foundation to identify existing strengths, as well as potential opportunities for the area. 

3.1.2.2 Gross Value Added compared to other areas 

Gross Value Added (GVA) per job is a common measure of productivity.  As can be seen in Figure 6, between 

2014 and 2019 GVA per job in East Devon has remained below that of the rest of the South West, and 

significantly below that of England as a whole.   

Page 62



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 38  
 

 
Figure 6: GVA per job 2009-2019  (ONS, 2021) (Nomis, Business Register and Employment Survey, 2021) 

Considering East Devon is a relatively rural district, it is not unsurprising to see its productivity falling below the 

average for England as it will not have the benefit of a thriving financial services sector which on a sectoral basis 

delivers the highest level of productivity and is primarily in the country’s larger cities.  However, when 

comparing East Devon to other districts, it is evident that it is more productive than other local rural districts 

including West and Mid Devon (Figure 7). 

 
Figure 7: GVA per job 2019  (ONS, 2021) (Nomis, Business Register and Employment Survey, 2021) 

 

3.1.2.3 Gross Value Added by sector 

As seen throughout the UK, Real Estate and Financial and Insurance sectors deliver the highest levels of GVA per 

job, with Hospitality and the Wholesale and Retail sectors delivering some of the lowest levels. 

Page 63



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 39  
 

 
Figure 8: GVA per job by broad industry group 2019  (ONS, 2021) (Nomis, Business Register and Employment Survey, 2021) 

When comparing the productivity levels in East Devon to those in the rest of England we find that it is less 

productive in 11 of the 15 broad sectors groups (Figure 9).  However, this is slightly better than the South West 

as a whole who are less productive than England in 13 of the 15 sector groups. 

 
Figure 9: GVA per job 2019, South West and East Devon compared to England (ONS, 2021) (Nomis, Business Register and Employment 
Survey, 2021) 

Page 64



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 40  
 

Businesses operating in the Financial and Insurance sector appear significantly more productive, but with only 

300 jobs (0.6%) in this sector, this makes a relatively minor impact to the overall level of productivity in the area.  

The majority of these jobs relate to branches of high street banks in the larger towns (Honiton, Exmouth, 

Sidmouth, Axminster). 

The sector with the most jobs in East Devon is the Wholesale and retail trade, including repair of motor vehicles.  

This sector was 32% less productive than England as a whole in 2019.  The largest subcategory of this sector by 

employees is the Retail sector, with a significant number of jobs being provided by the leading supermarket 

chains, however, there are also some significant local employers such as Otter Garden Centre’s, Axminster Tool 

Centre and Darts Farm. 

Health and social care is also a significant employer in East Devon, with this sector being 51% more productive 

than the average for England, whilst the South West as a whole is 10% less productive.  Mid Devon, West Devon 

and Exeter are also less productive than England as a whole for this sector, suggesting productivity constraints 

are a regional, rather than a local challenge.  Health and social care is less prominent (in terms of job numbers) 

in the West of East Devon, primarily due to there being no hospital in this area. 

As with the rest of the UK, Real Estate Activities display the highest level of GVA per job, with East Devon’s 

productivity being just below the national and South West average.  LiveWest, based at Skypark, represent the 

largest employer in this sector. 

3.1.3 Jobs and skills 

3.1.3.1 Jobs in East Devon 

Figure 10 summarises how East Devon’s mix of jobs within industries compares to Great Britain as a whole.  

Each bubble represents an individual industry, with its size depicting the number of jobs in that industry.  It’s 

position on the Y-axis depicts its Location Quotient (level or concentration) compared to GB as a whole.  A 

measure above 1 means concentration in East Devon is higher than GB, with a measure below 1 indicating 

lower concentration.  Each bubble’s position against the X-axis indicates the level of increased/decreased 

concentration between 2015 and 2019. 

 
Figure 10: East Devon jobs Location Quotient and growth between 2015 and 2018 compared to Great Britain (ONS, 2021) (Nomis, 
Business Register and Employment Survey, 2021) 

Page 65



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 41  
 

‘Retail trade, except motor vehicles and motorcycles’ is East Devon’s largest employer, has a greater 

concentration than Great Britain (GB) as a whole and has increased in concentration between 2015 and 2019.   

As would be expected from a rural district, jobs in the ‘Crop and animal production, hunting and related service 

activities’ industry are more concentrated than GB as a whole and are continuing to become more 

concentrated.  ‘Air transport’ jobs are significantly more concentrated than GB as a whole (as of 2019 when the 

data was collected).  This level of concentration is expected to reduce as a result of Flybe entering 

administration in March 2020.   

The number of jobs in the Construction of buildings sector is also more concentrated than GB and has become 

more concentrated since 2015.  Significant developments such as Cranbrook will be contributing to this 

increased concentration level.  However, to maintain these jobs, construction activities will need to continue at 

a similar scale. 

In 2019, the top 15 sectors delivered 70% of East Devon’s jobs (GB: 62%) (ONS, 2021).  Whilst this may suggest 

the area has greater specialisms, it could also be argued that it is less resilient to economic shocks impacting 

single sectors. 

 
Figure 11: Broad sectors with more than 1,000 jobs in East Devon 2019 (Nomis, Business Register and Employment Survey, 2021) 

There are a number of sectors that have seen significant recent growth as displayed in Table 3.  Other 

manufacturing and Publishing activities have seen significant growth between 2015 and 2019, albeit in total 

these sectors only provided 800 jobs in 2019.  Of the larger employers Construction sector jobs have 

significantly increased (by 94%) which is in line with expectations due to the significance of the Cranbrook and 

surrounding infrastructure developments.  Sports activities and amusement and recreation activities have also 

seen a significant increase (88%). 

Page 66



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 42  
 

Technology and engineering sectors provide an opportunity to provide high skilled jobs, with high productivity.  

The presence of Manufacture of computer, electronic and optical products (25% growth), Other professional, 

scientific and technical activities (29% growth) and Computer programming, consultancy and related activities 

(17% growth) in this list is promising, but they do represent I minority amongst traditionally low skilled sectors 

with relatively low wages. 

 
Table 3: Top 20 fastest growing industries with more than 100 jobs in East Devon between 2015 and 2019 (Nomis, Business Register and 
Employment Survey, 2021) 

3.1.3.2 Jobs in the West of East Devon 

The West of East Devon provides 22% of East Devon’s jobs (based on employees of VAT registered businesses in 

2020) (IDBR, 2020).  The largest employment sector in 2020 was Air transport which provided 10.1% of total 

jobs in the West of East Devon (2.2% of East Devon jobs).  90% of these jobs were provided by Flybe which went 

into administration in March 2020.  Flybe’s business and assets were bought in April 2021 with the new owners 

reporting to re-launch the airline in the summer of 2021 in Birmingham.   

Behind Air transport, the Wholesale trade (10% of jobs) and Warehousing and support services for transport 

(9.5% of jobs) represent the most significant employment sectors.  Businesses in these sectors are concentrated 

around Skypark, Airpark and Hill Barton, with recent growth from the addition of the Lidl Regional Distribution 

Centre.  Growth in this sector is being driven by the attraction of large international corporations (Lidl, Amazon, 

DPD), rather than locally based businesses.  Whilst this provides a large number of immediate jobs, wealth 

generation is unlikely to remain in the region. 

In comparison to the rest of East Devon, the Food and beverage services and Accommodation sectors deliver a 

smaller proportion of employment.  Businesses in these sectors are more prominent along the East Devon 

coastline where tourism plays a more prominent economic role. 

Page 67



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 43  
 

With the development of Cranbrook being at the centre of the West of East Devon, it is not surprising to see 

jobs in Real estate activities, Construction of buildings and Specialised construction activities being more 

concentrated than the rest of East Devon.  With the scale of this and other housing developments set to 

continue for many years, this presents an opportunity for the area to develop local supply chains and 

specialisms – particularly around the construction and maintenance of district heat networks. 

 
Table 4: Top 10 sectors by the number of jobs in 2020, West of East Devon and East Devon (IDBR, 2020) 

3.1.3.3 Employment levels in East Devon 

Prior to the commencement of the COVID-19 pandemic, unemployment rates in East Devon were very low at 

2.5%, compared to 4.8% for England as a whole (Nomis, 2021).  The proportion of the population aged between 

16-64 that were economically active was also high (86.3%) compared to the average for England (79.5%).  This 

higher than average rate is largely driven by the female population who have an economic activity rate of 84.9% 

compared to just 75.6% in England as a whole. 

 

Table 5: Economic activity and unemployment rates 2020 (Nomis, 2021) 

Whilst low unemployment levels are generally regarded as a positive sign for the economy, very low rates of 

unemployment can result in reduced productivity. 

3.1.3.1 Skills 

The proportion of East Devon’s economically active population with qualifications at NVQ4 or above is lower 

than the South West and England as a whole, indicating that the workforce is on average less qualified than 

other areas of the country (Nomis, 2021).  The proportion of the population with no NVQ level qualification is 

also higher than the South West and England average at 5% (South West: 3%.  England: 4%). 

Page 68



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 44  
 

A highly skilled workforce is likely to be more productive and therefore these lower-than-average qualifications 

could be contributing to the region’s low productivity levels.  Alternatively, it could be argued that the majority 

of jobs in the area (retail and wholesale, hospitality, warehousing) do not require a high level qualification and 

therefore residents who want to work in the area lack an incentive and/or opportunity to gain further 

qualifications.  For the current jobs sector demographic in East Devon, this will have a limited impact as the skills 

level requirements match the job sectors provided.  However, if East Devon is looking to maximise clean growth 

in advancing technological and energy based sectors, then strategies will need to be put in place to accelerate 

the uptake of NVQ4+ qualifications in the region, without this, East Devon will need to lean heavily on its 

strategy to recruit and attract qualified employees placing additional pressure on housing growth.  

 
Figure 12: Level of NVQ qualifications for the population aged 16-64 (Nomis, 2021) 

Further review into the discrepancy of NVQ4+ qualification levels in East Devon compared to comparable levels 

in the South West has identified a consistently lower level of qualifications at Level 2 and Level 3 compared to 

areas such as the South Hams that have scored higher.  A review of large businesses (determined by more than 

250 employees) also shows a correlation between the number of large businesses and the percentage of 

residents with qualifications at Level 4+.  

Figure 13: Percentage of qualifications at Level 2 and Level 3 (Nomis, 2021) 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

Qualified to Level 3

Qualified to Level 2

Page 69



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 45  
 

 

 
Figure 14: Chart showing the correlation between large employers and the percentage of NVQ4+ qualified residents (Nomis, 2021) 

 

3.1.4 Innovation and Entrepreneurship  

3.1.4.1 Business births 

Business births and deaths can be an indicator of the level of innovation and entrepreneurship in a region. 

East Devon has historically had a relatively high number of business births, with it only recently being overtaken 

by Exeter in the local area who saw significant growth in 2019 (Figure 15).  Comparing this to wider areas, East 

Devon gave birth to 3.6 businesses per 1,000 people in 2019, compared to 4.5 businesses for the South West 

and 5.8 for the whole of the UK.  This indicates that whilst it is performing well in comparison to its immediate 

neighbours, it is not creating new businesses as fast as the rest of the South West and UK as a whole. 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
La

rg
e 

Em
p

lo
ye

rs
 (

2
5

0
+)

Percentage of Residents qualified to Level 4+

Page 70



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 46  
 

Figure 15: Number of business births between 2014 and 2019 (ONS, 2020) 

3.1.4.2 High Growth Enterprises 

The number of High Growth Enterprises (those seeing employee growth of 20% or more) per 1,000 in East 

Devon is slightly lower than the rest of the region and the UK as a whole, with Exeter standing out as a strong 

area for High Growth Enterprises.   

 
Figure 16: High growth enterprises per 1,000 active enterprises 2014-2019 (ONS, 2020) 

3.1.4.3 Research and development 

Businesses undertaking and exploiting research and development are seen as a key catalyst for growth and 

increased productivity.  With the climate emergency throwing up a number of technical barriers, it is also crucial 

for delivering clean growth. 

Despite this recognition, the South West is in the bottom quartile for expenditure on R&D (Figure 17).  

Company’s in this region are also less likely to secure government funding for innovation and when they do it is 

often for a lower value. 

As demonstrated by Figure 17, Devon’s R&D spend is significantly below the UK and South West average, with 

the majority of the South West’s spend occurring in Gloucestershire and Wiltshire where companies such as 

Dyson and GE Aviation are based.   

Page 71



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 47  
 

 
Figure 17: R&D spend per capita, based on spend reported on R&D tax credit claims submitted to HMRC in 2019 (HMRC, 2021) 

3.1.4.4 University spin-offs  

Universities present an opportunity to nurture and deliver research and innovation in a region.  However, 

ensuring this research makes the step from academia to commercial application is critical to realising its 

benefits.  One way to examine the success of these commercialisation activities is to identify the number of 

commercial ‘spin-offs’ from Higher Education Providers. 

In the last five years The University of Exeter have recorded 7 spin-offs where they hold at least some 

ownership in the spin-off company.  This is lower than other regional universities such as Falmouth University 

(31) and The University of Bristol (18) (HESA, 2021). 

A similar result is found when looking at the number of graduate start-ups with The University of Exeter 

registering 75 new entities in the last 5 years, compared to Falmouth University (1,135), The University of West 

of England (161) and the University of Plymouth (114) (HESA, 2021). 

Falmouth University has generated a significant number of university spin-offs by providing a MSc in 

Entrepreneurship that has its fees waived.  In addition, it provides a stipend (in 2021 this was £16,000) to 

support development through its platform “Launchpad” which is headed up by an experienced Entrepreneur as 

head of the programme.  This direct investment in start up companies has resulted in a collection of high profile 

success stories.  Comparatively, the University of Exeter MSc in Entrepreneurship has fees of £14,100. 

3.1.4.5 Digital connectivity 

Ensuring businesses have a good level of digital connectivity facilitates the use of technology and collaboration 

to deliver innovation. 

With a mix of rural and urban areas, East Devon’s digital connectivity is variable.  In the West of East Devon, 

Cranbrook, Broadclyst and Stoke Canon leads the way in average download speed with 141.6 Mbps, whilst the 

larger towns such as Exmouth, Honiton and Sidmouth have the highest percentage of superfast broadband 

availability (98%, 97% and 94% respectively).  As would be expected, the more rural areas such as Sidbury, 

Offwell & Beer and Dunkesewell, Upottery & Stockland have the highest rates of people not having access to 

‘decent’ broadband (4% and 3% respectively).  ‘Decent’ broadband is defined as 10Mbps download speed and 

1Mbps upload speed. 

Page 72



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 48  
 

 
Table 6: Broadband speed and connectivity rates in 2020 (Parliament, 2021) 

3.1.5 Attracting and Retaining Talent 

3.1.5.1 Graduate retention 

South West graduate retention stands at 52%, with many (particularly those achieving top class degrees) 

continuing to be drawn to London (10%) and the South East (18%) in search of higher wages (Heart of the South 

West, 2021).  For those that don’t head for London and the South East, research has indicated that more 

affordable housing can play a factor in attracting and retaining talent.   

As of September 2020 median house prices in East Devon were £282,250, compared to the average for the 

whole of the South West at £260,000 and the whole of England at £249,000 (ONS, 2020).  As a result, graduates 

and other workers are not incentivised to move to the area to find more affordable housing. 

3.1.5.2 Impact of COVID 

Along with the rest of the South West, East Devon has the opportunity to capitalise on people looking to move 

out of London and the South East, with many companies adopting remote working structures.  Delivering high 

levels of digital connectivity throughout the area, including the more rural parts of the district, will increase the 

likelihood of inward migration.  Whilst this presents an opportunity, there is also recognition that it will put an 

increased pressure on house prices and access to affordable housing. 

3.1.6 Economic Potential 

As discussed in section 3.1.2, productivity in East Devon is below that of Exeter and England as a whole.  If East 

Devon increased productivity to the levels achieved by Exeter, it would deliver an additional £319 million of GVA 

per year.  Increasing productivity to the average for England would deliver an additional £537 million of GVA per 

year.  In doing so, wages would likely increase, resulting in higher living standards and more affordable housing. 

Page 73



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 49  
 

3.2 COVID-19 Impacts 

The impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic have been felt across the country, however, the comparative impact on 

East Devon gives us an insight into the resilience of the region. 

In the following section, we review the forecast, and emerging impacts of COVID-19 in East Devon.   

3.2.1 Tourism and the Airport 

Most significantly, the lockdown that was instigated in April 2020 had repercussions for the opening of 

restaurants and hotels in East Devon, where part of the region relies heavily on tourism.  Whilst our review of 

the West of East Devon does not directly incorporate areas of heavy tourism, it does impact the use of the 

Regional Airport which had been heavily impacted by the administration of Flybe in early 2020.  Quarantine 

periods and government guidance restricting travel have grounded an estimated 97% of flights in the UK (The 

impact of the Coronavirus pandemic on the aviation sector, 2020). 

 
Figure 18: UK passenger air transport movements (The impact of the Coronavirus pandemic on the aviation sector, 2020) 

The continued restrictions on travel into 2021 support Industry estimates that passenger numbers will not 

recover until at least 2022 (Don’t Make A Slow Recovery More Difficult with Quarantine Measures, 2020).  

Airports are subject to high fixed costs such as policing and security, maintenance and pre-existing contracts.  

During 2020 and in light of the increasing climate crisis, France has imposed environmental conditions 

restricting domestic flights of less than 2.5 hours to areas where no rail alternative is available.  A policy such as 

this could have a significant impact on Exeter which benefits from multiple rail lines.   

The Government had pledged to perform a review into regional connectivity for aviation, however, this has now 

been incorporated into an Aviation Recovery Plan which is yet to be released.   

It is also expected that the rise in virtual meetings is likely to shrink business travel requirements, however the 

long-term quantification of this is yet to be determined.   

Page 74



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 50  
 

3.2.2 Employment 

Initial forecasts for the South West ( Covid-19 Economic Resilience Report , 2020) suggested that the region 

would be subject to a significant loss of 12% of GVA.   This has been reflected in the increased claims against 

universal credit.  Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic (March 2020), East Devon had a Universal Credit claim rate of 

1.8% (Department for Work and Pensions, 2021), comfortably lower than the average for England of 3% and 

consistent with Devon as a whole. As at March 2021 that rate is now 4.3%.  Whilst this is lower than the England 

claim rate of 6.6% and the overall Devon rate of 4.5%, it still shows a comparative 2.5 point increase from the 

previous year.   

Later into the pandemic, in July 2020 forecasts for the South West were that it would contract by 8% (lower 

than the 12% initially forecast), with an increase in unemployment to 4.5% (which is consistent with the 

increased level of UC claimants) (Economics, 2020).  Overall, East Devon’s sectoral structure is skewed towards 

sectors most vulnerable to the pandemic (tourism, retail and hospitality), however, in the West of East Devon 

this reliance is less prevalent (outside of the Airport which is covered in section 5.1) and the presence of the 

Exeter Science Park and Centre has enabled the area to lean on increased funding for a green recovery.  

Construction at the Science Park has continued throughout 2020 and into 2021. 

One area of growth during the pandemic has been logistics.  According to the British Retail Consortium 62% of 

all non-food retail sales in May 2020 took place online.  This significant increase will have impacted the logistics 

sector that is prevalent throughout the West of East Devon.   

In KPMG’s UK Economic Outlook for June 2021 (UK Economic Outlook, 2021) they forecast a +5.6% output for 

the South West in 2021, compared to a contraction of -8% in 2020, signalling an end to the most severe impacts 

of the pandemic and an opportunity for the South West to bounce back.  The impact of staycations in the UK 

will support the hospitality sector, whilst the growth in house prices has resulted in the South West seeing the 

most significant regional increase in property values throughout the pandemic which may further expedite 

existing constraints.  The Lloyds Bank Business Barometer as at 28th May 2021 shows that business confidence 

in the South West was up 12 points to 42%, one of the highest in the country (Lloyds Bank Business Barometer, 

2021).   

 

The end of the furlough scheme in September is expected to create a significant risk for businesses.  The most 

resilient sector, and one which has one of the highest productivity levels in East Devon is business services and 

Information & communication.   

 

 

  

Page 75



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 51  
 

3.3 Energy & Clean Growth Infrastructure 

3.3.1 Carbon Emissions and Energy Use in East Devon 

East Devon is responsible for circa 693 kt CO2 emissions per annum (based on 2018 figures), (BEIS, 2020a).  

Since 2005, emissions in East Devon have fallen by approximately 2% per annum (26% in total since 2005) 

(Figure 19).  As at 2018, the majority (47%) of carbon emissions derive from the Transport sector (Figure 20) the 

remaining contributions comprise emissions from the domestic sector (29%) and those from industry (24%).  

The overall reductions in emissions seen since 2005 have been largely driven by savings in these latter sectors (a 

38% reduction in domestic sector emissions and a 33% reduction in industrial emissions), while emissions in the 

transport sector have fallen by only 1.4% over the period.   

 
Figure 19:  East Devon - Trends in Carbon Emissions Since 2005 (BEIS, 2020a) 

 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1000

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

K
TC

O
2

Carbon Emission Trends in East Devon by Sector

Industrial & Commercial Domestic Transport

Page 76



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 52  
 

 
Figure 20:  Contribution of Carbon Emission Sources in East Devon (BEIS, 2020a) 

Addressing emission reductions across all sectors is likely to be a challenge for all places within the UK, with 

particularly challenges of transport and buildings requiring new policies, technologies, funding and delivery 

innovations to accelerate the pace of change towards the Government’s national target for a 78% reduction (vs. 

1990 levels) by 2035.  If such a target were to be applied directly to East Devon, this would imply a further ~68% 

reduction in emissions from the 2018 figures by 2035.  This, in turn, would equate to an acceleration in 

emissions reductions to over 4% per year, representing a doubling in pace from the current average of 2% per 

annum. 

3.3.1.1 Energy Consumption by Fuel 

We can use BEIS data to break down energy consumption in East Devon by sector and by fuel.  The latest data 

for energy and fuel consumption in East Devon across industries is summarised in Table 7 in gigawatt hours.  

This demonstrates that Petroleum Products represent 53% of the fuel mix across all industries with Gas the 

second most used fuel at 25%.  To achieve national and local climate change aspirations, East Devon will need to 

undergo a wholesale transition away from these fuels across all parts of the economy.  

Fuel Type Industrial & 
Commercial 

Domestic Transport 

 

Public Sector Agriculture Total GWh 

Coal 12 16 — 1 — 29 

Manufactured Fuels 0 12 — — — 12 

Petroleum Products 213 107 1,182 1 93 1,596 

Gas 152 601 — — — 753 

Electricity 244 268 — — — 512 

Bioenergy & Wastes 0 97 — — — 97 

Total Fuels 621 1,101 1,182 2 93 2999 

Table 7:  2018 Energy and Fuel Consumption in East Devon in Gigawatt Hours (BEIS, 2020b)  

 

Industrial & Commercial
24%

Domestic
29%

Transport
47%

Carbon Emissions in East Devon by Source

Industrial & Commercial Domestic Transport

Page 77



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 53  
 

Figure 21 and Table 8 show the most recent trends in energy consumption by fuel type.  The evidence shows 

that East Devon’s energy and fuel consumption rose gradually between 2009 and 2018.  Over this period, Table 

8 shows that the total fuel use increased by 70 GWh (representing a 2% increase) (BEIS, 2020b) – this is despite 

improved efficiency of end uses over the period by appliances and vehicles etc.. The data also highlights that 

use of Petroleum Products has been increasing in recent years (+3% since 2009), while there have been only 

minor reductions in the use of gas (-2% since 2009). While growth in Bioenergy and Wastes has been strong 

(106% increase since 2009), these fuels are starting from a lower base.   

• Petroleum Products: 53% of the fuel consumed in East Devon in 2018 was petroleum, making it the 
most consumed fuel. Dependence on petroleum has increased consistently since 2009, with an overall 
increase of 3% by 2018.  

• Gas: Consumption declined year on year early in the decade, however began to grow again from 2015. 
As of 2018, gas contributed 25% of the fuel mix in East Devon. 

• Bioenergy and Wastes: Bioenergy and wastes consumption has increased by 106% since 2009, however 
only totals 3% of East Devon’s fuel consumption in 2018. 

• Electricity: Despite the considerable growth of residential areas such as Cranbrook during the period, 
electricity consumption has remained largely stable. In 2018, electricity contributed 17% of the fuel mix.  

• Coal: The use of coal decreased by 33% since 2009 and by 2018 accounted for less than 1% of the total 
fuel consumption in East Devon. 

• Manufactured Fuels: The use of manufactured fuels has increased by 20% since 2009 however 
represents less than 0.5% of the fuel mix. 

Overall, given the trends, we can conclude that the mix of “on-the-ground” fuel consumption is currently having 

limited impact on the district’s carbon emissions, with the majority of improvements deriving from 

decarbonisation at the grid level. To make further advances against its climate goals, it is clear that East Devon’s 

reliance on petroleum products and gas must reduce at a faster rate. This will likely require much more direct 

action to accelerate the transition to alternative fuels locally, with electricity likely to replace these fuels in 

several key areas (such as heating homes and powering vehicles). Decarbonising the electricity supply will also 

need to be a key component of achieving the Clean Growth Vision of achieving the Clean Growth Vision.  

Page 78



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 54  
 

 
Figure 21:  Trends in Energy Consumption by Fuel Type, East Devon (BEIS, 2020b)  

 

Fuel Type 2009 (GWh) 2018 (GWh) Diff (GWh) 

Coal 43 29 -14 (-33%) 

Manufactured Fuels 10 12 +2 (+20%) 

Petroleum Products 1,556 1,596 +40 (+3%) 

Gas 766 753 -13 (-2%) 

Electricity 507 512 +5 (+0.1%) 

Bioenergy & Wastes 47 97 +50 (+106%) 

Total Fuels 2,929 2999 +70 (+2%) 

Table 8:  Trends in Energy Consumption by Fuel Type, East Devon (BEIS, 2020b)  

3.3.1.2 Energy Consumption by End User - Electricity 

The latest figures show that in 2019, there were approximately 7,500 non-domestic and 71,000 domestic 

electricity consumers in East Devon.  Each non-domestic user consumed an average of 32 MWh annually, while 

each domestic user consumed an average of 3.8 MWh annually (BEIS, 2020c) (Figure 22).  Average consumption 

of electricity per user has been falling in recent years, for example, between 2015 and 2019, annual average 

non-domestic consumption per connection decreased by 3% (from 33 MWh to 32 MWh) and annual average 

domestic consumption per household decreased by 7% (from 4.1 MWh to 3.8 MWh).  Annual average electrical 

usage per household in East Devon is 0.2 MWh (5.5%) higher than the 2019 average for England as a whole. 

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

1,800

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

En
er

gy
 C

o
n

su
m

p
ti

o
n

 (
G

W
h

)

Year

East Devon Trends in Energy Consumption by Fuel Type

 Coal  Manufactured Fuels Petroleum Products Gas Electricity Bioenergy & Wastes

Page 79



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 55  
 

 
Figure 22:  Average Electricity Consumption per Connection in East Devon 2015-2019 (BEIS, 2020c)  

3.3.1.3 Gas Consumption 

The latest figures show that in 2019, there were approximately 400 non-domestic and 50,000 domestic gas 

consumers in East Devon.  Each non-domestic user consumed an average of 291.2 MWh annually, while each 

domestic user consumed an average of 12.2 MWh annually.  Between 2015 to 2019, average non-domestic 

consumption has been largely unchanged. Over the same period, domestic consumption increased by 2%, from 

12 MWh to 12.2 MWh per household (Figure 23). Average domestic gas use is 9.6% lower than the average for 

England likely due to the milder climate. 

 

 
Figure 23:  Average Gas Consumption per Connection in East Devon 2015-2019 (BEIS, 2020d) 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019M
ea

n
 E

le
ct

ri
ci

ty
 C

o
n

su
m

p
ti

o
n

  i
n

 M
W

h

Year

Average Electricity Consumption per Connection for East Devon

Non-Domestic Domestic

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

M
ea

n
 G

as
 C

o
n

su
m

p
ti

o
n

 (
M

W
h

)

Year

Mean Gas Consumption Per Connection for East Devon

Non-domestic Domestic

Page 80



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 56  
 

As of 2019 it was estimated that 19,324 (28%) of homes in East Devon are ‘off-gas’ (BEIS, 2020d). This means 

that they are not connected to the gas network and therefore rely on off-grid heating and cooking sources such 

as oil, electric, district heating or off-grid gas. This is above the Great Britain average of 14%.  

3.3.2 Energy Infrastructure 

Energy infrastructure covers the generation, transmission and distribution of energy, incorporating: 

• Electricity (e.g. substations) – See section 3.3.2.1 

• Gas (e.g. gas pipelines)  - See section 3.3.2.3 

 

Given the granularity of the available data, the energy analysis provided is at District level. 

3.3.2.1 Electricity Infrastructure 

The National Grid is responsible for England’s 

overall transmission of energy (both electricity 

and gas). In England, the National Grid is owned 

by the National Grid Electricity plc and operated 

by a single System Operator. They manage the 

supply of electricity across England and own 

and therefore maintain the transmission 

infrastructure in East Devon.  

As shown in Figure 24, electricity is transmitted 

at extra high voltages (400kV and 275kV), from 

power stations to major substations (Grid 

Supply Points) and regional generators, where it 

is distributed regionally by District Network 

Operators (DNOs) at lower voltages (132kV, 

66kV, 33kV, 11kV and lower) to satisfy demand.  

The District Network Operator (DNO) who owns and manages East Devon’s energy distribution infrastructure is 

Western Power Distribution (WPD). Figure 25 and Figure 26 illustrate the local high voltage electricity network 

in East Devon and the West of East Devon respectively.  

As operator of the network WPD’s role includes: 

• Maintaining the distribution network on a daily basis 

• Repairing the network when faults occur 

• Reinforcing the network to cope with changes in the pattern of demand 

• Extending the network to connect new customers 

• Delivering enhancements to support the network’s future needs. 

 

DNOs are regulated by the Office of Gas & Electricity Markets (OFGEM), whose primary purpose is to protect 

customers now and in the future, by ensuring fair practice within the energy market.  

Figure 24: Electricity Infrastructure (Parliamentary Office of Science and 
Technology, 2001) 

Page 81



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 57  
 

 
Figure 25: Extra High Voltage and High Voltage Electricity Network in East Devon (National Grid, 2021) 

Page 82



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 58  
 

 

 
Figure 26: Extra High Voltage and High Voltage Electricity Network in West of East Devon (National Grid, 2021)  

Page 83



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 59  
 

3.3.2.2 RIIO-ED2 

Electricity Price Control Reviews are the critical process for network operators through which the regulator sets 

policy, performance mechanisms and allowable revenues that a licensee may receive over the license period. 

The first review to reflect the new RIIO (Revenue = Incentives + Innovation + Outputs) model for network 

regulation, was RIIO-ED1 which covered the period from 2015 to 2023. The next Price Control Review (RIIO-

ED2) spans the period 2023 to 2028 with the majority of key evidence being collated throughout 2021. In effect, 

RIIO-ED2 will set the level of investment in the grid in East Devon for the coming years. 

A key objective of RIIO-ED2 is to support the delivery of net zero at the lowest cost to the consumer, supporting 

both strategic investments and innovation. To ensure a consistent starting point for investment, Ofgem will be 

publishing a common set of forecast assumptions. These assumptions will not restrict Distribution Network 

Operators from seeking input from local, regional or stakeholders. Therefore, input from key stakeholders in 

East Devon is encouraged throughout the process. However, it is important to note that investment proposals 

which are based on local engagement must be supported by justified projections of anticipated demand 

(Ofgem, 2020).  

With draft business plans being required by July 2021 and final business plans by the end of 2021, there is a 

shortening window for EDDC to engage and present their evidence regarding the key grid constraints and 

investment priorities for their area. Moving forward there is a need for the Clean Growth Vision to place 

importance on assessing and determining the likely grid impact caused by proposed infrastructure. This will 

enable the District Council to present the required evidence in future price control reviews. 

Constraints related to the Electricity Network are addressed in section 3.4. 

3.3.2.3 Gas Infrastructure 

The National Transmission System, owned and operated by National Grid plc, is Britain’s gas transmission 

network. It is used to transport high pressure gas from entry points to gas distribution networks, power stations 

and large industrial users (OFGEM, 2021). 

Regional Gas distribution infrastructure in East Devon (such as gas mains and connections) is owned and 

managed by two gas DNOs, namely, Scotia / Scottish / Southern Gas Networks (SGN) and Wales & West Utilities 

(WWU).  These DNOs own and maintain the networks within specific geographical regions: 

• SGN (formerly Scotia Gas Network) is responsible for the area of Uplyme, near the Devon-Dorset 

border. 

• WWU is responsible for the remainder (the majority) of the District’s network (Figure 27).  

 

Local Distribution Zones (LDZs) connect to the National Transmission System via “off-take points”. The gas 

undergoes pressure reduction before entering the distribution networks and then is transported to customers 

via the distribution network, undergoing further pressure reductions as needed. Energy Suppliers sell gas to 

customers and buy gas from “shippers”. Shippers pay the National Grid and DNOs to transport gas through their 

networks which recovers the cost of investment/maintenance. 

 

WWU’s network serves three Local Distribution Zones which are Wales North, Wales South and the South West 

(of England). The WWU Long Term Development Statement (WWU, 2020) commits to deliver a net zero ready 

network by 2035 by working collaboratively to support a Green Recovery out of Covid-19. The network planning 

and business plan proposals for 2021 to 2026 account for the transitions and opportunity the industry faces.  

Page 84



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 60  
 

The plans to 2026 assume: 

• A greater penetration of green gas across WWU local distribution zones 

• The use of renewable electricity to decarbonise heat using hybrid heating technology in homes and 
businesses across the region 

• Reduced annual demand for gas as customers adopt more efficient and flexible systems and improve 
insulation  

• A move to electric cars among consumers and to hydrogen or green gas to fuel heavy goods vehicles, 
buses and trains 

• Increased use of renewable electricity for power. 

In the South West, the majority of gas demand is from domestic energy users. WWU predicts that peak demand 

in the South West will increase by between 3% to 9% to 2030, based on a range of low to high growth scenarios. 

Despite this, annual demand is expected to fall as a result of improvements in general building and appliance 

efficiencies, and a decrease in load factors when a proportion of gas generation is displaced with renewable 

sources (WWU, 2020). Given that peak demand is a key driver for capacity requirements, it is expected that 

WWU will need to invest in upgrades to increase capacity over the period. 

 

 
Figure 27: Regional Gas Distribution Network (WWU, 2021), (SGN, 2020a) 

 

 

Page 85



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 61  
 

3.3.2.4 Local Authority Role 

Devon County Council and East Devon District Council are responsible for supporting WWU and SGN in the 

future planning of networks. Table 9 summarises the key responsibilities for energy transmission infrastructure 

in East Devon. 

   

 

Organisation Geographic Responsibility 

Infrastructure Responsibilities 

Organisation Type / 
Function 

Tr
an

sm
is

si
o

n
 

O
p

er
at

o
rs

 

N
et

w
o

rk
 

D
is

tr
ib

u
ti

o
n

 

N
et

w
o

rk
 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

D
el

iv
er

y 
o

f 
N

ew
 

Sc
h

em
e 

/ 
U

p
gr

ad
e

s 

Fu
tu

re
 S

ch
em

e 

P
la

n
n

in
g 

Energy Transmission 
Operator 

National Grid All of East Devon ✓     

Electricity DNO WPD All of East Devon  ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Gas DNO 
SGN Uplyme  ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

WWU The remainder of East Devon  ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

District Council East Devon Council All of East Devon     ✓ 

County Council Devon County Council All of Devon     ✓ 

Table 9: Responsibilities for Energy Infrastructure in East Devon 

Page 86



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 62  
 

3.4 Energy Opportunities & Constraints 

As East Devon drives towards 2040 and Net Zero, there is a high potential for carbon projects to deliver a boost 

to the local economy. The following section explores ways in which East Devon Council can support this 

transition whilst driving clean growth and accelerating the path to Net Zero.  

3.4.1 Domestic Sector 

In East Devon there are ~70k homes housing ~144k people. The approach to decarbonise these homes and 

achieve Net Zero is often split between addressing new developments and retrofitting existing buildings as each 

will require a very different strategy. Data analysis in this section uses data from the LSOAs set out in Figure 28 

to provide information for the West of East Devon.   

 
Figure 28: Study Area LSOA References Used for Data Analysis 

Page 87



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 63  
 

3.4.1.1 New Development 

In the West of East Devon, Cranbrook is the largest town and is at the heart of the growth plans for the ‘West 

End’. Cranbrook is a rapidly developing new town.  Once completed it is planned to be the second largest town 

in East Devon (behind Exmouth). As of Spring 2021 there are 2,900 homes occupied. There are plans for 

Cranbrook to expand up to 8,000 homes by 2031 and accommodate over 18,000 residents. Cranbrook is also 

planned to include over 12,000m2 of employment land and other services alongside the new housing.   

Relative to Cranbrook, the expected growth of other settlements in the West of East Devon is much smaller.  

There are plans for 2,000 homes within Monkerton and neighbouring Hill Barton. Other settlements include 

Broadclyst, Whimple, Poltimore and Clyst Honiton which all have populations below 1,500 people. There is 

potential for a further growth in the region however, no firm plans exist at the time of writing.  

 

For all new homes built in East Devon after 2025 it is currently expected that the ‘Future Homes Standard’ will 

be followed. The Future Homes Standard is expected to require new build homes to be future-proofed with low 

carbon heating and “world-leading” levels of energy efficiency. An interim update to Part L of building 

regulation will be enacted from June 2022 will reduce the CO2 of new properties by 31% compared to current 

standards through renewable heating, improved insulation, and fabric efficiency. The Future Homes Standard is 

then expected to result in a 75% reduction in CO2 in new dwellings compared to today’s standards, along with a 

new focus on rating primary energy efficiency as well as CO2. There is also an expectation that Heat Pumps will 

become the primary heating technology for new homes. As these will be national policies, any cost increases 

that will be incurred by house developers will become ‘sector normal’ and should not be a barrier to compliance 

with the standard.   

 

There is an immediate need to upskill developers, construction firms and the supply chain in the delivery of 

homes to the Future Homes Standard. There will also be a need to design new building materials, processes and 

systems to achieve higher levels of fabric efficiency while also engineering out costs. Carbon emissions of wider 

development processes, including embedded carbon, will also need to be addressed to further decarbonise the 

supply chain. 

3.4.1.1.1 District Heating 

Renewable heating will become the standard for new properties after 2025. All new properties need to be 

provided with low-carbon heating, such as being connected to a district heat network system.  The East Devon 

and Exeter region is already a leader in the development of large-scale district heating. For example, the E.ON 

Energy Centre in the West of East Devon provides hot water and heating to housing in Cranbrook and 

commercial buildings at Skypark as well as a private wire to the Lidl distribution centre. Further District Heating 

plant at the Monkerton Energy Centre is in the process of being commissioned and will provide hot water and 

heating to housing around Monkerton and Pinhoe and commercial buildings at the Science Park. 

 

According to the Association of Decentralised Energy new heat networks would cost between £5m to £7m for 

2,500 homes. The latest WSP techno-economic report for heat networks in East Devon stated that circa £60m 

of capital would be required to develop a 15 MWth peak energy from waste solution. The WSP study illustrated 

two of the main barriers to developing heat networks, which are a suitably high density of heat demand to 

warrant the initial investment or the availability of an alternative source of heat supply.  

A supplementary technology on the immediate horizon are Hydrogen boilers. These boilers would be powered 

by grid supplied hydrogen or part hydrogen and natural gas mix. Although this technology is not widely available 

at the current time this option should be kept in mind as a potential future option for heat decarbonisation.  

Page 88



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 64  
 

3.4.1.2 Domestic Retrofit 

While new developments are covered by the Future Homes Standard, the existing building stock in the West of 

East Devon (~7,500 properties) will not be covered by these new rules. The government’s approach to retrofit 

has recently suffered a major set-back with the Green Homes Grant being scrapped only six months after its 

launch (Guardian, 2021). However, retrofit is still a major national challenge with the Committee on Climate 

Change noting that the major challenge of widespread building retrofit to has been largely unaddressed (CCC, 

2020). Despite the challenges of addressing retrofit, many have noted that the carbon reduction of domestic 

properties would have the potential to create significant levels of new jobs.  It should also be noted that 

properties connected to the District Heat Network will not need to be retrofitted to the same extent as 

properties outside of the Network. 

 

To explore the potential for East Devon, we have assessed the scale of a potential retrofit programme covering 

all retrofit properties in the region, identifying the capital investment requirement and ongoing cost benefits 

that could be realised (Table 10). The analysis is based on an assessment of the retrofit needs and costs across 

the 69,630 homes in East Devon covering the following potential interventions: 

• Optimisation & Behavioural change: Delivering simple low- or no-cost changes to behaviour such 

turning off standby items, lights and reducing heating set points can have a large impact on energy use. 

• Fabric improvement retrofit: Retrofitting fabric of a building can deliver very large savings. Savings are 

different for each construction type, but all buildings can be improved via retrofit. A range of solutions 

have been considered including Cavity Wall Insulation, Solid Wall Insulation, Loft Insulation and 

upgrading Windows. Other, “deeper” approaches to retrofit could also be considered. 

• Low carbon heating (& cooling if required): A range of renewable heating solutions have been 

considered for East Devon below. It must be noted that heat pumps and Heat networks supplied by 

renewable energy will often be accompanied by an increase in electricity usage. On average for every 

3kWh of gas saved 1kWh of additional electricity could be consumed. 

• Integrated microgeneration: Roof top solar has great potential to reduce electricity bills within homes.  

However often the peak of the solar production and the peak of consumption in the property do not 

match. In cases where this is true, adding a storage component can help balance the demand with the 

supply.  

 

Table 10 demonstrates that the investment need for retrofit will be in the region of £0.4bn and will generate 

direct annual cost saving benefits of ~£10m. The table shows that many individual measures have payback 

periods that would currently be challenging for private investors or individuals. The feasibility of individual 

measures will be greatly influenced by national policies and subsidies supporting specific technologies (e.g. 

changes to the Renewable Heat Incentive).  

Based on current rates of financial support, any retrofit programme is likely to require a portfolio-based 

approach underpinned by the local public sector. The overall programme returns as shown above are clearly 

below those required by the private sector but could be justifiable compared to local authority borrowing rates.  

The wider benefits case for such a programme would capture other co-benefits such as the reduction in carbon, 

resilience improvements, improved health and job creation.   

 

  

Page 89



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 65  
 

Regional Domestic  
Net Zero Plan 

Change Typical 
Energy 

Saving % 

Total Cost of 
Retrofit 

Measures 

Financial 
Benefit pa 

Payback 

Optimisation & 
Behavioural change 

Existing equipment 
optimisation & behaviour 
change 

8% 
 
£0 

 
£2,733,117 

 
0 

Fabric improvement 
retrofit 

Cavity Wall Insulation 8% £6,614,850 £526,125 13 

Solid Wall Insulation 19% £17,407,500 £324,558 54 

Loft Insulation 4% £13,751,925 £717,443 19 

Window Upgrades 11% £43,518,750 £939,509 46 

Low carbon heating (& 
cooling if required) 

Heat Network CHP* 35% £4,950,693 £597,869 8 

Heat Network Renewable* 70% £14,852,079 N/A N/A 

Heat pumps 70% £222,816,000 N/A N/A 

Integrated 
microgeneration 

Rooftop Solar photovoltaics  
Average 
1.5 kWp 

£69,630,000 £3,899,280 18 

Total  £393,541,797 £9,737,901 40 
 *excludes core network build costs     

Table 10:  Summary of Domestic Retrofit Opportunity in East Devon 

 

3.4.1.2.1 Barriers 

Domestic Retrofit has a number of challenges that have been highlighted through multiple high-profile 

programmes including the Green Homes Grant and the Green Deal. Innovation in programme design for retrofit 

will therefore also need to take learnings from national and international best practice. Fortunately, there are 

many studies covering the challenges encountered by others. A study by Kangas 2018 provides a useful review 

of the literature concerning the barriers to retrofit that need to be overcome. These are summarised in Table 

11.  

Category Barrier Reference 
Economic market failures 
(Weber 1997; Sorrell 2000; 
Gillingham et al. 2009) 

Unpriced externalities Gillingham et al. (2009) 

Imperfect information Sorrell (2000); Gillingham et al. (2009) 

Adverse selection Sorrell (2000); Gillingham et al. (2009) 

Principal-agent relationships Sorrell (2000); Gillingham et al. (2009) 

Split Incentives Sorrell (2000); Gillingham et al. (2009) 

Economic market barriers 
(Weber 1997; Sorrell 2000) 

Risk Sorrell (2000) 

Heterogeneity Sorrell (2000) 

Hidden costs Sorrell (2000) 

Access to capital Sorrell (2000); Gillingham et al. (2009) 

Behavioural barriers (Weber 
1997; Sorrell 2000; Gillingham 
et al. 2009) 

Form of information Sorrell (2000) 

Inertia Sorrell (2000); Gillingham et al. (2009) 

Credibility and trust Sorrell (2000) 

Bounded rationality Sorrell (2000); Gillingham et al. (2009) 

Values Sorrell (2000) 

Organisational barriers (Weber 
1997; Sorrell 2000) 

Power Sorrell (2000) 

Culture Sorrell (2000) 

Institutional barriers (Weber 
1997) 

Regulatory problems Nagesha and Balachandra (2006) 

Lack of policy coherence Nagesha and Balachandra (2006) 
Table 11: Barriers identified through literature review in Kangas 2018 

 

Page 90



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 66  
 

A public-sector led approach has been identified as a key design component needed to overcome many of the 

challenges including improving credibility and trust, developing the conditions for success, over-coming split 

incentives through policy-design and supporting financing through innovations in capital. For the region that can 

develop a successful model for retrofit, there is likely to be a considerable opportunity to export knowledge, 

skills and processes to other regions. 

In the last year, the demand for retrofit has outstripped supply by the industry, and the region needs to invest in 

developing the required skills and supporting the expansion of existing businesses to not only match the 

capacity of the market, but also to drive Low-Carbon developments and construction in the future.    

3.4.1.2.2 Decarbonisation of Existing Heat Networks 

Gas CHP based heat Networks produce heat at lower carbon than traditional single dwelling boilers with 

reductions between 30-50% depending on how ‘loaded’ the generator is. Under normal conditions and with a 

good maintenance routine, a CHP’s lifetime operation can be between 15 - 30 years depending on engine type.  

However, existing Gas CHP-based heat networks still output a significant carbon emission which will need to be 

removed if Net Zero is to be achieved.  

Retrofitting existing district heat networks with a renewable heat source will need to be considered to meet Net 

Zero. This provides considerable opportunities for new innovation. There are a few renewable options that 

could be used to replace the CHP. If the retrofit work was done in the short term, then the most appropriate 

technology would be to use a vertical drilled ground source heat pump. However, if the retrofit was to be 

considered in a longer timeframe, then consideration should be given to hydrogen boilers as the main heat 

source and the primary replacement for the CHP. The major barrier to achieving this retrofit will be economic in 

nature. However, the current stock of Gas CHP engines powering the Heat Network may become increasingly 

uneconomical to operate in the medium to long-term depending on government policies to address gas such as 

the introduction of direct disincentives or carbon taxes. East Devon has a strategy to take waste heat from the 

EfW plant at Hill Barton which is currently under construction.  

 

The UK government confirmed it will introduce a levy to fund the decarbonisation of the gas grid in autumn 

2021 according to an announcement made by BEIS on 17 March 2021. The Green Gas Levy (GGL) will be 

introduced alongside the Green Gas Support Scheme (GGSS) – a tariff-based mechanism to support the 

injection of biomethane into the grid. The first two levy rates are expected to be announced in October 2021 - 

six months before the collection of supplier payments begin in April 2022. It is believed that taxation of this sort 

could be extended in the coming years to support hydrogen developments. The UK government believe 

hydrogen is a long-term component of the UK’s energy infrastructure, and the price of gas may have to rise to 

enable this. 

 

3.4.2 Non-Domestic Sector 

The non-domestic built environment also represents a large proportion of carbon output for the region. There 

are 6,730 non-domestic buildings in East Devon with a floor area of 1.15M m2 (Figure 29). This includes 2,100 

hospitality establishments, 1,280 shops and 1,230 factories. 13% of the non-domestic properties are located 

within the West End of East Devon. This area contains some of East Devon’s most prestigious building 

developments including Exeter Science Park, East Devon Airport, Exeter Business Park which includes 

Headquarters of the Met Office and the regional office for EDF Energy.   

 

Page 91



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 67  
 

Similar to retrofit within the domestic sector, there are significant opportunities for retrofit within the non-

domestic sector in East Devon. Using floor space and average intensity data we can estimate the carbon 

emissions by sector and building type as set out in Figure 30. Similar to the analysis above we have assessed the 

scale of a potential non-domestic retrofit programme covering all non-domestic properties in the region, 

identifying the capital investment requirement and ongoing cost benefits that could be realised. 

 

 

 
Figure 29:  Non-Domestic Buildings in East Devon 

 

 
Figure 30: Carbon Emission Estimates by Sector 

40 110 

1,230 

80 

2,100 

610 590 

1,280 

690 

 -

 500

 1,000

 1,500

 2,000

 2,500

A
rt

s,
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
an

d
 L

e
is

u
re

Ed
u

ca
ti

o
n

Fa
ct

o
ri

es

H
ea

lt
h

H
o

sp
it

al
it

y

O
ff

ic
e

s

O
th

e
r

Sh
o

p
s

W
ar

eh
o

u
se

s

N
u

m
b

er

Non-Domestic Buildings in East Devon by Type

113 329

21,207

279

14,789

5,435

1,330

14,850

4,512

 -

 5,000

 10,000

 15,000

 20,000

 25,000

A
rt

s,
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
an

d
 L

e
is

u
re

Ed
u

ca
ti

o
n

Fa
ct

o
ri

es

H
ea

lt
h

H
o

sp
it

al
it

y

O
ff

ic
e

s

O
th

e
r

Sh
o

p
s

W
ar

eh
o

u
se

s

Es
ti

m
at

ed
 A

n
n

u
al

 C
ar

b
o

n
 E

m
is

si
o

n
s 

kT
 C

O
2

Carbon Emission Estimates by Sector

Page 92



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 68  
 

 

In the non-domestic sector, potential interventions analysed include: 

• Metering: Introduction of ubiquitous smart meter solutions. This will enable accurate measurement of 

energy use and is a pre-requisite to proving Net Zero has been achieved.  

• Building control: In smaller commercial & industrial units appropriate control is often lacking and 

therefore savings that can be achieved in larger properties cannot be replicated. It is suggested that a 

mini-BMS solution is targeted and deployed in the area.  

• Optimisation: Reduce Gas & Electricity consumption within the commercial & industrial sector by 

employing a programme of optimisation of the existing infrastructure using Energy management and 

energy analytics.  

• Building fabric retrofit: Introduce a programme of support for deep building retrofit. This should be 

supported, if possible, with funding/grants, to ensure that this important approach can be adopted in all 

cases.  

• Heat Networks: Continued development of heat supply networks to deliver low carbon heat. Building 

on the great progress already made in the region ensure more properties are connected.  

• Heat pump retrofit programme: Where connection to the heat network is not applicable installation of 

heat pump technology to decarbonise heating production.   

• Lighting retrofit: Introduce ubiquitous lighting retrofit for energy use reduction and smart control.  For 

all commercial and industrial buildings, a good commercial payback can be achieved. 

 

Regional Non-
Domestic Net Zero 
Plan 

A
rt

s 

Ed
u

ca
ti

o
n

 

Fa
ct

o
ri

es
 

H
ea

lt
h

 

H
o

sp
it

al
it

y 

O
ff

ic
es

 

Sh
o

p
s 

W
ar

eh
o

u
se

s 

Capital 
Investment 

(£k) 

Financial 
Benefit 

(£k) 

Payback 
(Years) 

Carbon 
Reduction 

(%) 

Metering         £6,376 N/A N/A N/A 

Building Control         £5,282 N/A N/A N/A 

Optimisation         £22,955 £1,959 11.7 6% 

Building Fabric Retrofit         £27,250 £336 81.2 6% 

Heat Networks         N/A N/A N/A 6% 

Heat Pump Retrofit         £34,516 N/A N/A 17% 

Rooftop Solar         £34,830 £2,884 12.1 8% 

Lighting Retrofit         £9,054 £1,027 8.8 3% 

East Devon Total         £140,263 £6,206 23 47% 
 Table 12:  Summary of Non-Domestic Retrofit Opportunities in East Devon 

Table 12 shows that the investment need for retrofit in the non-domestic sector in East Devon will be in the 

region of £0.14bn and will generate direct annual cost saving benefits of ~£6.2m.  These initial interventions will 

reduce the carbon emissions by ~47% with further changes to internal processes, efficiency of plant and 

additional renewable generation likely to be required to fully decarbonise the sector.  

  

Page 93



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 69  
 

3.4.3 Renewable Generation 

East Devon could also consider the opportunities for further renewable energy generation.  As the area is rich in 

arable land it is possible to repurpose some of this to use as sites for renewable energy generation.  Figure 31 

sets out areas of agricultural land within 4km of a substation that may lend themselves to production of solar 

energy for example.  Land of grade 3 and above can potentially be used for solar developments.   

 

35 to 40 acres of land can house a 10 MWp Solar farm which can directly offset carbon emissions from within 

East Devon or from other parts of UK.  An array of this size could deliver 9.4GWh of renewable energy a year at 

East Devon’s current average capacity factor, sufficient to offset electricity use equivalent to approximately 

2,500 East Devon homes.  A solar farm of this size would cost approximately £6.5m in capital expenditure 

(excluding land & financing costs) and £60k pa to operate.   

 

There are usually 2 options available when selling electricity from such an array: 

• Private wire PPA to homes or non-domestic properties.  With this approach most of the electricity sold 
is taken and used in the local area.  Any additional energy that is not used would be ‘spilt’ directly back 
into the National Grid and sold at the prevailing market rate. Employing this approach and charging 
11p/kWh, the capital cost could be paid back in ~6.5 yrs.   

• Sell back to National Grid on the day ahead energy market.  With this approach all the electricity would 
be exported from the solar back on to the UK supply network.  Prices fluctuate every half hour but using 
last year’s prices and adjusting for growth the capital cost would be paid back in 15 - 17 yrs.  

 

Page 94



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 70  
 

 
Figure 31:  Potential Sites for Solar Potential in East Devon (based on land suitability and location of electrical grid connections) 

 

The opportunity exists for the council to become an energy supplier and directly supply any power produced to 

local residents and businesses.  This could both support decarbonisation and create an additional revenue 

stream for the council.  To cover the electrical load from all 70,000 East Devon homes would need 

approximately 28 large (10 MWp) solar farms.  A development of this size would be in the order of £182m 

excluding land costs.  Equivalently, East Devon might see an opportunity in generation of electricity to offset 

emissions from other regions that have fewer solar resources or space for generation assets.   

3.4.3.1 Barriers 

Land prices are often cited as a reason not to install major solar developments.  However, there are several 

ways in which this barrier can be overcome.    

• Gainshare payments - In the Swindon region there are 43 large solar farms and solar farm development 

is strongly supported by Swindon Borough Council.  Such a proliferation of installations initially led to a 

rise in land prices as land-owners exploited this growth.  This resulted in the land prices becoming a 

barrier to the projects progressing.  The approach that was adopted to resolve this position was that 

solar developers started offering a share of revenue scheme as payment.  Land-owners were offered 

between 2-5% of the total solar array output as payment.  This has resulted in continued development 

of the sector and is perceived as a fair way for all to gain from the development of a new array.  

Page 95



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 71  
 

• Agrivoltaics - Agrivoltaic design for new solar arrays enable the land to still be productive for farming 

and also be used for electricity generation. The result of this is a much lower potential land rental cost 

as landowners no longer need to choose between Solar or production and can have revenues from 

both.  The approach has been pioneered successfully in Japan and China over the last 10 years and we 

will see it deployed in the UK in the coming years.  The approach uses a high solar canopy to partially 

cover the crop area.  Since the installation is 

higher off the ground, all the normal farming 

activity can continue below the solar 

canopy.  Solar of this sort does have a higher 

capital cost due to the extra support 

structure needed for the solar panels.  While 

not suitable for all crops, such as Wheat, 

systems can be designed to optimise the 

solar radiation that gets through the system 

to maximise photosynthesis.  Once installed 

these types of systems have also been 

shown to have several further positive impacts such as reducing heat, reduced evaporation loss and 

lower water consumption.  

 

3.4.3.2 Onshore Wind 

Onshore wind energy technology ranges from small wind turbines with a rated output ranging from 0.05-50 kW, 

medium turbines ranging from 50-500 kW, and large turbines rated above 500 kW. Large wind turbines are a 

mature and proven technology and are one of the most developed and economically viable forms of renewable 

energy in the UK. Some types of small wind technology have also matured and newer turbines in the small- to 

medium-size range are increasingly being deployed.  Previous studies have identified that while there is strong 

potential for onshore wind in Devon, many areas have been excluded due to interference with radar used at 

airports or by the Ministry of Defence (MOD).  This is particularly the case for areas of East Devon that fall 

outside of areas of outstanding natural beauty.  The technology is therefore not considered further, however 

wind may be a technology particularly suited to renewable energy-coupled hydrogen plants.  Further 

innovations in this area may be essential if East Devon wishes to become a leader in the hydrogen economy. 

3.4.3.3 Summary 

The opportunity exists to use the West of East Devon as a catalyst and exemplar for the rest of the county. If 

driven by direct action from, East Devon has the potential to drive significant regional growth and deliver a 

cleaner future.  Overall, the new revenue which can be generated in area is over £715m (Table 13) and this 

could support 7,647 new jobs. 

Sector New Revenue / Cost 

Non-domestic £140,262,781 

Domestic £393,541,797 

Grid Scale Solar £182,000,000 

Total Cost £715,804,578 

Table 13: Summary of East Devon Net Zero Investment Opportunity 

 

Figure 32:  Example Agrivoltaic Installation 

Page 96



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 72  
 

3.4.4 New Technologies & Innovation 

Other technologies that could be developed, explored or demonstrated in East Devon include: 

 

• Carbon Sequestration & Carbon Capture & Storage (CCS) – Globally there are as yet no examples of 

standalone commercially viable CCS projects.  There are 26 operational projects globally (Figure 33) but 

all are secondary processes from within a main industry (i.e. Natural Gas fired energy production or 

Fertiliser production).  Currently there are no operational large scale CCS plants in the UK.  Innovate UK, 

the Research Councils and BEIS expect to invest around £162 million in industrial research and 

innovation, including carbon capture, usage and storage (CCUS).  As part of this, BEIS has allocated up to 

£20 million to design and construct carbon capture and utilisation (CCU) demonstration projects to 

encourage industrial sites to capture carbon dioxide which could then be used in industrial applications. 

 

 
Figure 33:  Existing and Planned CCS sites globally (Global status of CCS, 2020) 

 

 
 

 

• Wave and tidal power generation – Looking into wave and tidal power it would initially be seen as good 

fit with the geography of East Devon.  The South West has a unique advantage in the development of 

marine energy technologies with extremely viable energy resources, port infrastructure, research 

facilities and industrial talent.  However, the potential of wave and tidal power technologies has proven 

difficult to realise.  While there are a number of test facilities in the South West, there are no facilities in 

East Devon.  However, the international interconnector (‘FABLink’), landing at Budleigh Salterton does 

off the potential to connect to significant offshore resources, for example the known 6 TWh tidal 

stream resource at Alderney.  It is therefore likely to be in East Devon’s interest to work with regional 

partners to explore the potential technologies and partners to unlock these offshore opportunities.  

Page 97



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 73  
 

• Battery Storage – The business case for Lithium Ion based storage, delivering up to 4hrs of power 

output, is becoming increasingly uneconomical.   Business cases often rely on Grid Balancing revenues, 

for which there is a finite need.  This results in diminishing returns per MW supplied by the storage 

asset to the balancing market. ‘Layering’ of other revenue streams, like direct market arbitrage, has 

been used to fill this gap, but this is now no longer able to meet the shortfall. When considering Energy 

Storage programmes East Devon should look for programmes that meet the needs of the UK.  

Therefore, we would suggest considering a long-term energy storage programme like inter-seasonal 

storage. There are several technologies that can be used to deliver these services. Redox Flow batteries 

(Organic & non-organic) offer the potential for longer term storage using separated and pumped 

electrolyte solutions.  However, these are low energy density and require large footprints.  Compressed 

Air Energy Storage (CAES) & Underground Thermal energy storage (UTES) offer the potential for long 

term storage and a way to manage the inter seasonal disparity of the UK’s needs.  However, they are 

currently both very specialist and have specific geographic requirements.  

• New & Advanced Nuclear Power – Nuclear Energy in the 21st century is undergoing a renaissance 

period. There is lots of research into Thorium Fission reactors & Tokamak Fusion reactors with both 

offering potential for future low-cost Net Zero compliant power. The UK generates about 20% of its 

electricity from nuclear, but almost half of current capacity is to be retired by 2025.  The UK has 15 

operable reactors delivering 8,923 MWe peak power, with 2 Reactors Under Construction which will 

deliver a further 3,260 MWe. The UK government strongly supports nuclear power and it was included 

within the Ten Point Plan for a Green Revolution & National Grids Future Energy Scenarios however 

within the South West region, investment in future Nuclear research is likely to be centred around 

Hinkley Point to secure a legacy from the Nuclear skills being generated through construction. 

• Hydrogen – The UK plans to have 5 GW of low carbon hydrogen production capacity by 2030. BEIS state 

the UK need is 250-460 TWh by 2050 to meet Net Zero targets. Current volumes of mostly fossil-based 

hydrogen produce between 10-27 TWh.  The UK expect that this demand will be met by both Green & 

Blue hydrogen as the Grey supply is phased out. Companies, like SSE, are now starting to deploy Green 

hydrogen alongside their renewable installations.  A 1MW renewable installation can electrolyse on 

average ~400kg of Hydrogen as day.  Prices are currently slightly higher than traditional fuel options at 

£7 per kg compared to diesel at £5 per kg.  This excludes the cost of hydrogen transportation which 

today would have to be achieved through road freight from East Devon.   

• Jet Zero & Green Shipping – The Jet Zero Council (JCZ) is a partnership between aviation industry 

leaders and government, with the common aim of achieving zero-emission transatlantic flight within a 

generation. Recognising the need for investment into new technologies, the JZC launched a £15 million 

Green Fuels, Green Skies competition in March 2021 to fund research into converting waste into 

sustainable aviation fuel.  It is believed that these fuels can deliver emissions savings of more than 70% 

compared to conventional jet fuels. The decarbonisation of shipping is also receiving significant 

government investment including a £20 million fund launched in March 2021 to support research and 

development into zero-emission vessels and clean port infrastructures. 

 

 
.  

 

Page 98



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 74  
 

3.5 Critical Constraints 

3.5.1 East Devon’s Electricity Network Constraints 

East Devon has seen a reduction in annual electricity consumption in both domestic and non-domestic buildings 

when comparing 2019 and 2012 level.  This is despite a growth in the number of domestic and non-domestic 

buildings in the same period which suggests efficiency gains (BEIS, 2020d).  However, this historical trend is not 

set to continue. The combination of three effects is projected to result in increased annual electricity 

consumption across the county. These critical trends are the continued growth in the number of domestic and 

non-domestic buildings, the transition to electric vehicles and the decarbonisation of heat. 

For the electricity grid, these factors will not only increase annual consumption, but will also increase peak 

demand. This is especially true in cold weather periods where demand will also be influenced by increased 

space heating requirements, reduced efficiencies of air source heat pumps and reduced battery performance. 

The ability for the electricity network to cope with increased annual consumption and peak demand depends on 

network capacity limitations.  

Network capacity limitations exist on the amount of embedded generation and the demand load that the 

network can support under a given set of operating conditions. The primary causes of these constraints on the 

district network can be categorized as follows (Ofgem, 2017): 

• Voltage: limits the additional load which can be accommodated without exceeding statutory limits. 

• Thermal: limits on the amount of additional load within the thermal ratings of the network assets. 

• Fault Level: limits on the network capacity to accept additional current which may occur following a 
fault on the network. 

• Transmission: limitations which may be due to a range of physical causes but limits the import or export 
to the transmission system. 

The implication of constraints on potential connections to the network can lead to significantly increased costs, 

delays, project size limitations and relocation. Approaches to dealing with network constraints involve physical 

improvements, such as network reinforcement or upgrade, or flexible curtailment approaches, such as Active 

Network Management, inter-trips and timed solutions. 

Overcoming these network constraints are a dominant contributor to the level of funding required on the 

electricity network, both to support planned growth (demand constraints) and to achieving decarbonisation 

ambitions via the use of renewable generation sources (generation constraints). 

Demand availability provides an indication of the network’s capability to connect large-scale demand 

developments to major substations.  According to WPD’s analysis (WPD, 2021a)while there is some availability 

in some parts of the network, the Hill Barton Primary Substation is reaching capacity (Figure 34). As a result, it is 

unlikely that additional large-scale load developments can be connected to the Hill Barton substation network 

without significant reinforcement.  

WPD’s evidence suggests that the distribution network within East Devon is not affected by thermal or voltage 

constraints but a significant number of faults exist at the local substations in addition to voltage constraints in a 

number of 33kV transmission lines (WPD, 2021b).  Upstream constraints in Somerset and beyond (such as the F-

Route on the 132kV network) also present long-term constraints.  Upstream connections also need to be 

monitored and upgraded so that they do not impede East Devon’s ability to meet future projected demand. 

 

 

Page 99



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 75  
 

 
Figure 34:  East Devon's Network Capacity Map WPD, (WPD, 2021c) 

 

3.5.1.1 Projected Demand versus Network Constraints 

It is important to note that WPD’s analysis may not be applicable to the West of East Devon’s current and future 
energy requirements. Although the Exeter Science Park and Clyst Honiton substations are deemed to have high 
connection potential, this does not take into account the higher-than-average energy requirements that are 
typical of the businesses and industries present in this area.  It is recommended that EDDC undertake an 
analysis of the future requirements to ensure that growth is not restricted by the electricity network capacity, 
and that the area remains attractive to innovative organisations.  

3.5.1.2 Electric Vehicle Charging Demand 

In addition, electric vehicle uptake is set to scale up rapidly over the next decade.  The rapidity of this growth 

and the ban on petrol and diesel vehicles from 2030 illustrates the urgent need for local authorities to plan and 

prepare suitable infrastructure.  However, the focus on the electrification of transport in decarbonisation 

strategies raises concerns over requirements for large scale investment in the electrical grid and network 

infrastructure (RTPI, 2019). 
 

Page 100



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 76  
 

The Customer Transformation Distribution Future Energy Scenario expects that by 2040 there will be a 

minimum of 885 charge points required in all Electricity Supply Areas in East Devon (Figure 35).  Based on the 

WPD’s network capacity analysis (WPD, 2021a) Hill Barton Primary Substation will require network upgrades to 

ensure the electricity demand for electric vehicle charge points can be met. 

 

 
Figure 35:  East Devon's Projected Electric Vehicle Charging Points in 2040 based on Future Energy Scenarios (WPD, 2021d) 
 

Given that RIIO-ED2 process will set the level of investment in the grid until 2028, the outcome of the process 

will become an integral consideration in the planning of electric vehicle infrastructure.  It is important that EDDC 

creates robust electric vehicle infrastructure plans and communicate with WPD to ensure that investment over 

this period is aligned to their decarbonisation objectives.  There is some flexibility built into the RIIO-ED2 

process to accommodate uncertainty around grid requirements, however the process is untested and is 

therefore likely to require continuous engagement throughout the period. 

 

A variety of strategies also exist in the design of electric vehicle infrastructure to help reduce peak demands on 

the grid including smart controls and integrated battery storage. 

 

Page 101



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 77  
 

3.5.1.3 Electricity Demand from Heat Pumps 

Heat pumps offer an energy-efficient alternative for space heating and cooling and will be integral in new 

housing developments as we move towards the 2025 ban on gas heating in new homes.  Figure 36 indicates the 

predicted number of heat pumps in each Electricity Service Area (ESA) in the Customer Transformation 

Distribution Future Energy Scenario.   

Whilst the constraints at Hill Barton Primary Substation raise concerns over meeting the electricity demand of 

future developments and electric vehicle charging, the area is only expected to gain 11 heat pumps by 2040 

(WPD, 2021d) – a figure that should be tested for any site allocations emerging through the Local Plan.  

However, a much higher uptake of heat pumps is expected in other areas of East Devon.  In particular, the area 

served by Withycombe Raleigh Primary Substation and Exmouth BSP is expected to have an uptake of 5,262 

heat pumps by 2040 (WPD, 2021d).  Additionally, the area served by Colyford Primary Substation is expected to 

have an uptake of 4,314 (WPD, 2021d).  Although the network in these areas are not currently constrained, the 

additional demand of heat pumps represent a significant energy demand and upgrades should be considered in 

these areas.   

 

 
Figure 36:  East Devon's Projected Number of Heat Pumps in 2040 based on the Consumer Transformation Future Energy Scenario 
(WPD, 2021d) 
 

 

Page 102



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 78  
 

Similar to Electric Vehicles, there are opportunities to reduce the overall demand from heating for example by: 

• Reducing Heating Demand: for example, by retrofitting houses and building very energy efficient new 

homes. 

• Flattening the demand peak: through the use of smart heating controls, flexible tariffs and smart 

appliances. 

• Reducing grid peak demand: for example, by satisfying demand with on-site or local generation and storage. 
 

3.5.1.4 East Devon’s Electricity Network Constraint Management & Green Recovery 

WPD is part of the Flexible Power joint initiative which aims to control peak demand and allow additional 

capacity to be connected to the network (Flexible Power, 2021).  The DNO is introducing network flexibility 

services in order to avoid or reduce some of the costly reinforcement work normally required when the network 

is constrained.  In addition, WPD has introduced constraint management zones in more heavily constrained 

parts of their network.  One of their zones operates over areas in the north and north west of the District 

(Figure 37) and covers the areas upstream of East Devon where constrained 33kV transmission lines are located.  

It is recommended that EDDC engages with WPD to ensure that the upstream constraints are prioritised 

effectively.  For future improved management of constrained areas, WPD aims to choose the most economical 

method between additional constraint management zones and network upgrades.  

 

 
Figure 37:  WPD Constraint Management Zones in East Devon (WPD, 2021e) (National Grid, 2021) 

Page 103



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 79  
 

 

Working alongside Ofgem and the industry, WPD has drawn up plans to unlock early investments in the network 

to support a Green Recovery and the Government’s transition to net zero (WPD, 2020f).  Having undertaken an 

assessment, locations were identified where a lack of local network capacity is restricting development and the 

adoption of Low Carbon Technologies.  A large portion of the network in East Devon has been assigned as a 

Green Recovery area (Figure 38).  

 

 
Figure 38:  WPD Green Recovery Areas in East Devon (WPD, 2020f); (National Grid, 2021) 

 

The type of network reinforcement proposed in the Green Recovery areas varies across the South West, South 

Wales and the Midlands. Options for reinforcement include new or upgraded substations (ranging from smaller 

11kV to larger 33kV and 132kV substations), as well as investment to upgrade the existing circuits (cables and 

overhead lines) connecting these substations to the wider electricity distribution network (WPD, 2020f). 

 

Page 104



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 80  
 

4 National and International Case Studies 

Chapter at a Glance 

This Chapter provides an overview of best practice clean growth development in national and international 
regions and the lessons to be learnt. It should be noted that nowhere has yet been able to transition to a fully 
zero carbon industry and that this will present one of the biggest challenges in clean growth.  

For the West of East Devon to maximise its clean growth development potential it is important to have an 

understanding of the existing best practices being undertaken across the world.  Direct comparisons are 

complex due to the differing natural and funding resources available, but we have identified the key themes 

inherent within these case studies that identify them as clean growth development front-runners.  

4.1 Oxfordshire iHub 

iHub is an innovation and research team that was launched by Oxfordshire County Council as a unit within its 

own right.  It uses partnerships to execute projects with commercial and academia partners that develop new 

sectors in the region in technology, transport and energy.  The purpose of the iHub was to develop links within 

business and academia, using its experience to drive support for funding applications, providing a “living lab” 

environment that enables Oxford and Oxfordshire to benefit directly, and faster, from cutting-edge innovation 

and advances. 

Since its inception, the unit has used these partnerships to generate inward investment through partnerships 

with the private sector and universities to generate £120 million of revenue in research and innovation funding 

which has enabled it to grow to a team of 24.  

The iHub team have used an internal initiative called the Public Space Innovation Network to partner with 

leading academic institutions (both in the UK and abroad) to enable and incentivise innovation based in 

Oxfordshire.  Locally, they have engaged international students at Oxford University and Oxford Brookes 

University to run summer challenges across planning, policy and modelling problems. Further afield they have 

provided collaboration, review and support in the execution of Masters at the Imperial College University, LUND 

University and the University of Birmingham to provide an insight into cutting edge developments in innovation. 

In addition, the iHub actively participates in hosting and attending workshops for university research across the 

UK.  

The Living Lab approach has been developed by iHub alongside their local LEP, industry, academia and Smart 

Oxford to provide a testbed for innovation for the UK’s Grand Challenges and enable sustainable and inclusive 

growth.    

4.2 Tees Valley Hydrogen Hub 

The Government has set out a vision and plan for a multi-modal hydrogen transport hub within the UK. Initially 

this will be developed in Tees Valley in the North East, but the hub is expected to be a blueprint for future hubs 

in other regions.   

The expectation is that both Phase 1 and 2 of this development could support 3,900 net direct jobs, generating 

an additional £370 million in GVA p.a. Substituting diesel use for the green hydrogen generated, an annual 

carbon saving of 170 kt per year, rising to 725 kt/yr in 2050 has been estimated.  

Page 105



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 81  
 

Tees Valley already produces 50% of the UK’s hydrogen, and is based in a region that has been identified for 

investment in the Government’s “Levelling up” agenda. Tees Valley also sits within the regions identified by the 

Government to be a “superplace” for renewable energy, hydrogen and CCUS, these “superplaces” have been 

chosen as they are historically industrial towns and regions.  

Desirable characteristics and facilities for a centralised electrolyser facility include: 

• COMAH (Control of Major Accident Hazards) upper tier status 

• Existing energy generation capability and access to utilities 

• Access to existing pipe networks 

• Lack of environmental constraints and supportive planning framework 

• Site security and safety  

• On site fire services  

• Existing transport connections via road, rail, sea  

• Adjacent space for expansion. 

The Masterplan sets out the facilities supporting the production, storage and distribution of green hydrogen to 
supply a network of refuelling stations and support operational trials of hydrogen powered vehicles across 
transport modes.  Included within this is a living lab - the Tees Valley Hub will include an R&D campus for which 
partnership with Higher Education/Academic institutions will be targeted to guarantee the skills and innovation 
required.  

The current time scale forecasts a fully operational hub from 2025, with operational trials taking place in 2025-
2030.  

4.3 Bristol City Leap 

The Bristol City Leap partnership looks to help Bristol become carbon neutral by 2030.  Whilst the programme is 

an initiative of Bristol City Council, they intend to deliver it by partnering with external organisations that will 

match up investment opportunities with their low-carbon technology roadmap.  

The council has produced a commercial prospectus setting out the £1 billion of investment required to meet 

their Net Zero target for 2030 and using this, a range of possible strategic partners have been chosen to execute 

the procurement and delivery of their action plan.  The platform for the roadmap, investment prospectus and 

creating partnerships has been developed by Bristol City Council, with the responsibility to execute the roadmap 

now resting with their delivery partners.  Each of the potential delivery partners is preparing a Business Plan 

setting out how they would meet the requirements of the roadmap which will be presented to Bristol City 

Council.  Bristol City Council will then select the delivery partner they wish to work with and will set appropriate 

KPIs that the delivery partner will be contracted to.  

Investment opportunities identified include: 

• Heat networks 

• Smart energy systems 

• Domestic energy efficiency 

• Commercial energy efficiency 

• Renewable energy 

• Monitoring, dissemination and evaluation 

• Transport 

Page 106



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 82  
 

• Hydrogen 

• Marine energy 

The city has already partnered with the University of Bristol in a Joint Venture called Bristol is Open (BiO), to 

provide a vehicle for innovation in experimental smart technologies to address urban challenges such as 

mobility, energy efficiency and meeting the care needs of an ageing population.  All data generated by BiO is 

shared anonymously and on an open platform to encourage digital innovation that will support their Smart City. 

The programme has also utilised private finance to provide large scale wind turbines to generate 5 MW of wind 

power for the city.  

4.4 Denmark 

As a country, Denmark has increased its energy generation by wind power to 55% of domestic electricity 

generated in 2019 (Danish Energy Agency, n.d.).  Their investment in commercial wind turbines dates back to 

the 1970s when a significant subsidy (30%) on capital costs was provided to stimulate the market.  Further to 

this, a significant driver for their investment in wind power was a 1980s law passed against nuclear stations 

which limited their alternative sources of renewable energy.  The capital cost subsidies for wind power 

continued to be provided, albeit dropping to 20% in the 1980s, but still represented more than 50% of the 

funding provided to renewable energy sources in total.  

Further to this, Denmark has used tax incentives to encourage families to generate their own electricity, this 

gave rise to wind turbine cooperatives in which they could purchase shares in rather than purchase their own 

turbine outright.  In 2004, over 150,000 families owned, or had shares in, wind turbines (Scandinavica.com, 

2004) – from a national population of just 5.8 million (2.5%).  An example is the Middelgrunden Wind farm 

which had faced local opposition until the developers provided the opportunity for local residents to invest and 

become a partner in the windfarm.  Inspired by this and similar farms, Denmark has now passed a law requiring 

new wind-farms to be at least 20% community-owned (Green Economy Coalition, 2017). 

As a result of these initiatives, Denmark’s early adoption of wind power has made it a powerhouse in the wind 

turbine industry.  Danish companies accounted for 38% of the world turbine market in 2003 (Scandinavica.com, 

2004).  This early adoption, and sustained funding, has enabled Denmark to capture and expand their market 

share in this valuable industry.  Through this investment, consumers in Demark benefit from energy prices that 

are consistent with the wider European market, whilst being sourced from far cleaner resources.  

Other than a focused intent, Denmark had no inherent advantages to capturing this market. It has relatively 

modest wind speeds, in the range of 4.9-5.6 m/s (comparatively Exeter has an average wind speed range of 4.4 

– 6.9 m/s).  Wind farms are spread across offshore, nearshore and onshore wind farms. At times of excess 

power, the energy is exported to neighbouring countries.  

In addition to their sustained investment in wind power, Denmark has gained a reputation for green living. 

Copenhagen was the winner of the 2014 European Green Capital, with an ambition to be the first carbon-

neutral capital by 2025.  In Copenhagen, 36% of commuters, and 55% of Copenhageners cycle to work or 

school.  A vast district heating systems serves 98% of households, and 90% of building waste is reused.  As part 

of their 2025 carbon-neutral target, they have set out clear, measurable goals across energy consumption, 

energy production, water consumption, green mobility and the city administration, including the carbon-

neutrality of their district heating network (Miljøforvaltningen, 2012).  

Page 107



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 83  
 

The city target to be Net Zero by 2025 has generated significant attention worldwide and has resulted in 

innovation and bold infrastructure projects to meet their target.  On the city outskirts, Amager Bakke is an 

incinerator power station, utilising non-recyclable waste, it has produced enough electricity to power c.30,000 

homes a year.  Brownfield sites such as Refshaleøen have been revitalised through re-purposed shipping 

containers turned into start-up communities, in this case for restaurant and fast-food providers, as well as low-

cost offices and living accommodation.  With clear targets and a roadmap to meet their ambition, CO₂ emissions 

in the city have reduced by 42% since 2005 alongside a 25% growth in economy, putting them in line to meet 

their target (Inside Copenhagen’s race to be the first carbon-neutral city, 2019).  

4.5 Boston Greentown Labs 

Boston Greentown labs stemmed from the needs of four cleantech start-up companies in 2011 to find lab space 

to work in. Their collaborative working warehouse germinated innovation, resource sharing and genuine 

technical breakthroughs due to the proximity of their working environment and the ability to share skills and 

knowledge freely.  In addition to this, inward investors would often be brought to the labs to demonstrate the 

additional skills, support and innovation environment that the companies were working in.  This innovation has 

been driven by a culture of networks, promoting collaboration and the free flow of information, people and 

resources between enterprises.  Further to this, the Greentown Labs provide their start-ups with legal, IT, 

marketing and sales support, as well as coveted networking opportunities with corporation and industry 

investors.  

As the number of companies interested in joining that environment grew, so did the requirement for space, and 

now the labs inhabit a 100,000 square-foot campus with an array of resources and the ability to house more 

than 100 climate-tech start-ups.  The campus is set out in a way that suggests it is one large tech company 

rather than a network of start-ups and offices, providing the cohesive ecosystem required to foster these start-

ups and provide reassurance to investors, which is also demonstrated by the consistent reinvestment of 

Greentown Labs’ success into supporting start-ups.    

More generally, Boston provides a fertile environment for the students at Massachusetts Institute of 

Technology (MIT) and Harvard University through enhanced tax breaks beyond the federal system for R&D in 

the state.  It has also provided additional funding to several university accelerator programmes to drive 

increased start up activity in the city, attracting venture capital funding.  

In 2016 Boston ranked third in venture capital investments (The Global Cities Where Tech Venture Capital Is 

Concentrated, 2016).  The increased density of start-up companies has attracted venture capital investment and 

has now reached a critical mass that perpetuates Boston as a prime location for both start-ups and investment.   

4.6 Vauban, Freiburg, Germany 

A district of Freiburg, Vauban was built as a sustainable model district on the grounds of a disused military base. 

The ethos of the district was to have a mass market appeal to residents and that the planning of the district 

would lead residents to make more sustainable choices.  

The houses were all designed to have minimal energy consumption, and where heating is required, it is 

generated by CHP.  Solar power is built into domestic homes, resulting in a positive energy balance which is 

then sold back to the grid, generating income for the residents.  The district has a tramway to the city centre 

and in 2009 an estimated 70% of residents did not own a car, despite 81% of them having previously owned 

one.  Residential streets are car free, with pick-ups and deliveries allowed.  Car owners must purchase a car 

space in one of the district car parks on the periphery.  

Page 108



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 84  
 

“Filtered permeability” has been used in the street design to reduce car use (cul-de-sacs and crescents), with 

connections for pedestrians and bike paths between them.  This model of planning is referred to as the Fused 

Grid. 

The development has not all been plain sailing however, and there are key learnings that we can take from 

Vauban to support clean growth development.  The popularity, and therefore cost of purchasing in the district 

has given rise to concern that there is an insufficient social mix of residents and that more could be done to 

promote social and affordable housing (Is this the greenest city in the world?, 2008).  In addition, anecdotal 

evidence suggests that the high cost of car ownership on the development has resulted in vehicles being kept in 

nearby villages, this resulting avoidance behaviour therefore compounds congestion in other locations. (Is this 

the greenest city in the world?, 2008). 

4.7 Mission Bay, San Francisco 

Mission Bay is a downtown neighbourhood in San Francisco with a 30-year Masterplan.  Started in 1998, it was 

jettisoned into redevelopment from a disused rail yard and supported by the establishment of a biotech campus 

by the University of California, San Francisco (UCSF).  A university Medical Centre has further transformed 

clinical practice and research in the area, continuing to emphasise the biotechnology strengths of the emerging 

district.  

Property in the district has initially focused on luxury condominiums, and high-end restaurants to cater to the 

dynamic and fast paced pharmaceutical, biotech and venture capital firms that have all migrated to the area, 

however, the masterplan will ensure that this is followed up with a significant level of affordable housing and 

flexible commercial space.  The whole development is interwoven with more than 49 acres of park and 

recreational facilities and will ultimately have accommodation for 11,000 new residents, and will generate 

30,000 jobs in biotech, healthcare, technology and education (Mission Bay Development Group, n.d.).  

The $700 million invested by the public sector has been leveraged to generate >$9 billion in private investment 

and attracted a range of commercial sectors such as retail headquarters, a seed accelerator for digital start-ups 

and pharmaceutical companies. 

However, whilst Mission Bay provides a clear demonstration of growth through partnership with Higher 

Education and private investment, the development has been dogged by a voluntary adoption of green building 

standards which have not been universally adopted by developers, attracting criticism from the wider 

community (Greening Mission Bay, 2005).  

4.8 Malmö 

Malmö in Sweden aims to be carbon neutral by 2025 and run 100% of municipal operations on renewable 

energy by 2030.  E.ON Energy have been working with Malmö since 2001 and in 2010 signed up to be part of 

the Hyllie project, a climate smart district in Öresund.  

The Hyllie project is a testbed of innovation in climate-smart urban development.  Using the Living Lab 

environment, the lessons learned here can be scaled up and applied to other municipalities.  Interactive 

applications and smart visuals are directed at residents to reduce and optimise their energy consumption.  Their 

energy management system controls the smart grid, as well as the storage and distribution of heat, cooling and 

electricity for all infrastructure (Eon Energy, n.d.).  The outcome of this Smart district is that it met the 2030 

environmental targets of Malmö by 2020.  

Page 109



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 85  
 

The Hyllie project has achieved this through public funding and asset-backed funding such as leasing, supported 

by the climate agreement and partnership of the city with E.ON and VA SYD (the regional water and sewer 

organisation).  This climate agreement sets out how the three parties will jointly be responsible for investing and 

developing the foundations of Hyllie to be a climate-smart city district.     

Further to the digitisation plans for Hyllie, Malmö plans a combined reduction in energy usage, locally generated 

renewable energy and a significant development of rail and electrically driven public transport incorporating an 

extended network of cycle lanes.  

Sweden has incorporated the UN’s Sustainable Development Goals into its national policy, and Malmö has 

incorporated 7 of these goals into its own targets. 

Sege Park in the north of Malmö has also been allocated as a residential area that will be a testbed for 

sustainable solutions.  Climate-smart buildings will completement the existing buildings that will be retrofitted 

to improve their appeal and efficiency.  Solar panels will be fitted throughout to generate renewable energy 

through a smart electricity grid, and car and bicycle sharing facilities will be made available to residents.  

Augustenborg Eco-City was the winner of the 2010 World Habitat Award for innovative and sustainable housing 

solutions.  The district maximised green roofs throughout and is aiming for a 90% recycling rate.  The use of 

open stormwater channels and ponds have stopped flooding in the area.  

4.9 Scotland 

Scotland has set out an ambitious Net Zero emissions target for all greenhouse gases by 2045, championed by a 

Clean Growth Leadership Group, bringing together business, industry, academia and the public sector to 

explore how Scotland can deliver clean growth.  The first phase of this council has been the development of a 

Green Recovery plan from COVID-19.  The second phase of this work is a Manifesto for clean growth, identifying 

7 key opportunities for Clean Growth, and 21 priority actions to maximise those opportunities.  

To fast track their clean growth ambitions, the country has partnered with commercial industries to trial 

sustainable technology and energy innovations.  An example of this is SGN who have secured funding to create 

a world-first hydrogen-to-homes network in Levenmouth.  This 300 home development will be a pioneer to test 

whether the domestic roll out of hydrogen for heating could be scalable. Further to this, Scotland has developed 

an EV charging hub at Falkirk Stadium with capacity for 26 vehicles, generating nearly a third of its own 

electricity requirements through solar panels.  

In consortium with the 2Zero project at Exeter Airport, Loganair is currently working with aviation researchers 

on the Future Flight programme to design, build and fit an electric or hybrid propulsion engine to its island 

planes for short Scottish routes.  Scotland is also proposing a Reskilling and Upskilling Fund to support 

employers in providing their employees with the skills required in a Low-Carbon economy.  

Consistent with our other case study cities, they have created a Green Investment Portfolio with ten market-

ready projects that are seeking private capital, these include hydrogen innovation, plastic recycling and a deep-

water port.  

In 2019, they produced 90% of their electricity power requirement from renewable sources, with a target of 

100% by 2020 which has yet to be confirmed, but with additional wind farms under construction they look set 

to meet that target (Enough renewables to meet 90% Scottish electricity demand, 2020). 

Page 110



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 86  
 

4.10 Ireland 

Ireland boasts 9 of the world’s top 10 software firms, nine of the top 10 US technology firms and all top 10 

“born on the internet” companies having chosen to locate there.  To maintain this market dominance, 

Technology Ireland has identified four key pillars, Talent, Competitiveness, Data protection and Taxation.  

It recognises that the home education sector cannot meet demand, and therefore the need to facilitate 

immigration is high, both through a clear visa system and also through meeting demand issues on housing and 

utilities infrastructure.  Business tax and R&D taxation benefits provide clear incentives however, Ireland’s 

membership of the EU risks future compromise to this benefit. 

4.11 UK Highlights 

Newbury in Berkshire is a small market town that has 15 times the average level of digital tech companies 

compared to the wider UK. (These are the UK tech hubs that will thrive after the pandemic, 2021) The two 

largest employers, Micro Focus and Vodafone have supported a surge in tech business in this region. Vodafone 

employs so many people in the local area that it provides a free shuttle services to and from its main campus, a 

service also employed by Astrazeneca in Macclesfield, Cheshire to reduce car reliance and improve accessibility.    

A reliance on cars has been identified by the National Innovation Centre for Rural Enterprise as a specific 

limiting factor for business growth in Rural environments (What is the contribution of rural Enterprise in 

Levelling Up and how can this be further enabled?, 2021).  In addition to this, supporting staff development and 

skills is a long-standing challenge, but one that can improve job choices and increased job productivity, 

something that East Devon has an opportunity to improve.  The DfT Wheels to Work scheme is cited as a 

specific initiative for improving accessibility, and Devon County Council has initiated a scheme in the South West 

that could be utilised or built upon in East Devon.  Key recommended actions from NICRE to maximise Rural 

Enterprise include:  

• Strengthening evidence capabilities and setting out the diversity of rural enterprise and its contribution 

to city and town economies, international links, natural capital and the choice and quality of work 

• Identifying cross-boundary linkages with neighbouring strategies given particular significance to rural 

economies 

• Elaborating mechanisms for local co-delivery with rural stakeholders and engagement of rural micro 

and small businesses in informing strategic objectives and the design from the bottom up of more 

flexible and appropriate programmes and supports to meet their needs 

• Connecting strategic and society-wide challenges with tangible local opportunities for their rural areas 

• Outlining investment criteria and evaluation metrics for defining rural outcomes and measuring success 

Good examples of cutting-edge clusters in rural settings across the country that are globally respected include 

Harwell Science and Innovation Campus in south Oxfordshire; Sci Tech Daresbury in north Cheshire; Wales Food 

Tech Centre in Llangefni, Anglesey; Edinburgh Technopole in Bush Estate, Midlothian [Life Sciences]; high 

performance vehicle engineering business cluster around Silverstone and Brackley, Northamptonshire; and 

NETPark, Sedgefield [nano-tech, photonic, x-ray imagery and similar science firms]).  

Page 111



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 87  
 

The Wales Food Tech Centre is a comparable example of a cluster built in a rural, semi-coastal environment, not 

dissimilar to East Devon.  The Food Tech Centre provides Training Courses, Facilities such as kitchens and 

processing halls, testimonials for commercial products, and services including product testing, development and 

accreditation.  They also provide an open directory on their website for all businesses that manufacture food 

and drink in Wales to maximise networking and connectivity.   

Sci Tech Daresbury provides a travelhub on their website, identifying the offers and travel options for their 

campus community, highlighting their free cycle maintenance and courses and similar incentives as alternatives 

to the car.  Other incentives include cash incentives for IP protection and prototyping and limited free hours of 

technical expertise and facility use.  

 

4.12 Summary 

These case studies set out developments, cities and countries all in different stages of achieving their target of 

clean growth development.  They also benefit from a differing array of resources, funding and national support. 

However, there are a number of themes and attributes that are common between them and provide insight 

into areas East Devon may wish to enhance to strengthen the environment for clean growth. 

A Clear, Consistent Message   

The ambitions of the area or entity need to permeate throughout its policies and stakeholder engagement. Such 

as the actions of Denmark to firmly support wind power for renewable energy from the 70s, and continuing to 

do so into the 21st century, or the wider range of innovation at Oxfordshire’s iHub that specifically cultivates a 

Smarter city.  The district of Vauban has galvanised its inhabitants to continue that message beyond the initial 

development’s ethos through clear guidelines and demonstrable positive outcomes.  

East Devon needs to think carefully about what its unique proposition will be and how it will ensure that this 

message is consistently supported by stakeholders and local business throughout the West of East Devon.  

Bold Targets 

Bristol, Malmö, Copenhagen and Scotland have all set themselves bold and ambitious targets.  As yet, it is 

unclear whether all of these targets will be met, but the indicators are positive, and a stretching target has 

pushed them into embracing innovative and new solutions in order to meet their ambitions.  Scotland appears 

to be on track to meet their renewable energy targets and Copenhagen has significantly reduced its CO₂ 

emissions in line with its ambitions.  The Hyllie project in Malmö has used a binding agreement with commercial 

enterprises to share the responsibility of their target, and Bristol is using private sector delivery partners to 

execute their roadmap.  These commercially-based contracts will provide an added incentive to meet targets 

and ambitions.  

The learnings from these case studies are that by setting a bold target, these areas have then been required to 

set out a roadmap for success and find innovative and new ways to achieve outcomes that have not yet been 

demonstrated worldwide.  East Devon can learn from these examples to set an ambitious target that it can use 

to galvanise transformation.  

Higher Education Specialisms and Accelerators       

Page 112



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 88  
 

Oxfordshire iHub, the Tees Valley Hydrogen Hub, Bristol City Leap and Mission Bay have all excelled in building 

strong relationships with universities; many using this relationship to create “Living Lab” opportunities in their 

areas and to capitalise on the research capabilities of the universities.  

Many of the universities in these regions have used the collaborative opportunities to fast track their innovation 

and research into spin-out companies.  Whilst the Exeter Science Park provides a forum for this opportunity, 

East Devon and Exeter University can do more to maximise the specialisms of both the region and the university 

to create commercial opportunities.   

A Clear Governance Structure 

Responsibility for instigating Net Zero targets and supporting strategies continues to be driven by Government.  

In many of these case studies, it is the local Government that has taken up the mantel for driving clean growth 

and has then created partnerships with industry and academia to present solutions.  Bristol City Council has 

prepared the roadmap and sourced delivery partners for its Net Zero Strategy, using Bristol University to 

support its innovations and drive to be a smart city.  Malmö has set the target for Net Zero whilst contracting 

commercial companies to ensure the investment of the industries required to help them meet their target.  

East Devon has strong relationships with its partners and stakeholders who are invested in the clean growth 

development of the region.  It has an opportunity to use this strength to set out a clear vision that it can use to 

galvanise support and further investment in meeting its clean growth objectives.    

Funding Innovation to Commercialisation  

Many of the case studies have employed researchers and innovative SMEs to provide solutions to local 

challenges.  Oxfordshire iHub has partnered with over 20 SMEs to generate cutting edge solutions. 

Where these areas are then able to incorporate research ideas into commercial start-ups, such as the Boston 

Greentown labs, not only is the local area able to benefit from the innovation created, but the wider economy is 

fast-tracked.  

Whilst East Devon is providing space in the enterprise zones to facilitate this growth, the region can do more to 

accelerate scale-ups, promoting a culture of collaboration and exchange, and providing better conditions for 

commercialisation and rapid growth. 

A Funding Strategy 

The execution of all ambitious targets requires funding to ensure deliverability.  Whether it is the decades long 

investment of Denmark into Wind Power, or the project-based investment packages that Scotland and Bristol 

have employed, each has a clear strategy for funding that is consistently replicated across their programme.  

These case studies demonstrate a range of funding strategies across private, public and community investment.  

East Devon needs to consider the portfolio of challenges and opportunities ahead of it to maximise clean 

growth and the funding strategy required to support its ambitious targets.  

Seed Projects  

Page 113



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 89  
 

Promoting an ambitious target alongside a series of totemic innovation innovations can cultivate momentum 

that ultimately becomes self-fulfilling and drives forward progress.  Keystone or totemic projects provide a 

magnetic platform for knowledge, skills and investment, help mobilise action, demonstrate early successes to 

stakeholders and help disseminate the message to other interested parties.   

 

Page 114



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 90  
 

5 Current Assets 

Chapter at a Glance 

This chapter provides a summary of the key existing and under construction assets in the West of East Devon. 

 

 
Figure 39: Assets within the West of East Devon 

The West of East Devon is a place of exceptional assets - a special combination of natural capital, skilled 

innovators, ambitious local partnerships, energy resources, and ample space for business growth.  It is a natural 

“gateway” linking Exeter and East Devon to the world through national and international connectivity.  Already 

an established focal point for growth, the West of East Devon is home to a growing number of high-performing, 

knowledge-intensive businesses, employment sites and new housing.   

The West of East Devon has a number of valuable commercial, connectivity and green infrastructure assets.  

Some of these assets are well established (such as Exeter Airport and the University of Exeter), whilst others 

provide new opportunities for economic expansion (such as Airpark, Skypark and Exeter Logistics Park).  The 

recently published Clyst Valley Regional Park masterplan, which consolidates a number of existing green spaces, 

highlights the importance and value of green infrastructure immediately alongside cutting edge commercial and 

residential developments. In doing so, the area is able to leverage its reputation of being a desirable place to 

live, whilst showcasing its economic potential through strategically located, well connected commercial assets. 

It is also recognised that the existing businesses and skilled people in the West of East Devon represent two of 

its greatest assets, and it is expected that the assets reviewed in this section will support the retention of those 

businesses and skills.  

Page 115



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 91  
 

West of East Devon’s Unique Assets  

Unique Synergy The area’s uniqueness stems from having synergistic assets and 
capabilities within close proximity including natural resources, 
expertise in clean technology and opportune test sites.  

High-Growth Sub-region The area including Exeter and the West of East Devon is one of 
the fastest growing sub-regions in the country.  This strong spatial 
connection presents significant opportunity. 

Skills provision The University of Exeter, Exeter College and a range of other skills 
providers have a strong track-record of delivering integrated skills 
pathways and developing programmes to support industry need.  

Natural Assets The Clyst Valley Regional Park, wider landscape and green space 
support an exceptional quality-of-life offer, while renewable 
resources provide significant decarbonisation opportunities.  

Human Capital Considerable expertise exists within the region including within 
anchor institutions such as the University and Met Office, highly-
innovative businesses and local demonstrators and developments 

Strong Partnerships Regional partners have a strong legacy of collaboration, appetite 
for innovation and track-record for delivery.  This forward-looking 
spirit is exemplified by early leadership in heat networks.  

 

The key developing and existing assets have been explored further below. 

Page 116



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 92  
 

5.1 Exeter Airport 

5.1.1 Location 

 
Figure 40: Map of West of East Devon Assets and Exeter Airport  

Exeter Airport is located at the heart of the West of East Devon, running parallel to the A30, just south of 

Cranbrook. 

5.1.2 Purpose and Benefits to the Area 

Exeter Airport provides domestic and international connectivity for business and leisure passengers, as well as 

freight.  The airport is operated by Regional & City Airports (RCA) part of Rigby Group plc, one of the UK’s fastest 

growing private businesses with a turnover of £3.2bn and around 8,000 employees globally.  RCA owns and 

operates a number of regional airports across the UK and acquired Exeter Airport in 2013 with ambitions to 

grow and diversify its offer.  RCA’s vision is to help smaller regional airports to prosper through effective 

management and collaboration, enabling them to benefit from the economies of scale and sharing of best 

practice traditionally enjoyed by larger hub airports. 

In its first five years of ownership, RCA invested £18m in Exeter Airport, with a resurfaced 1.3-mile runway, 

improved terminal and executive lounge, and new hangars.  The group is investing a further £14m over the next 

five years, which will include additional improvements to the terminal and increased car park capacity. 

In that time, Exeter Airport has achieved 22.5% passenger growth, following the introduction of new Ryanair 

and TUI routes, and once again tipped 1 million passengers in 2019.  The airport has routes to more than 40 

destinations in the UK and Europe, including major international hubs for international onward connectivity, like 

Paris, Amsterdam, Manchester and Dublin, allowing people to connect to a huge range of destinations from 

their local airport. 

Page 117



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 93  
 

Exeter Airport and its owners play a key role in promoting regional connectivity and access to national and 

international markets, with its ‘Exeter Connects’ initiative bringing together key senior regional stakeholders. 

The airport supports a significant number of local jobs and acts as a critical transport and Royal Mail hub for 

regional businesses. 

The introduction of flights to London City Airport in 2014 has helped catalyse the business travel market, 

boosted by Exeter Connects network, which enhances connectivity and build relationships with other regions 

through trade missions. 

The airport also benefits from maintenance hangers which until March 2020 were occupied by Flybe, but 

following Flybe entering administration, these have now been leased to Dublin Aerospace Group who will be 

providing maintenance and overhaul services to a number of airlines and aircraft types.  

RCA is committed to delivering regional connectivity for the long term and recognises that the decarbonisation 

of the aviation sector is critical to realising that objective.  As such it is looking to play an active role in 

facilitating the research and development of new technologies.  An example of this is their participation as a 

project partner in the 2ZERO programme which is looking to demonstrate the use of hybrid-electric aircraft on 

regional routes in the South West of the UK. 

5.1.3 Current State of Development 

The airport is fully operational and has experienced significant investment since RCA acquired it in 2013, with 

additional upgrades planned for the next five years.  The Airport provides a strong opportunity to realise its 

ambition to be a leader in sustainable aviation, supported by the work of the Net Zero Sustainable Aviation 

Board in the South West.  

Page 118



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 94  
 

5.2 Enterprise Zone 

5.2.1 Location 

 
Figure 41: Map of West of East Devon Assets and the Exeter Enterprise Zone 

The Exeter and East Devon Enterprise Zone consists of four sites in the West of East Devon – Skypark, Exeter 

Science Park, Cranbrook Town Centre and Exeter Airport Business Park Expansion (Airpark).  

5.2.2 Purpose and Benefits to the Area 

Enterprise Zones are designated areas across England that provide tax breaks and simplified planning for 

businesses operating in the zone. 

The Zone provides a range of incentives to attract and support businesses that are setting up or growing, 

including up to five year business rate reduction funded by Government and simplified planning procedures. 

Additional business rates generated from within the Zone will also be reinvested locally to further support 

economic growth.  This will help to improve the future success of the zone and the wider area and will be 

achieved through the local authorities and key stakeholders working alongside partners such as the Heart of the 

South West LEP. 

As well as the business rate and planning incentives, the Zone benefits from excellent connectivity with 

domestic and international markets with strong road (M5/A30), rail (London Waterloo) and air links.  Located on 

the doorstep of Exeter Airport, the Zone is within easy reach of major UK and European cities. 

The Zone offers the perfect location for business to thrive in contemporary business premises suiting a variety 

of needs, from incubator space to flagship office space alongside new homes at Cranbrook. 

Page 119



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 95  
 

5.2.3 Current State of Development 

Substantial investment has already been made into key infrastructure from superfast broadband to a new 

railway station.  Each of the four sites are at varying levels of development and are discussed individually in 

subsequent sections. 

5.3 Exeter Science Park 

5.3.1 Location 

 
Figure 42: Map of West of East Devon Assets and Exeter Science Park 

Exeter Science Park is located at the western border of East Devon, just outside of Exeter.  Nestled in the elbow 

of the M5 and A30, as well as a stone’s throw from Exeter Airport, the Park has excellent transport links whilst 

maintaining a rural outlook. 

5.3.2 Purpose and Benefits to the Area 

Exeter Science Park is the South West’s centre of activity for businesses in science, technology, engineering, 

maths and medicine (STEMM).  The Park provides incubation and grow-on space, as well as support for 

innovative businesses specialising in these areas.  Businesses at Exeter Science Park benefit from: 

• High quality office and laboratory space 

• Intensive business support 

• Conference facilities 

• Collaboration opportunities 

• Open innovation events 

Page 120



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 96  
 

• Resilient high bandwidth internet 

• Onsite café, open to tenants and the public 

• Bookable conference space and meeting rooms 

• Business and social activities 

 

The Park is split into a number of ‘campuses’ to encourage a concentration of similar businesses. In doing so, it 

is hoped that ideas, knowledge and innovation will cross pollinate.  

5.3.3 Current State of Development 

The 25 hectare park is split into six campus style clusters (A to F). The majority of cluster A and all of cluster B 

are currently built and operational.  These buildings provide capacity for 700 people, with plans to expand this 

to a capacity of more than 3,500 people by 2035 following the completion of the remaining clusters.  There are 

currently around 500 people employed by the tenant businesses at the park. 

Outline planning permission is already in place for the full 822,000 sq ft development, where R&D, office and 

industrial space for tenants will be built alongside conference, hotel and retail facilities, as well as a café, crèche 

and health and fitness space. 

The building of the Science Park Centre has been made possible with shareholder equity from Devon County 

Council, East Devon District Council, Exeter City Council, the University of Exeter, as well as the Heart of the 

South West Local Enterprise Partnership (HotSW LEP) which committed a £4.5m loan from the Growing Places 

Fund and a £1 million grant from the Regional Growth Fund. 

Exeter Science Park’s Grow-on Buildings are partly funded by £4.5m from the HotSW LEP Growth Deal Funding.  

The HotSW LEP has also provided £2.5m local Government funding towards the Environmental Futures Campus 

and £5.5m towards the Open Innovation Building, which will bring forward 20,000 sq ft of space for growing 

small and medium sized enterprises. 

The Ada Lovelace Building is partly funded by £5.5 million from the Heart of the South West Local Enterprise 

Partnership’s Growth Deal Funding.  East Devon District Council’s Cabinet has also invested £1.1m in the 

development of the building in conjunction with Devon County Council as part of the Exeter and East Devon 

Enterprise Zone programme. 

 

Page 121



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 97  
 

5.4 Skypark 

5.4.1 Location 

  
Figure 43: Map of West of East Devon Assets and Skypark 

Skypark is located along the Northern perimeter of Exeter Airport, just south of Cranbrook. 

5.4.2 Purpose and Benefits to the Area 

Skypark aims to be the South West’s most significant Business Park development combining office, industrial 

and distribution space with hotel, local facilities and a biomass and gas combined heat and power plant in a 

landscaped environment of over 100 acres.  

Over the next 20 years, this £210 million development is predicted to create up to 6,500 new jobs with a 

significant positive impact on the local economy. 

Located along the northern perimeter of Exeter Airport, Skypark is a partnership between the UK’s leading 

regeneration specialist, St. Modwen, and Devon County Council and delivers state of the art office and industrial 

space, with immediate road, rail and air transport links. 

The vision for the site is to realise the full economic potential of Exeter and East Devon as a major regional 

centre and to provide a range of employment opportunities.  Complete with its own state-of-the-art district 

heating system providing carbon emission reductions, Skypark will become a self-sufficient new urban business 

community with improved existing and new local facilities. 

Page 122



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 98  
 

5.4.3 Current State of Development 

The construction of the park is being completed to meet the specific commercial or office occupier needs on a 

design and build basis.  Outline planning permission currently consists of 15 industrial units and 24 office blocks, 

along with ancillary buildings, a hotel and pub.  Four of these buildings have been completed, with occupiers 

including DPD, LiveWest, Troy (UK) and the South West Ambulance Service.  The E.ON energy centre on the 

eastern boundary is also complete which services the Cranbrook district heat network. 

5.5 Airpark 

5.5.1 Location 

 
Figure 44: Map of West of East Devon Assets and Airpark 

Airpark is an expansion area of the Exeter Airport Business Park.  This designated land sits to the south east of 

the airport, immediately opposite the Future Skills Centre. 

5.5.2 Purpose and Benefits to the Area 

Airpark represents one of the four sites that make up the Exeter and East Devon Enterprise Zone.  This site 

consists of undeveloped land to the east of the Exeter Airport terminal and immediately opposite the Future 

Skills Centre.  

Due to its close proximity to the airport and A30/M5 it provides a prime location for commercial development, 

with reduced business rates and planning hurdles provided by the Enterprise Zone. 

Page 123



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 99  
 

5.5.3 Current State of Development 

The site, along with the Future Skills Centre and the Hampton by Hilton hotel, is accessed via Long Lane.  This 

road is currently undergoing £3.7 million of improvements to widen the road and provide a footway. Once 

complete, this will unlock the potential of this site to be developed and ultimately create 1,000 jobs. 

5.6 Exeter Logistics Park 

5.6.1 Location 

 
Figure 45: Map of West of East Devon Assets and Exeter Logistics Park 

Exeter Logistics Park is located immediately opposite Skypark, just north of Exeter Airport and just south of the 

Waterloo railway line. 

Exeter Logistics Park benefits from major improvements to nearby Junction 29 of the M5 motorway and the 

construction of the Clyst Honiton bypass, providing access to Exeter International Airport and opening a corridor 

linking the Science Park, Skypark and Cranbrook as a prime opportunity for economic growth. 

5.6.2 Purpose and Benefits to the Area 

The park provides a strategic location for purpose built commercial logistics buildings and associated 

infrastructure.  The park has already attracted significant investment with Lidl constructing a 500,000 sq ft 

temperature controlled Regional Distribution Centre, as well as a 90,000 sq ft purpose built distribution centre 

being constructed for Amazon. 

Local infrastructure is supporting the decarbonisation of these logistics fleets, most notably with Amazon 

installing more than 400 electric charging points to support the electrification of its delivery fleet. 

Page 124



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 100  
 

The specific location of the park was chosen as it provides a unique opportunity to have direct rail, air and road 

links.  As such it offers the ability to act as a strategic hub for multimodal logistics.  

5.6.3 Current State of Development 

The Lidl and Amazon distribution centres are fully constructed and operational.  There is additional land 

available for development with planning permission submitted and construction has started on two further 

units totalling 83,500 sq ft.  

5.7 Future Skills Centre 

5.7.1 Location 

 
Figure 46: Map of West of East Devon Assets and the Future Skills Centre 

The Future Skills Centre is located to the east of Exeter Airport, immediately opposite Airpark and alongside the 

Hampton by Hilton hotel. 

5.7.2 Purpose and Benefits to the Area 

The building was formerly the Flybe Training Academy.  It was purchased by Devon County Council in 2020 and 

let on a long lease to Exeter College to offer training and education opportunities from the building, providing 

learners of all ages skills and qualifications fit for the economy of the future. 

The Centre, which was vacant following Flybe entering administration in March 2020, now provides the region 

with a specialist facility for the delivery of training for future-facing high-tech jobs in aerospace engineering, 

sustainable construction, telecoms and clean energy. 

Page 125



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 101  
 

Exeter College had previously been the chosen academic partner of the Flybe Training Academy and since 2007 

had delivered a range of programmes, including non-aerospace courses, from the building.  The Future Skills 

Centre now offers inspirational opportunities for the region’s young people, while also providing adult learners 

the chance to upskill or retrain for a new career, as well as bookable space for training, meetings, and events. 

5.7.3 Current State of Development 

The College has secured a £1 million grant from the Government’s Getting Building Fund to enhance, transform 

and equip the Future Skills Centre to be a nationally significant hub for training and education.  This continues 

the College’s reputation of creating a line-of-sight to industry in their offer, ensuring that students learn in up-

to-date facilities that prepare students for the jobs of today and tomorrow.   

5.8 University of Exeter 

5.8.1 Location 

 
Figure 47: Map of West  of East Devon Assets and the University of Exeter 

The two main campuses are in Exeter (Streatham & St Luke’s), but the University provides benefits throughout 

the neighbouring districts. 

5.8.2 Purpose and Benefits to the Area 

Exeter University is a member of the Russell Group, delivering world leading teaching and research.  The 

University has over 25,000 students from 130 countries and over 125,000 alumni in 183 countries providing the 

academic community of staff, students and visiting researchers with a truly global experience and a diverse, 

inclusive environment.  

Page 126



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 102  
 

The University prides itself on its research capabilities, with recent breakthroughs including the use of drone 

surveys and computer modelling to plot extreme arctic erosion, improving diagnosis and treatment for cancer 

and diabetes (for which they were awarded a prestigious Queen’s Anniversary Prize) and developing a 7-point 

plan to battle the climate emergency via economic reform.  The University’s scientists and clinicians are also 

part of a £20 million investment to battle the spread of coronavirus, utilising the University’s state-of-the-art 

equipment to sequence the virus from Devon patients to help combat the disease. 

The University has excellent teaching, research and laboratory facilities for science, technology, engineering, 

mathematics and medicine, as well as humanities and science.  These include the Living Systems Institute and 

Digital Humanities Lab at the Exeter Streatham Campus, and the Research, Innovation, Learning and 

Development Centre (RILD) at the Royal Devon and Exeter Hospital. The University also has a physical presence 

in East Devon via The Environmental Futures & Big Data Impact Lab, based at the Exeter Science Park. 

A report commissioned by the University in 2017 found that for the preceding academic year the University of 

Exeter generated £661.7 million in output in Devon with its activities supporting 6,505 FTE jobs and making a 

contribution to local GVA of £378.3 million (equivalent to nearly 1.6% of Devon GVA).  Whilst a significant 

proportion of these economic benefits will be delivered to Exeter, the surrounding districts will also benefit. 

With the University’s research capabilities, specifically around the environment, climate change and data 

science, businesses within East Devon who are looking to innovate in this area have an opportunity to leverage 

off this valuable asset.  

5.9 Clyst Valley Regional Park 

5.9.1 Location 

 
Figure 48: Map of West of East Devon Assets and the Clyst Valley Regional Park 

Page 127



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 103  
 

The Clyst Valley Regional Park covers 2,338 hectares of green space in the north-west of East Devon. 

5.9.2 Purpose and Benefits to the Area 

The Regional Park is a large protected greenspace and is protected from development through Strategy 10 in 

East Devon District Council’s Local Plan.  The area of the Regional Park is presently 2,338 hectares, which is 

roughly half the size of Exeter.  As well as protecting these spaces, the concept of the Clyst Valley Regional Park 

is to link a number of existing greenspaces with greenways.  There is no intention that the whole of the Regional 

Park will become accessible to the public, as most of it is in private ownership.  However, 762 hectares is 

currently accessible and the ambition is to increase that by a further 740 hectares over 25 years.  A large 

proportion of the Regional Park is within the National Trust’s Killerton estate and 40% of the Regional Park is 

within a floodplain. 

By protecting and enhancing these green spaces, the Regional Park aims to deliver the following benefits: 

• People – Enhance the health and wellbeing of residents and visitors through access to green spaces. 

• Education – Provide opportunities and facilities for people of all ages and abilities to learn outside of the 

classroom. 

• Nature - Protect irreplaceable habitats, restore natural processes, ensure that internationally important 

wildlife sites achieve their conservation objectives, and increase the size, quality, quantity and 

connectivity of priority natural habitat and populations of key species. 

• Climate – Contribute to the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions and increase resilience to extreme 

weather events and rising sea levels. 

• Water & Soil – Improve the ecological status of the River Clyst and tributaries, enhance natural flood 

storage, and restore soil health. 

• Landscape – Restore landscape character and promote local distinctiveness. 

• Heritage – Protect, enhance and make available historic landscapes, sites, buildings and their settings. 

• Employment – Increase and sustain high value jobs. 

 

5.9.3 Current State of Development 

The Regional Park consolidates existing green spaces, however these will be enhanced in line with the Park’s 

Masterplan which was approved in April 2021.  This Masterplan includes detailed, funded actions to exploit this 

area.  Such actions include the construction/improvement of walk and cycle ways between the greenspaces as 

well as to local residential areas. An agreement to issue a Green Investment Bond has been made that will 

provide a natural recovery fund to meet some of the actions in the Clyst Valley Masterplan.  

Page 128



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 104  
 

5.10 District Heat Network 

5.10.1 Location 

 
Figure 49: Map of West of East Devon Assets and District Heat Networks 

The Skypark Energy Centre provides hot water and heating to housing in Cranbrook and commercial buildings at 

Skypark as well as a private wire to the Lidl distribution centre, while the Monkerton Energy Centre provides hot 

water and heating to housing around Monkerton, Tithebarn and West Clyst, as well as commercial buildings at 

the Science Park. 

An additional Energy from Waste (EfW) plant at Hill Barton is also scheduled to start construction in 2021, which 

is expected to be operational in 2023. This plant will provide additional capacity to the existing network. 

5.10.2 Purpose and Benefits to the Area 

District Heat Networks present the opportunity to provide cost effective, low carbon heat to both residential 

and commercial properties.  

East Devon is leading the way in the adoption of District Heat Networks, with the Cranbrook network being one 

of the largest outside of London when it was commissioned.  With the two energy centres under construction, 

the capacity of the network will significantly increase, providing fundamental infrastructure to support future 

residential and commercial developments in the area.  Through acting early, East Devon has accelerated its 

progress towards decarbonising heat. 

The adoption of this new technology at scale demonstrates East Devon’s commitment to decarbonise.  The 

construction, maintenance and management of these systems also deliver high skilled, future proof jobs. 

Page 129



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 105  
 

5.10.3 Current State of Development 

The Skypark Energy Centre is fully operational with heat being provided to Cranbrook and Skypark.  The 

Monkerton Energy Centre is currently under construction, with the Hill Barton Energy from Waste plant also 

due to commence construction in 2021. 

5.11 Fab link 

5.11.1 Location 

 
Figure 50: Map of West of East Devon Assets and FAB Link route from Budleigh Salterton to Broadclyst 

The FAB (France – Alderney – Britain) project plans to construct and electrical interconnector underwater and 

underground between France and Great Britain via the island of Alderney.  The electrical cables will emerge 

from the English Channel at Budleigh Salterton, before making their way underground to a substation in Exeter. 

5.11.2 Purpose and Benefits to the Area 

The project will consist of two pairs of electrical cables, a converter station at each end, and connections into 

the high voltage grids at each end.  It will travel nearly 220 km between the electrical substations at Menuel, on 

the Cotentin peninsula in France, and Exeter. 

This project, which allows a maximum transmission of 1,400 MW, will help to meet the need for increasing the 

capacity of energy trade between the two countries and therefore contribute to the energy transition in 

Europe.  The project is also designed to provide a route to market for marine renewable energy planned to be 

constructed in the seas around Alderney. 

Page 130



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 106  
 

FAB has been recognised as a “Project of Common Interest” by the European Union following support received 

from both the French and UK governments.  The FAB project has received funding from the European 

Commission through the Connecting Europe Facility. 

The project brings a number of benefits to the region.  Firstly, it will deliver short term economic stimulus as its 

construction (particularly through East Devon) will support a number of jobs.  Once complete, the area will 

benefit from direct access to the link with France, allowing it to both draw down energy when required, as well 

as sell excess energy.  In doing so, the area will have increased resilience and additional commercial 

opportunities. 

Due to the national importance of this link, it also increases the likelihood of investment into the surrounding 

grid. 

5.11.3 Current State of Development 

Construction is scheduled to start in 2021, with completion expected after 2025. 

5.12 Connectivity Between Assets 

Cycleways within the area are limited and often disconnected from one another.  Assets closest to Exeter, such 

as the Science Park, are better connected, with Cranbrook also benefitting from good cycleways between 

Skypark, the Logistics Park and the Science Park. At the centre of this area, the airport site presents a physical 

barrier to connecting the key industrial sites, with the lack of a cycleway between the B3184/A30 roundabout 

and the airport business park being an additional weakness. 

The Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan identifies opportunities to strengthen cycle connectivity throughout 

its area, but very few cycleways are currently present. 

Bus connectivity between key industrial assets is reasonable, however it largely follows a poly-centric model 

focused on the key corridor Exeter.  Bus services on the East of the M5, are generally less developed than those 

within Exeter, with limited connectivity to some smaller settlements.    

Page 131



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 107  
 

 
Figure 51: Map of West of East Devon Assets, bus and cycleway routes (Source: Cadence 360) 

Core assets have grown according to the existing road layout, resulting in road transport being the preferred 

mode of travel to and from industrial sites.  The limited level of public and active travel connectivity between 

residential settlements also encourages road use.  As an example, travel between West Clyst and Whimple 

would take approximately 16 minutes by car, whereas public transport (including walking to and from stops) 

would take more than 54 minutes. 

The linear form of the West of East Devon results in no natural centre, other than the airport whose restricted 

land does not provide an effective ‘hub’ of activity.  As the construction of the Science Park, Skypark and Airpark 

continue, the density of industrial and commercial clusters will improve, however these sites risk remaining 

relatively separate from one another.  Stronger clustering of commercial and industrial space throughout this 

area could result in mutually beneficial infrastructure and connectivity improvements.  

Bus route 

Key assets 

Cycleway 

Page 132



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 108  
 

 
Figure 52: Map of the West of East Devon with land use (Source: Cadence 360) 

Whilst Cranbrook and Exeter provide a local pool of workers for this industrial/commercial area, there is also an 

opportunity to attract talent from further afield.  Implementing high-speed ‘greenways’ from Cullompton, 

Honiton and Exmouth could deliver stronger, low-emission connectivity.  To deliver successful clean growth it is 

likely to be essential for infrastructure to lead development in a planned way, to provide suitable alternative 

travel means for sites as they come online.  A collaborative approach to development, for example linking with 

the needs of Culm Garden Village in Mid Devon, could help enhance the case for strengthening alternative 

modes (public transport and active travel) along key corridors (for example from Cullompton).   

 

Agricultural 

Industrial 

Commercial 

Residential 

Page 133



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 109  
 

6 SWOT Analysis 

This section consolidates feedback from stakeholders obtained through workshops and interviews in relation to 

the current positioning of the West of East Devon as a potential Clean Growth exemplar.  The core of the 

evidence was developed through a “SWOT” workshop designed to elicit the perceived Strengths, Weaknesses, 

Opportunities and Threats facing the region.  The workshop used three visioning exercises to identify strengths, 

weaknesses, opportunities and threats through a number of perspectives.  This evidence was then 

supplemented by comments in insights from stakeholder interviews.   

The identified long-list was then grouped thematically and the outputs summarised in Table 14 below.  In the 

following sections we summarise the key points identified. 

Strengths Weaknesses 

• Functional Economic Area 

• Enterprise Zone and Employment Sites 

• Skills Provision 

• Natural Assets 

• Potential of Overall Package 

• Energy Generation Resources 

• Local Expertise 

• Current Mix of Town Sites 

• Social Mobility 

• Strong Partnerships 

• Track Record of Delivery 

• Quality of Life / Lifestyles 

• Lack of Funding 

• Stop / Start Nature of Funding 

• Visibility / Delivery of Sustainable 
Development 

• Polycentric Growth 

• Infrastructure / Connectivity 

• Affordability 

• Governance 

• Innovation 

• Commercialisation 

• Current Sectoral Mix 

• Depth / Breadth of Clusters 

• Competitive Positioning 

• Current Marketing / Message 

Opportunities Threats 

• Carbon Leadership 

• New / Emerging Technologies 

• Green Industrial Revolution 

• Renewable Generation 

• Retrofit 

• Local Need for Smart Energy Solutions 

• Clean Finance / Investment 

• Increased R&D Investment 

• Natural Capital / Nature Recovery 

• Social Mobility / Inclusive Growth 

• Airport 

• Policy Landscape 

• Renewed Vision / Impetus 

• Overall Package 

• Transformed Place / Infrastructure 

• Future of Work 

• Co-Benefits 

• Electrical Grid Constraints 

• Policy Landscape 

• Limited National Policy Support in Key 
Areas 

• Funding 

• Housing Affordability 

• Traditional Growth Models 

• Delivery Mechanisms 

• Competitors 

• Lack of Focus 

• Public Sentiment 

Table 14:  Summary of SWOT Analysis for the West of East Devon 

Page 134



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 110  
 

 

6.1 Strengths 

6.1.1 Functional Economic Area 

Many stakeholders cited the proximity to Exeter as a key advantage, noting the economic success of the city as 

a key driver for local growth.  Stakeholders noted that this is one of the fastest-growing sub-regions of the 

country.  The West of East Devon is a natural expansion zone.  Rail links were noted as a key asset, linking the 

areas to the wider region and rest of the UK.  It was also felt that the strong GVA provided the opportunity to do 

more in development terms than in other areas.  It was clear that the majority saw links to the Exeter economy 

as a strong advantage.  What was unclear was whether stakeholders felt the Functional Economic Area bounded 

by the LEP (which includes a much more disconnected geography of Plymouth, Torbay and Somerset) was a 

natural one.  

6.1.2 Enterprise Zone and Employment Sites 

The Enterprise Zone and employment sites within the West were cited as key assets providing grow on space 

for businesses. The proximity of these sites to national and international connectivity via the Airport, also adds 

to the attractiveness of the location for business growth. 

6.1.3 Skills Provision 

Skills provision is seen as a key strength of the region driven through strong partnerships within the education 

sector.  The University of Exeter and Exeter College are seen as key providers of skills whose assets connect the 

economies of Exeter with that of the West of East Devon.  The relationship with the Ted Wragg Trust was also a 

strength noted by workshop participants.  Together these skills providers have the expertise, capability and 

track-record to provide vertically-integrated skills pathways.  This includes skills needed for clean growth 

including promotion of STEM, Green Science / Green Engineering and the skills needed to deliver Net Zero. 

6.1.4 Natural Assets 

The natural assets of the region are seen to be a key strength.  The Clyst Valley Regional Park was singled out as 

a key asset of the West of East Devon, but the wider landscape, access to green space, coast, country and 

outdoor leisure are also highly prized.  The natural environment makes the place highly desirable, with strong 

demand to live and work in such a fantastic environment. 

6.1.5 Energy Generation Resources 

In addition to natural assets, the area is also abundant in natural resources – in particular potential for solar and 

wind generation.  Stakeholders noted that decarbonisation of energy generation has occurred much faster than 

they had been expecting and that there was a strong base from which to progress further.  Participants also 

noted the prevalence of Anaerobic Digestion plant in the vicinity of the West of East Devon. 

Page 135



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 111  
 

6.1.6 Potential of Overall Package 

A key theme that emerged from workshop participants was the perception that the overall package provided a 

really compelling offer.  A number of stakeholders observed that the region is unique in having so much 

available within such a small geographic area.  This included expertise within specific Clean Growth technologies 

(one participant stated that the region has “8-9 of the 10-point plan technologies”) and a range of other 

ingredients needed for success, such as the University, good rail connectivity and ample space for growth.  

Participants felt that Clean Growth was more likely to succeed in the West of East Devon as it is starting from a 

“really good base”.  It was also felt the overall offer would be more compelling than ever as a result changes to 

working patterns and preferences following the COVID-19 pandemic. 

6.1.7 Local Expertise 

Stakeholders expressed a real sense of pride in the expertise already present in the region with many 

recognising the strength in people as an asset.  Key institutions such as the University, Met Office and Innovative 

business community were cited as being exemplars of the type of expertise available within the region.  Many 

stakeholders also referenced the progress of particular projects such as the Future Flight Demonstrator, 

pioneering hybrid-electric aircraft; Cranbrook, which was a number of firsts in particular with respect to district 

heating; and the activities of many local logistics operators in electrifying their fleets.  Expertise in professional 

services is also seen as providing a strong support base for new and growing businesses – in particular in 

Financial and Legal services. 

6.1.8 Current Mix of Town Sizes 

It was noted by some that the scale of settlements in East Devon could be a strength, with shop vacancy rates in 

some of these smaller towns appearing to be much less impacted by the economic effects of the pandemic than 

some larger cities.  This led to the suggestion that the current mix of smaller settlements might be ideally placed 

to benefit from a post-COVID recovery with more local centres buoyed by trends towards home working and 

more “local” living. 

6.1.9 Social Mobility 

Stakeholders perceived social mobility to be relatively strong in East Devon compared to other areas owing to 

the strength of the skills provision and support networks. 

6.1.10 Strong Partnerships 

Partnerships and collaborative working are seen to be strong and there is a strong legacy of Local Authority 

innovation, exemplified by the delivery of heat networks throughout the region. 

6.1.11 Track Record of Delivery 

Stakeholders also noted the track record of delivery in the region, in particular a demonstrable track record of 

large-scale infrastructure innovation.  Stakeholders therefore feel the region isn’t starting from scratch having 

continuously demonstrated a strong delivery capability. 

Page 136



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 112  
 

6.1.12 Quality of Life / Lifestyle 

Stakeholders agreed that Devon has a strong national brand across a number of areas including one of the 

strongest ‘Quality of Life brands’ in the country and a powerful food and drink brand.  Stakeholders noted that 

in repeated surveys, East Devon and the South Hams emerge as some of the top places that people want to 

relocate their businesses to.  One participant noted that East Devon is the one of the most attractive places in 

Devon for inward migration.  This underpinned by a strong quality of life, high-quality leisure facilities and high-

quality schools.  The quality of life offer has been supported by strategic investment in key infrastructure such 

as the Exe Estuary Trail, among others. 

6.2 Weaknesses 

6.2.1 Lack of Funding 

One of the key weaknesses cited by stakeholders was the perceived lack of funding from government with some 

questioning why others appear to get funding much more consistently.  While there was appreciation that 

government strategy is much more aligned to the Clean Growth aspirations of the regions, there was scepticism 

that funding and tangible change would follow with some policies being described as “woolly” and at the early 

stages of development.  Stakeholders also felt that some kind of catalyst was needed to overcome the difficulty 

of convincing the private sector to invest in the region. 

6.2.2 Stop / Start Nature of Funding 

Linked to the above, stakeholders also noted the lack of consistency with funding with many funding pots 

administered as competitions leading to a feeling that funding is intermittent.  There was widespread 

agreement that some form of continuous funding for innovation would be preferable with many expressing the 

perception that other places (for example Scotland) have a clearer link between government priorities and long-

term funding support. 

6.2.3 Visibility / Delivery of Sustainable Development 

Many stakeholders noted that in order to be a leader in Clean Growth, development in the region would need 

to act as a demonstrator to exemplify the region’s aspiration.  There was concern that this type of vision is 

difficult to deliver within current policies with one stakeholder noting that “house builders are not place-

makers”.  There was some concern that growth would ultimately be planned by the house builders and that as a 

result the whole area might not function sustainably. 

6.2.4 Polycentric Growth 

Linked to the above, stakeholders noted that the current pattern of is polycentric, with settlements linked to 

the City of Exeter mainly via road.  The effects of this growth on transport were flagged as an issue with 

stakeholders noting that Devon is very car-based.  Continuation of previous growth models was seen to be 

contradictory to the idea that the West of East Devon could be ‘sold’ as an exemplar of Clean Growth with one 

stakeholder noting that “housing and transport are two of the biggest producers of carbon emissions.” 

6.2.5 Infrastructure / Connectivity 

While there was a general perception that rail links were a strong asset, other elements of the rural 

infrastructure offer were seen to be a weakness, in particular: 

Page 137



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 113  
 

• Rural Transport:  In particular connectivity between rural areas and to transport and interchange hubs. 

• Grid Capacity:  The grid capacity of the area was seen to be a real infrastructure weakness, with 

stakeholders wanting much more confidence that the grid would be expanded in advance of 

anticipated demand. 

• Other Infrastructure:  Density, coverage and quality of other infrastructure such as broadband and 

mobile network connectivity. 

6.2.6 Affordability 

Housing affordability was noted as a challenge with this being exacerbated by changes to working habits 

resulting from COVID.  One participant summed up the wider perceptions, stating simply that “house prices are 

going up and up and up”.  In addition to affordability as a direct metric, there was discussion as to whether the 

‘right’ types of houses were being built and whether, given the demand for specific popular areas with limited 

new supply (on the coast or within the city), locals, key workers and new entrants to the job market (e.g. 

graduates) would be priced out. 

6.2.7 Governance 

Whilst Partnerships were also mentioned as a strength, some stakeholders noted that partnership structures 

were not as strong as they were 10 years ago.  Some participants described the governance structures as being 

“under-powered” suggesting that, in many areas of policy, local planners and authorities don't necessarily have 

the powers that they need. 

6.2.8 Innovation 

There was broad agreement that while there were good examples of innovation originating from the region, 

investment in R&D still lagged other parts of the country, in particular Oxford, Cambridge and the South East.  

Stakeholders felt that some of the structures and networks to support innovation or sharing learnings were 

lacking.  There was a general sentiment that there is considerable underlying innovation potential, but the 

region still needs to get “everything in place” in order to move forward at greater pace. 

6.2.9 Commercialisation 

One of the critical challenges noted in this respect was the weak links between academic strengths and 

commercial outputs.  It was acknowledged that the region has historically been poor at converting academic 

excellence into new businesses and it was critical to address this gap for the region to achieve its economic 

potential.  Some business stakeholders were particularly critical of the University, perceiving that it has 

exceptionally high levels of influence in the regional strategy (in particular with respect to which sector to 

target) despite its poor historic commercialisation performance. 

6.2.10 Current Sectoral Mix 

Stakeholders noted the current sectoral mix was something of a weakness, with a considerable exposure to 

sectors adversely affected by the COVID-19 pandemic. 

Page 138



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 114  
 

6.2.11 Depth / Breadth of Clusters 

While stakeholders were able to cite a number of innovative projects across a range of Clean Growth 

technologies, there was a concern as to whether there was sufficient scale or concentration of innovation 

projects to represent the presence of an emerging ‘cluster’.  The current clusters in the region were best 

described by one stakeholder who termed these “embryonic”.  In addition to over-reliance on relatively thin 

sets of projects, other issues of breadth and depth were identified – for example, the over-reliance on a small 

number of operators at the Airport, which has led to low resilience of some of the areas key sectors. 

6.2.12 Competitive Positioning 

It was noted by workshop participants that the competitive landscape is particularly challenging with many 

regions now seeking to position themselves as leaders in Clean Growth.  Participants noted that there are also 

places in the UK that are further ahead than East Devon.  This links to the breadth and depth of clusters with 

some regions noted as having a greater scale, specialism or focus.  However, other elements of the competitive 

offer were also cited including the perception that other places have better infrastructure more widely to 

support innovation and growth.  One participant also questioned whether the West of East Devon itself has 

enough sites for 2040 and whether the area is big enough for the scale of the opportunity. 

6.2.13 Current Marketing / Message 

Some stakeholders see the current messaging as a weakness, not just in terms of agreeing the vision for 

technologies but also to ensure that the pitch is messaged in the right way.  There was criticism that the region 

hadn’t historically been able to convey the offer in the “language of investors” or businesses.  There was also 

criticism that the geographic and sectoral scope of the LEP has the effect of diluting the message and focus on 

specific places, which may be detrimental to East Devon and Exeter. 

6.3 Opportunities 

6.3.1 Carbon Leadership 

Becoming a leading region in the response to climate change was seen as a clear opportunity.  Stakeholders felt 

the region has the resources to support an ambitious approach to Clean Growth, becoming carbon negative 

across energy, transport, green infrastructure and even approaches to local and zero carbon food production.  

Many participants felt that by demonstrating leadership, and by becoming sector leaders the region would 

experience the direct benefits and be able to export ideas and innovation for the future.  One stakeholder said 

that Clean Growth should become so integral to delivery that we wouldn’t even need to refer to it as somehow 

different to the norm.  

6.3.2 New / Emerging Technologies 

There were widespread aspirations that the region should develop world-leading clusters in one or two 

technologies and that the region should focus on areas where it has clear Unique Selling Points (USPs), however 

there was a diverse range of views as to which technologies were most likely to be successful / beneficial.  

Potential technologies stated included Smart Towns, Hydrogen, Clean Future Mobility, logistics and Electric 

Vehicles.  There are clearly lots of specific opportunities with stakeholders citing a high number of enquiries 

related to hydrogen and uptake of Electric Vehicles in particular, happening much faster than anticipated.  

There was general agreement that the region has the opportunity to build on existing projects and examples of 

solid innovation but that the scale to be increased substantially.   

Page 139



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 115  
 

6.3.3 Green Industrial Revolution 

In addition to the focus on technologies, stakeholders recognised that the external change required to deliver 

Clean Growth provides a significant opportunity for the creation of new businesses delivering high-wage green 

jobs for the region, in particular if linked to R&D and the knowledge economy. 

6.3.4 Renewable Generation 

Stakeholders showed widespread agreement that East Devon has a significant opportunity to be a leader in 

renewable generation and, in doing so, ensuring that the region is “part of the answer”.  A number of 

stakeholders felt that not only could East Devon be a contributor to sustainable energy but could also be a net 

exporter of energy.  Stakeholders pointed to existing assets such as existing solar resources, the E.ON Energy 

Centre and opportunities such as the FABLink International Interconnector.  Stakeholders also saw that an 

increased, visible commitment to green power would provide a ‘hook’ to create enhanced marketing for the 

region.   

6.3.5 Retrofit 

While a number of areas were cited as potential opportunities, leadership in housing stood out for the number 

of comments and links to all types of development within the West of East Devon.  Some stakeholders pointed 

to Exeter’s successes in Passivhaus and use of Energiesprong as exemplar initiatives.  Opportunities for 

leadership in housing include both retrofit of older homes, and new approaches to new builds.  Stakeholders 

also noted the positive role that the education sector could play in showing leadership in the development and 

provision of retrofit skills, to up-skill the industry.  

6.3.6 Local Need for Smart Energy Solutions 

Stakeholders noted the perceived constraints in the energy grid, both currently and as a result of future 

electrification.  While this is a challenge and a threat, it was seen by some stakeholders as an innovation 

opportunity driven by the necessity to support development and new connections.   

6.3.7 Clean Finance / Investment 

It has been estimated that over the next 15 years, approximately $93 trillion will be needed for investment in 

low carbon infrastructure across the world (CISL, 2018).  Investments that consider factors of Environmental, 

Social, and Governance as part of their analysis (otherwise known as “ESG Investing”) were therefore cited as an 

opportunity.  The University has the capability and expertise to analyse investment risk and has one of the UK’s 

top 10 business schools, where courses on financial analysis, already aligned to the Chartered Financial Analyst 

(CFA) qualification, are offered. 

6.3.8 Increased R&D Investment 

Stakeholders noted that R&D investment is going to increase and through the Levelling-up agenda, should be 

spread more widely across the UK.  This was therefore seen as an opportunity to secure increased R&D 

investment in the region.  The Advanced Research & Invention Agency (ARIA) was also seen as an opportunity to 

secure long-term funding for development of transformational science aligned to business creation. 

Page 140



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 116  
 

6.3.9 Natural Capital / Nature Recovery 

A range of opportunities were noted with respect to preserving and enhancing the natural capital of the region 

including developing canopy cover, re-wilding and using nature to sequester carbon. 

6.3.10 Social Mobility / Inclusive Growth 

Stakeholders felt there was an opportunity to strengthen further 

social mobility and develop a Clean Growth strategy that would 

benefit everyone.  Ideas of how to do this focused on the area of 

ensuring strong links between skills-development and providing 

local residents with access to new employment opportunities 

emerging from Clean Growth.  Stakeholders also envisaged the 

creation of really thriving interlinked communities within the West of East Devon as being a key enabler of social 

mobility and inclusion.   

6.3.11 Airport 

Given the importance of the Airport as an employer in the West of East Devon, many stakeholders felt it was 

imperative that any development should include a Smart / Low Carbon Aviation cluster.  The 2ZERO project was 

cited as an example of what can result if local stakeholders work together to seize opportunities as they 

emerge.  Described as a “starter for ten” in sustainable aviation by one stakeholder, the project will 

demonstrate hybrid-electric aircraft on regional routes out of Exeter Airport.   

6.3.12 Policy Landscape 

The policy landscape was generally seen as both an opportunity and a threat.  On the opportunity side, 

stakeholders were agreed that the national focus on Clean Growth and innovation in Low and Zero Carbon 

technologies is a clear opportunity, as is the focus on levelling-up. 

6.3.13 Renewed Vision / Impetus 

Stakeholders saw the development of the vision itself as a clear opportunity to re-invigorate the regional 

approach.  Some stakeholders noted the recent appointment of the new Vice Chancellor at the University, 

noting that she has a desire to add more value locally and an emerging focus on Clean Growth (under the 

banner ‘Green Futures’).  Stakeholders felt the vision could be used to as an opportunity to address local 

governance and articulate a shared message for the region.  This, alongside the current marketing review for 

the enterprise zone, was seen as having the potential elevate the marketing.  Stakeholders also showed a desire 

to take a pro-active approach, building on the learnings of the past to re-catalyse efforts.   

6.3.14 Overall Package 

The theme of that the area of the West of East Devon is more than the sum of its parts, came out again in the 

opportunities discussion with participants feeling there was considerable synergy across all of the sites in the 

West of East Devon.  The West of East Devon itself was described by one participant as a “string of pearls” with 

a suite of assets that work well together. 

“Truly inclusive business 

community working with 

local skills providers.” 

Page 141



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 117  
 

6.3.15 Transformed Place / Infrastructure 

Stakeholders see the opportunity for Clean Growth and development of the West of East Devon to provide a 

catalyst to transform the place and infrastructure with the opportunity to deliver a “really world-class 

infrastructure offer”.  Stakeholders were keen to ensure '- Affordable, low carbon public transport stating the 

opportunity to improve connectivity with new bus services integrated with bike and car-sharing (through local 

provider Co-Bikes / Co-Cars).  The opportunity to deliver world-class broadband was also noted.  

6.3.16 Future of Work 

While being devastating in many ways, the pandemic has demonstrated the opportunity to work from home, 

vastly reducing the need for travel, in particular for Knowledge-based jobs.  This provides the opportunity to re-

focus on local communities (“20-minute neighbourhoods”) in the design of the West of East Devon – something 

stakeholder felt would provide an attractive offer.  Changes to remote working also create significant 

opportunities to attract more businesses, business owners and professions to the region providing a new skills 

base to tap into.   

6.3.17 Co-Benefits 

Stakeholders noted that success would result in significant co-benefits.  One of the key co-benefits cited was the 

expectation that delivery of Clean Growth would reduce deprivation and fuel poverty through the provision of 

low carbon, lower cost homes. 

6.4 Threats 

6.4.1 Electrical Grid Constraints 

One of the key challenges that emerged through the discussion was the issue of grid constraints and costs.  

There was a perception that it was very difficult to service fleets currently, let alone when even greater numbers 

of businesses seek to transition to electric.  Stakeholders noted that Clean Transport is very reliant on the grid 

and that planning doesn’t appear to be sufficiently joined-up to de-risk delivery.   

6.4.2 Policy Landscape 

The Policy Landscape was cited as both an opportunity and a threat.  While there was widespread 

acknowledgement that the government’s direction of travel appeared to be supportive of Clean Growth, there 

was some scepticism as to how this would translate into funding and how allocations/priorities for different 

regions would be decided.  There was concern that the focus on house building gives too much power to actors 

who have limited long-term stake in the region.  Contradictions in national policy (with respect to Net Zero) 

were also identified as a risk – in particular with regards to planning, road-building and potential conflicting 

priorities as we emerge from the COVID-19 pandemic.   

6.4.3 Limited National Policy Support in Key Areas 

Linked to the above, there are also known areas of challenge where there is currently limited national policy or 

funding support.  Retrofit and decarbonisation of heat were both good examples where there is a perception 

that national policy isn’t moving fast enough, but the scale of the change required likely needs catalytic funding 

from the public sector.   

Page 142



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 118  
 

6.4.4 Funding 

Funding was another theme that emerged.  Stakeholders noted that significant funding would likely be needed 

but that the public sector budge is finite.  While there was acknowledgement that there are lots of funding pots, 

it was agreed that many are difficult to access.  Competitive funding is also problematic, requiring Local 

Authorities to increase/decrease capacity or pay for external parties to write bids, with no guarantee of success.   

6.4.5 Housing Affordability 

Housing affordability was seen as a threat, with many 

stakeholders indicating that this issue is likely to get worse as a 

result of new migration patterns within the UK emerging as a 

result of increased remote working.  There was a real sense 

that the emerging challenge would be to ensure that critical 

workers across a range of industries can afford to live close to 

their place of work.  While the West of East Devon is designated for new homes, there is a risk that limited new, 

affordable homes are provided elsewhere in the district, in particular on the coast where there is a desperate 

need for workers in the hospitality industries.  Stakeholders stated a risk, that given current dynamics, without 

suitable intervention, the West of East Devon might risk becoming the “dormitory for low skilled workers” for 

the rest of the region. 

6.4.6 Traditional Growth Models 

Building on a similar theme, there was a concern that growth is not risk free, in particular that changes to the 

planning system could create pressure to promote viability challenges to Local Authority policies.  Stakeholders 

stated the need to enable links between the sites within the West of East Devon but there is a concern that 

traditional ways of doing things might not deliver the desired results in terms of place-making, for example, 

some stakeholders felt that house builders could move to neighbouring authorities and put pressure on 

innovation.   

6.4.7 Delivery Mechanisms 

Delivery mechanisms were also seen as a risk.  There was a sense that local stakeholders need to ensure they 

learned the lessons of working with the private sector but that designing delivery vehicles was a risk.  Some 

stakeholders felt that control of land would be critical to delivering a vision for the West of East Devon.  The 

current lack of a joined-up approach was a risk and stakeholders felt that a regional approach to infrastructure, 

S106 (and its successor) CIL would be essential to maximise the chances of successful delivery.   

“Crazy property market 

creating a new challenge.” 

Page 143



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 119  
 

6.4.8 Competitors 

Another challenge theme that emerged was the competitive threat from other regions.  This included both 

other development sites in the region such as Gravity but also the wider threat from traditional and non-

traditional competitors.  Stakeholders felt that within the region, Gravity have been very successful at raising its 

profile.  Some stakeholders questioned whether there was too much competition within the region.  Traditional 

competitors such as Cornwall, Bristol, London and Scotland were also cited with many stakeholders noting their 

existing policies and strategies investing in Clean Growth.  The threat of new entrants was also noted – 

stakeholders noted that Levelling-up might be a double-edged sword.  The challenge for locations like East 

Devon is that they have a relatively affluent, older demographic (albeit with many retirees) and may not score 

well on deprivation-based metrics that may be used to allocate Levelling-up funding.  With many LEPs having 

identified Clean Growth as a priority there was a question as to how East Devon could position itself to be heard 

against the wider competitive landscape. 

6.4.9 Lack of Focus 

A further threat was the question of getting the focus right.  

Stakeholders have varied views as to what the region’s strengths 

are – these views vary by both individual and institution.  

Stakeholders questioned how they can ensure they “pick their 

battles” correctly.  Development of clusters requires some focus 

and also fortune.  One stakeholder summed up the challenge 

stating “Clean Growth is so big there is a risk that innovation and 

progress are diluted.” 

6.4.10 Public Sentiment 

The final threat raised by stakeholders was public sentiment and securing community buy-in a bold vision.  

Securing public buy-in requires a lot of work from public sector leaders and the discipline to remain on message 

for long periods of time.  Early planning objections, defeats or organised public action campaigns can derail the 

delivery of bold strategies and so messaging and delivery needs to be carefully considered.   

  

“Clean Growth is so big 

there is a risk that 

innovation and progress are 

diluted.” 

Page 144



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 120  
 

7 Specific Opportunities for the West of East Devon 

7.1 Technology opportunities 

7.1.1 Clean and Smart Aviation 

Domestic and International aviation presents a significant challenge for the UK in reducing its carbon footprint. 

The UK has the second largest aerospace manufacturing sector in the world and the aviation sector contributes 

over £15bn to the GDP (UK aviation sector worth £15 billion before pandemic, 2021).  The private sector 

established a “Sustainable Aviation” group in 2005, but innovation in this sector has been slow.  The 

Government has now started to step in more firmly, with the Jet Zero Council and a range of research and 

innovation competitions to stimulate solutions.  

The Future Flight Challenge has funding of £125 million to kick-start solutions for the aviation industry to reduce 

its carbon footprint.  In addition to this, the 10 point plan (Section 2.1.1.3) sets out future opportunities 

regarding sustainable aviation fuels and the provision of a sustainable aviation fuel clearing house.  

Following the collapse of Flybe and the sale of the Airport, Exeter Airport has an opportunity to “build back 

better” and capitalise on the emerging research project 2ZERO and Government funding.  

Competitors in this sector include Cranfield University who are exploring the development of electric aircraft 

with Heathrow Airport and Rolls-Royce.  Cranfield is currently involved in eight Future Flight projects, ranging 

from UAVs to Electric plane development.  Capitalising on their location adjacent to the airport, the Cranfield 

have established an Aerospace Technology Institute and a university school of Aerospace.   

The West of East Devon has an opportunity to grow its capability in Smart Aviation but will need to strengthen 

its portfolio of projects and would benefit from the development of a centre of excellence in partnership with a 

University to secure long-term research funding and wider industrial partnerships.  It is worth noting that Exeter 

Airport has aspirations to be at the forefront of electric and sustainable flight. 

7.1.2 Hydrogen 

To support renewable energy power, the Government has set out a clear agenda in both the 10 point plan 

(Section 2.1.1.3) and their Energy White Paper (Section 2.1.1.7) to invest in Hydrogen.  Government funding 

streams are anticipated for 2021 to develop potential Hydrogen production and storage sites. Further to this, 

the Tees Valley Hydrogen Hub has been presented as a possible blueprint for hydrogen hubs around the 

country.  

East Devon is sited adjacent to the M5, strong rail links and is within an hour of two major ports (Bristol and 

Plymouth).  Hydrogen could provide a fuel solution for freight, flight and a replacement for natural gas and as 

such has significant market potential. In 2019 the market for gas in the UK was £21bn (Selling value of electricity 

and gas for all consumers in the United Kingdom (UK) from 2010 to 2019, 2020).  The largest producer of 

Hydrogen in the UK is BOC Limited, and the market is quickly expanding with green hydrogen production sites 

being developed.   

Page 145



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 121  
 

However, there is likely to be heavy competition in this technology.  In particular, East Devon is likely to face 

competition from government-endorsed “Superplaces” referred to in the 10-point plan.  A challenge for East 

Devon is whether it has access to sufficient renewable resources to produce hydrogen at scale.  The plan 

already suggests where the Superplaces for hydrogen may be, stating that the £1bn of investment might be 

shared “in areas such as the North East, the Humber,North West, Scotland and Wales”.   

Opportunities in the South West will be the provision of Hydrogen for HGVs as no current proposed depot will 

be sufficiently within range of the South West to support Hydrogen HGV usage beyond Bristol.  The DfT 

estimates that in 2018 104k tonnes of oil equivalent fuel was consumed by HGVs in Devon and Cornwall alone 

(Consumption statistics for fuels used in road transport at regional and local levels from 2005, 2018). In addition 

to this, the National Heating Strategy has set out the opportunity to increase the Hydrogen mix in Natural Gas to 

up to 20% to support the decarbonisation of heating (Heat and buildings strategy, 2021), in Devon alone in 2019 

the total Gas usage was 4,189 GWh (BEIS, 2020d). 

Despite expected competition from Superplaces for hydrogen there are likely to be small to medium scale 

hydrogen opportunities that are available to locations such as East Devon, as proven by recent enquiries from 

businesses looking for sites in Devon to develop hydrogen technologies and production capacity. 

7.1.3 Electric Vehicles 

The Government announcement that new petrol and diesel cars will not be sold from 2030 has resulted in a 

rapid acceleration of the requirement for EV charging infrastructure.  Whilst incentives have been issued for 

small scale domestic and workplace chargers, the commercial market has proven to be a profitable opportunity. 

It is forecast that an investment of between £8-18bn in EV charging infrastructure will be required in the run up 

to 2030 to support the forecast annual sales of 2.5 million Battery Electric Cars in 2030 (UK EV charging 

infrastructure update (part 2): Show me the money, 2021).  

EV Charging hubs provide a commercial charging station for consumers and businesses whilst generating 

revenue for the owner.  In the UK, Oxford is due to open a charging hub with 38 fast and Ultra-rapid chargers 

later this year, and Scotland has opened a £1.4m charging hub with capacity for 26 vehicles in Falkirk which uses 

solar power to generate 30% of the power required.  

East Devon’s proximity to the M5 puts it at a distinct advantage for offering a charge hub that would generate 

income whilst instigating a transition to low-carbon transport.  East Devon also has research and innovation 

capability that will be strengthened by the Centre for Future Clean Mobility.  Key competitors for large-scale 

investment however include locations like the West Midlands, who are likely to be better place to receive 

funding for the “Gigafactory” investment stated within the 10-point plan.  While, East Devon should encourage 

opportunities for innovation, a focus on more niche sectors such as heavy machinery and marine propulsion 

may be more aligned with the strengths of the Centre for Future Clean Mobility. 

Page 146



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 122  
 

7.1.4 Greener Buildings 

The Government’s 10-point plan estimates that Greener Buildings could create 50,000 jobs by 2030 within the 

UK and will require £11bn of new investment.  Our analysis (see section 3.4.1.2) provides evidence that if a 

successful retrofit programme were established in East Devon, it could create significant numbers of jobs within 

the local economy.  Green Buildings also presents a significant skills opportunity for local colleges.  East Devon’s 

challenge in within this technology is that competitor locations might have pre-existing schools or architecture 

and research expertise.  However, the region overall has a strong background in innovation in retrofit and 

housing – for example, Exeter City Council has been pioneering Passivhaus in the UK for many years.  The 

construction of Cranbrook and wider development sites, present ample opportunities to develop and 

strengthen a specialism in Greener Buildings.  To progress, East Devon should strengthen links with key research 

centres and work to develop a portfolio of demonstrator projects. 

7.1.5 Smart Local Energy Systems 

Smart Local Energy Systems will support the management of energy in East Devon, reducing the pressure on the 

existing infrastructure.  Worldwide, the smart energy market is expected to be worth $253bn by 2027 (Allied 

Market Research, 2021) and the ability to generate a skills and knowledge base within the market in East Devon 

is a significant opportunity.  

The UK Government has recently funded £20m of Local Smart Energy projects across the UK to trial systems in 

Scotland, Peterborough and Rugeley.  In 2019 Swanbarton Limited received Government funding to assess the 

local energy market for Devon and Exeter in a project called LEMDEx in collaboration with Exeter City Council, 

Devon County Council and the Heart of the South West LEP.  As yet, no commercial venture has been 

forthcoming from this research project.  However, potential for an expanded portfolio of R&D projects is strong 

– for example, the University’s newly appointed Executive Dean for the College of Engineering is an expert in 

Smart Grids offering the potential to secure significant research and demonstrator projects linked with local 

businesses and assets.   

7.1.6 District Heat Networks 

The use of District Heat Networks to decarbonise the heat network en masse has been recognised by the 

Government in their 10 point plan (Section 2.1.1.3), Energy White Paper (Section 2.1.1.7) and more locally, in 

the East Devon District Council Local Plan.  

Expanding the District Heat Network in East Devon provides an opportunity to increase the heat sources and 

further reduce the carbon intensity of the network.  Risks to the expansion of the network are the engagement 

of developers, for whom the incorporation of a District Heat Network might result in increased time or cost, and 

therefore the alternative provision of heat through electrification such as Air Source Heat Pumps, which would 

place increasing pressure on the Electrical grid.   

E.ON designed and operates the CHP plant on the Skypark that supplies heat and hot water to Cranbrook, the 

Skypark and the Exeter Science Centre.  Currently the plant is gas-fired, with an agreed intention to decarbonise 

the CHP Plant in coming years to support further decarbonisation of heat and power in the West of East Devon 

through the use of waste heat from the Hill Barton EfW plant.  The ability of the power plant to instigate mass 

decarbonisation cannot be underestimated as it is currently used to support heating in 2,900 homes and the 

Skypark.       

Page 147



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 123  
 

However, while decarbonisation and expansion of the heat networks are all important steps for the 

decarbonisation of heat, more needs to be done to ensure, that the previous investment in heat networks, 

supports new skills and business creation within the region.   

7.1.7 Wave and Tidal Power Generation 

The Global market potential for Wave and tidal power generation is £76bn.  The technology is not yet deployed 

widely at scale in the UK.  However, East Devon has good connections to suitable environments for these 

technologies to be explored further.   The UK currently has 98 deployments (either live or in-development) of 

tidal power systems of various sizes around its coastline.  The FabLink provides a route to market for off-shore 

renewables and a potential catalyst for East Devon.   

However, there are a range of other competitors within Wave and Tidal Power within the region including 

Cornwall, Bristol and Wales.  Much of the research expertise is sited at the Penryn Campus, while a range of 

demonstrator sites are available off the Cornish coast.  East Devon should explore links to these areas and 

potential collaborations for innovation. 

7.1.8 Power & Heat Storage 

Whilst the costs of short-term electrical battery storage (1C to 4C) are steadily declining the benefits that can be 

achieved are also falling.  Installations of Lithium Ion storage offer lots of benefits and are essential to balancing 

short term power fluctuations in the UK power grids.  However, the need for balancing these fluctuations has 

been met and new storage coming online is competing in market with a static need.  This is forcing down the 

price that each MW of storage capacity can achieve, ultimately making short term storage less commercially 

attractive.  However, the opposite is true of long-term grid scale storage.  The need for of inter-seasonal storage 

has not yet been met.  There are two converging problems, demand curves for power and heat requirements in 

the UK have very different profiles over a full year, likewise generation profiles driven by renewable 

deployments are also seasonal in nature.  The generation profile does not match the demand profile. Therefore, 

as more renewable generation comes on to the grid we will need to deploy ever increasing storage installations 

to manage this supply & demand delta.  Solving these challenges is an open problem for academia and business 

– one that East Devon could play a role in.  However, some long duration storage technologies can only be 

currently viably deployed in specific geographic contexts.  The presence of sites with the right mix of 

requirements may be out of control of East Devon in some cases.  

7.1.9 New & Advanced Nuclear Power 

Whilst a large global market, East Devon has limited strengths in Nuclear Power currently.  The majority of local 

focus is centred around Hinkley Point where there is a desire to establish a legacy from the construction of the 

Hinkley Point C power station.  However, even here, it is unclear that the presence of a major construction site 

will catalyse new discovery, invention and associated new business creation.    

Page 148



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 124  
 

7.1.10 Green Finance & Innovation 

The Government’s 10-point plan states that Green Finance & Innovation has the potential to create “hundreds 

of thousands” of jobs by 2030.  Research in previous sections (see 3) identifies that finance is one of the most 

productive sectors in East Devon, however is limited by number of jobs currently.  However, the region has 

leading capability in the area of climate science and, as a result risk prediction.  The regional also has a strong 

Business School, well-established sustainable MBA (recognised as Top 4 in Europe) and strong base of graduates 

(e.g. economics) within the University who would traditionally find employment in London.  In addition, changes 

bought on by the pandemic (such as home working) have transformed the potential for finance-related 

businesses to relocate out of traditional key centres.   

Given the strengths in Data and Environmental science, East Devon has an exceptional opportunity to apply this 

to the financial sector.  Reframing the “Environmental Futures” messaging to talk directly to the needs of 

investors and financial markets, alongside some targeted innovation projects, could provide a catalyst to unlock 

this significant opportunity.  Strengthening the financial sector would also have the peripheral benefits of 

making more money available within the local economy for seed and follow-on investment in start-ups more 

broadly. 

 

 

Technology – Relative Strength Summary for East Devon 
Region 

M
at

u
ri

ty
 

D
el

iv
er

ab
ili

ty
 

Su
it

ab
ili

ty
 

Recommendation 

Clean and smart aviation Low Med High Priority Area of Focus 

Hydrogen Med Med Med Explore innovation 

Electric Vehicle Technologies High High High Explore innovation 

Greener Buildings Low Med High Priority Area of Focus 

Smart local energy systems Low Med Med Priority Area of Focus 

District Heat Networks High Med Low Explore innovation 

Solar power High Med High Strengthen Deployments 

Wave and tidal power generation Low Low High Explore innovation 

Power & Heat Storage Med Med High Explore innovation 

New & Advanced Nuclear Power Low Low Low Wait  

Green Finance & Innovation Low High High Priority Area of Focus 
Table 15: Identified technology strengths and recommendations 

7.2 Future of work 

7.2.1 Remote Working 

The COVID-19 pandemic has accelerated the adoption of remote working.  Industries, businesses and 

employees who otherwise would have been reluctant to trial this way of working have now experienced the 

benefits.  Whilst some will return to traditional ways of working, early reports suggest some will make a 

permanent move to a remote-first working arrangement, with many more offering staff the option of working 

remotely part of the time (BBC, 2021). 

This accelerated adoption of remote working provides a number of opportunities: 

Page 149



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 125  
 

• Workers currently located in the country’s cities, including London, may have the opportunity to 
relocate to the area, bringing with them new skillsets.  East Devon has the opportunity to leverage its 
popularity as a place to live to attract this inward migration of talent. 

• Businesses will be looking for office space that is less focused on conventional, long term desk space 
and more on collaboration and flexible use.  With the Science Park, Skypark and Airpark all providing the 
opportunity for bespoke and/or flexible working space, the West of East Devon is perfectly positioned 
to capitalise on this new demand. 

• The adoption of home working has been shown to reduce the morning and evening peaks of energy 
demand through delivering more flexible working times.  Encouraging the adoption of home working 
could become part of the solution to increasing grid capacity. 

• Home working negates the requirement to commute and therefore positively impacts congestion and 

emissions from transport.  Encouraging home working through investments in digital connectivity could 

accelerate the decarbonisation of transport in the area, whilst also reducing congestion. 

Trends emerging from post-COVID working suggest that there will be new user sectors looking for shared 

working space (Shared Workspaces and Co-working in 2020, 2020).  These will include: 

• Corporate Members: These users will be looking for flexible leases that can provide the opportunity to 

slowly increase the space required for their enterprise with access to the co-working on-demand 

community hub and amenities available.  

• Super-flex Members: These users are workers or freelancers who have the ability to work from home 

but are looking for a working space that offers a convenient, easy-to-access, working environment that 

is flexible and separates their work and home life, providing the social and physical interaction that 

cannot be provided from homeworking.  

• Pro-active Landlords: Landlords who are prepared to change their business model and offer more 

flexible leasing arrangements will be in a stronger position to retain existing tenants and expand their 

tenants to include new users.  The use of brand partnerships and benefits to attract tenants and flexible 

users is expected to increase.   

7.2.2 New Skills 

Even prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, there was an upward trend in remote working, e-commerce and 

automation across a number of sectors.  Job growth is anticipated to occur in high skilled jobs, with low skilled 

jobs set to decline (McKinsey & Comapny, 2021).  This change in job mix is likely to result in a higher proportion 

of people changing their career and requiring additional training.  The University of Exeter and Exeter College 

(including the Future Skills Centre) are well placed to design and deliver training to fulfil this emerging demand. 

The Heart of the South West Local Skills Report (2021) has highlighted 3 areas of significant growth opportunity 

that will require new skills and training: 

• Engineering.  With every sector self-imposing, or being given challenging decarbonisation targets, 
engineering will play a key role in developing and delivering innovative solutions.  Significant 
infrastructure investment within East Devon (e.g. FAB link, ditrict heat networks, residential/commercial 
construction) is likely to lead to an increase in demand for engineering skills, whilst on a smaller scale, 
local businesses such as Centrax and Stovax will also drive demand. 

• Digital.  Almost no business will be unaffected by the continued transition to digital products and 
services.  Whether it is embracing ecommerce as a new sales channel, or simply complying with HMRC’s 
digital tax filing requirments, a basic level of digital skills is a must have for most employees.  At a higher 

Page 150



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 126  
 

level, the demand for skills in data analytics, cyber security and data technologies are also expected to 
increase, with the area already demonstrating strengths in these disciplines (Heart of the South West, 
2021). 

• Energy & Low Carbon.  East Devon has made a strong start in establishing itself as a low carbon, energy 
efficient area – most notably with low the carbon Cranbrook and Monkerton developments, serviced by 
district heat networks and planned Energy from Waste plant.  A continued focus on low carbon 
developments will require a greater concentration of skills in energy and low carbon technology in 
construction. East Devon has a clear opportunity to provide training to a generation of residents that 
can be used as a foundation for future developments and retrofitting within the West of East Devon and 
further afield.      

Providing Level 4+ qualifications in the three sectors identified above will provide the West of East Devon with 

the opportunity to match skills supply and demand with growth sectors over the coming years.  Exeter College 

at the Future Skills Centre and the University of Exeter are best placed in East Devon to drive these 

qualifications and incentivise demand from students.  Recommendations suggested in section 3.4  Energy 

Opportunities & Constraints estimate additional energy and low-carbon jobs exceeding 7,500. 

 

 

8 East Devon’s Vision for Clean Growth Development 

8.1 Vision Document 

Our vision for the West of East Devon is to be to be a carbon leader -for new development to be zero carbon 

and for the region to take pro-active steps to address emissions from legacy sectors.  Our vision is to provide 

leadership and new business opportunities in “hard to decarbonise” sectors where innovation is vital and where 

we have world-leading strengths –sustainable aviation, decarbonisation of transport, greener buildings, smart 

grids and environmental risk and finance.  Our vision is to radically reduce carbon while growing our economy 

and, through world-leading skills delivery, providing opportunities for all to ensure that growth is inclusive.  Our 

vision is to deliver a place that enhances and works with its natural environment and provides an exceptional 

quality of life for all its residents. 

The West of East Devon is a place of exceptional assets - a special combination of natural capital, skilled 

innovators, ambitious local partnerships, energy resources, and ample space for business growth.  It is a natural 

“gateway” linking Exeter and East Devon to the world through national and international connectivity.  Already 

an established focal point for growth, the West of East Devon is home to a growing number of high-performing, 

knowledge-intensive businesses, employment sites and new housing.   

The associated vision document builds on this evidence base and sets out a vision for the West of East Devon.  

The West of East Devon has significant potential to be leader in Clean Growth, focused around its core assets 

and strengths.  Considering the key strengths and opportunities for the West of East Devon our Clean Growth 

Vision focuses on the following core themes: 

Page 151



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 127  
 

• Redefining how we work, live and play.  The West of East Devon offers unrivalled potential for the 

provision of a world-class lifestyle offer.  Set within the context of the Clyst Valley Regional Park and its 

envisaged multi-use trails, the West of East Devon has significant opportunity to deliver low impact, 

local but connected living, creating highly-desirable places closely linked to their natural landscape.  The 

West of East Devon offers the potential for new types of work space, that seize the opportunities for 

hybrid working emerging following the COVID-19 pandemic. 

• A Thriving Innovation Ecosystem.  Our Vision for the West of East Devon is to create a destination that 

fosters an entrepreneurial community, focused on solving society’s biggest challenges through the 

application and demonstration of world-class knowledge.  Through the active pursuit of Innovation, our 

vision is that the West of East Devon stimulates new public, private, and research partnerships to unlock 

clean growth. 

• World-Class Demonstrators in Core Technologies.  Our Vision focuses on unlocking growth through four 

core technologies and a catalytic portfolio of innovation projects across Clean Growth sectors.  Our 

sectors of focus are Sustainable Aviation, Greener Buildings, Green Finance & Innovation and Smart 

Grids.   

• Zero-Carbon Place-making.  Our vision is for Homes and places in the West of East Devon to be 

delivered in partnership with nature, embracing ambitious zero carbon place-making objectives.  Our 

vision for the West of East Devon will ensure that every home is designed to be zero carbon and to 

create a sustainable, net zero carbon community, that gives residents and businesses a genuine 

alternative to the private car.   

• Restoring Nature Connections.  Our vision for the West of East Devon blurs the boundary between the 

built environment and natural landscape, enhancing the connections between people and nature.  

Integrated networks of nature recovery sites, habitats and wildlife corridors will weave through the 

West of East Devon, supporting biodiversity net gain and rewilding and bringing nature to residents’ 

doorsteps. 

• Powered by Nature.  Our vision is to be leaders in clean energy infrastructure.  As a region blessed with 

natural resources, we have an opportunity to be net exporters of energy, whilst spearheading the clean 

energy revolution and enhancing our natural environment.  This will require wholesale change - trialling 

and adopting new technologies across our entire economy.   

• A Place for Creative Minds.  Our vision creates the platform for new opportunity.  We will create the 

conditions for success by developing and delivering tailored skills pathways.  Our vision, combined with 

world-leading skills provision, will inspire and excite a new generation of innovators to create their own 

opportunities within clean growth.  Our vision for clean growth aims to open up opportunities to all, 

while delivering a wide range of co-benefits including improved community cohesion, improved 

environment, healthier homes, and reduced energy and travel costs. 

Delivery Recommendations 

The following are recommendations based on our analysis, set out to aid the delivery and implementation of 

the vision.   

 

Page 152



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 128  
 

 

Recommendation 1:  Enhance Partnerships.  There is an opportunity to build from existing partnership 

structures and ensure that key partners and institutions are embraced within a robust governance structure.  

This will help to provide a more effective platform from which to engage with central government and its 

agencies for example.  It will also help to align multiple different investment programmes, for example utility 

providers, to ensure that these work towards the achievement of this ambitious vision. 

Recommendation 2:  Innovation Portfolio.  A key challenge facing East Devon is that the number of innovation 

projects is currently insufficient within any particular technology to achieve the critical mass required to 

stimulate a new industry.  Our best practice review highlights key examples where the public sector has been 

able to catalyse development of a broad portfolio of innovation projects, in particular Oxfordshire’s iHub.  We 

recommend a similar model is adopted within East Devon with the objective of taking a pro-active role in 

stimulating and sourcing funding for a greater number of Clean Growth innovation and demonstrator projects 

that will drive down emissions.  

Recommendation 3:  Infrastructure First.  Delivery of truly sustainable places will require key services and 

alternatives to the private car to be provided as far in advance of housing delivery as possible.  Every 

opportunity to adopt an ‘infrastructure first’ approach to delivery should be explored with a focus on 

connectivity and sensitive build aesthetics to complement the rural environment.  Opportunities to enable this 

are likely to be strengthened through the governance set out in Recommendation 1.   

Recommendation 4:  University Relationship.  The University has an essential role to play in the West of East 

Devon and could enable significant Government investment and business creation opportunities within key 

technologies.  However, much needs to be done to improve the commercialisation of research which could 

provide such a significant opportunity for the region.  We believe an enhanced partnership would be in a strong 

position to influence and support changes and new activities that could improve the transfer of research to real-

world and commercial opportunities. 

Recommendation 5:  Future of Work.  Changes to working practices as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, such 

as increased or flexible remote working, represent a strong opportunity to attract new businesses, employees 

and skills to the region, in particular in highly-productive sectors aligned to Climate Data such as financial 

services and energy efficient construction.  East Devon and partners should work with key sites within the West 

of East Devon to create a holistic marketing of residential and work-spaces that highlight the attractiveness of 

the area and responds to this emerging business need as well as determine a strategy to increase qualification 

levels in these key growth sectors, strongly linked to all types of available skills and training provision. 

Recommendation 6:  Business Support.  A more pro-active and entrepreneurial approach to business support 

should be adopted.  This should include mechanisms to encourage new business creation, mechanisms to fund 

new businesses from pre-seed through to growth, support to reach commercial customers and new markets 

and strong mentoring networks, where possible drawing on the knowledge and experience of successful local 

entrepreneurs. 

Recommendation 7:  Strong Climate Targets.  East Devon’s climate targets were adopted prior to the 

Government’s adoption of the 2035 target for a 78% reduction in carbon emissions.  The West of East Devon is 

competing with other regions that have carbon targets that are more ambitious than even this.  While these 

differences may seem inconsequential, targets provide critical information to external stakeholders about the 

ambition of a region.  To heighten interest in the West of East Devon as a centre for clean growth, targets will 

likely need to be updated and strengthened, with associated plans to support delivery.   

Page 153



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 129  
 

Recommendation 8:  Consider Wider Impacts.  Growth in the West of East Devon cannot be considered in 
isolation from wider potential effects.  For example, the affordability of housing is a challenge for the entire 
District - one that may be exacerbated over the long-term by migration trends resulting from the COVID-19 
pandemic.  Whilst new, affordable housing has improved overall affordability in the region, if a price differential 
exists for new homes in the West of East Devon, compared to areas of employment (e.g. the City of Exeter or, 
for particular industries, coastal towns) this could have the effect of inducing longer distance trips for key 
workers who get priced out from other regions.  This is one of a number of examples that suggests that a 
holistic view should be taken to ensure that the economic benefits are spread widely and that policies are put in 
place to ensure the economic needs outside of the West of East Devon are met. 
 
Recommendation 9:  Delivery Action Plan.  Our analysis sets out a series of potential pathways for 

decarbonisation.  Innovation is sorely needed in many of these areas to unlock delivery pathways.  To accelerate 

clean growth, East Devon and partners should develop a delivery plan, that draws on learnings from innovation 

and pilots within the West of East Devon, with clear pathways to scale to the rest of the District. 

Recommendation 10:  Business-Focused Marketing.  The West of East Devon is competing with rival sites (both 

nationally and within the South West) that have strong business-focused marketing.  An exercise of rebranding 

is underway.  The results of this exercise will need to be sufficiently compelling to enable the West of East 

Devon to stand out in an increasingly competitive market.  

Recommendation 11:  Pitch to Government.  If the productivity/head of East Devon could be raised to the 

average in England, this would add £537 million to the GVA of the District per year.  Our analysis also identifies 

the considerable potential for investment in retrofit and renewable generation and its associated job creation.  

Inclusion of similar benefits within adjoining districts would increase the value of the potential pitch even 

further.  Therefore, a highly-compelling pitch could be presented that combines economic benefit, investment 

in clean growth, new jobs and new zero carbon homes, that could unlock up-front investment in infrastructure.  

To achieve the best outcomes for the site, we recommend that East Devon work with partners to refine the 

narrative around the wider regional opportunity. 

 

  

Page 154



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 130  
 

9 Bibliography 

Covid-19 Economic Resilience Report . (2020, March). Retrieved from Covid-19 Economic Resilience 

Report : 

https://devoncc.sharepoint.com/sites/PublicDocs/Economy/Economy/Forms/AllItems.aspx?i

d=%2Fsites%2FPublicDocs%2FEconomy%2FEconomy%2FCOVID%2D19%2FDevon%2C%20Ply

mouth%20and%20Torbay%20%E2%80%93%20Covid%2D19%20Economic%20Resilience%2Ep

df&parent=%2Fsites%2FPub 

10 Point Plan for a Green Industrial Revolution. (2020). Retrieved from 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_d

ata/file/936567/10_POINT_PLAN_BOOKLET.pdf 

A Strategy for Growth - Devon County Council. (2013). Retrieved from 

https://devoncc.sharepoint.com/sites/PublicDocs/Economy/_layouts/15/guestaccess.aspx?gu

estaccesstoken=ziStznKjYtSpg0R49z%2FWMgZX%2B8rE96aitWKEqKorJfY%3D&docid=017ebb1

76f86443d98eaccea0e0f9c047 

Allied Market Research. (2021, May 3). Retrieved from PR Newswire: 

https://www.prnewswire.co.uk/news-releases/smart-energy-market-to-garner-253-1-bn-

globally-by-2027-at-9-6-cagr-allied-market-research-801869147.html 

BBC. (2021, March 9). 'Hybrid working will become the norm'. Retrieved from bbc.co.uk: 

https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/business-56331654 

BEIS. (2020a). UK local authority and regional carbon dioxide emissions national statistics: 2005 to 

2018. Retrieved from https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-

regional-carbon-dioxide-emissions-national-statistics-2005-to-2018 

BEIS. (2020b). National Statistics: Total final energy consumption at regional and local authority level: 

2005 to 2018. Retrieved from https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/total-final-energy-

consumption-at-regional-and-local-authority-level-2005-to-2018 

BEIS. (2020c). Regional and local authority electricity consumption statistics. Retrieved from 

www.gov.uk: https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/regional-and-local-

authority-electricity-consumption-statistics 

BEIS. (2020d). Sub National Gas Consumption Statistics. Retrieved from www.gov.uk: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/gas-sales-and-numbers-of-customers-

by-region-and-local-authority 

BEIS. (2020d, December). Sub-national electricity consumption data. Retrieved from 

https://www.gov.uk/: https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/sub-national-electricity-

consumption-data 

BEIS. (2020d, December). Sub-national estimates of households not connected to the gas network. 

Retrieved from https://www.gov.uk/: https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/sub-

national-estimates-of-households-not-connected-to-the-gas-network 

Page 155



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 131  
 

Build Back Better. (2021). Retrieved from https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/build-back-

better-our-plan-for-growth/build-back-better-our-plan-for-growth-html 

Build Back Better. (2021). Retrieved from https://heartofswlep.co.uk/wp-

content/uploads/2021/03/HOTSW-16015-Recovery-Plan-Report.pdf 

Bus Back Better. (2021). Retrieved from 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_d

ata/file/980227/DfT-Bus-Back-Better-national-bus-strategy-for-England.pdf 

CCC. (2020). Reducing UK emissions: Progress Report to Parliament. Committee on Climate Change. 

Centre for Sustainable Energy. (2005). REVISION 2020 SOUTH WEST RENEWABLE ELECTRICITY, HEAT 

AND ON SITE. Retrieved from www.cse.co.uk: https://www.cse.org.uk/downloads/reports-

and-publications/planning/renewables/revision2020_main_report.pdf 

CISL. (2018). Cambridge Institute for Sustainability Leadership. Retrieved from Financing the Global 

Low Carbon Transition. 

Climate Change Act. (2008). Retrieved from https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2008/27/contents 

Clyst Valley Masterplan. (2021). Retrieved from https://eastdevon.gov.uk/media/3722704/cvrp-

masterplan.pdf 

Commission, E. (2014). Copenhagen: European Green CIty. Retrieved from Copenhagen: European 

Green CIty: https://ec.europa.eu/environment/europeangreencapital/wp-

content/uploads/2012/07/Copenhagen-Short-Leaflet_Web.pdf 

Consumption statistics for fuels used in road transport at regional and local levels from 2005. (2018). 

Retrieved from Road transport energy consumption at regional and local authority level, 

2005-2018: https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/road-transport-energy-

consumption-at-regional-and-local-authority-level 

Cranbrook Development Plan Document. (2019). Retrieved from 

https://eastdevon.gov.uk/media/2810797/cranbrook-plan-dpd-submission-draft.pdf 

Danish Energy Agency. (n.d.). Retrieved from Danish Energy Agency: https://ens.dk/en/our-

services/statistics-data-key-figures-and-energy-maps/annual-and-monthly-statistics 

Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy. (2020). National Statistics: Total final energy 

consumption at regional and local authority level: 2005 to 2018. Retrieved from 

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/total-final-energy-consumption-at-regional-and-

local-authority-level-2005-to-2018 

Department for Work and Pensions. (2021). Retrieved from Gov.uk: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/universal-credit-statistics 

Devon Carbon Plan. (2020). Retrieved from 

https://www.devonclimateemergency.org.uk/interimcarbonplan/?cat_id=2572 

Page 156



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 132  
 

Don’t Make A Slow Recovery More Difficult with Quarantine Measures. (2020, May 13). Retrieved 

from IATA: https://www.iata.org/en/pressroom/pr/2020-05-13-03/ 

East Devon District Council. (2020). East Devon District Council Climate Change Strategy 2020 - 2025. 

Retrieved from 

https://democracy.eastdevon.gov.uk/documents/s7944/EDDC%20Climate%20Change%20Str

ategy.pdf 

East Devon District Council Climate Change Strategy. (2020). Retrieved from 

https://eastdevon.gov.uk/media/3721245/eddc-climate-change-strategy-final-acc.pdf 

East Devon Infrastructure Delivery Plan. (2017). Retrieved from 

https://eastdevon.gov.uk/media/2270747/idp-review-2017_report.pdf 

East Devon Local Plan 2013 - 2031. (2016). Retrieved from 

https://eastdevon.gov.uk/media/1772841/local-plan-final-adopted-plan-2016.pdf 

Economics, O. (2020). Coronavirus: Economic Impact Scenarios for Devon. London: Oxford Economics. 

Energy White Paper. (2020). Retrieved from 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_d

ata/file/945899/201216_BEIS_EWP_Command_Paper_Accessible.pdf 

Enough renewables to meet 90% Scottish electricity demand. (2020, December 18). Retrieved from 

BBC News: https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-scotland-51088089 

Envirnoment Act. (1995). Retrieved from https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1995/25/contents 

Eon Energy. (n.d.). Retrieved from Eon Energy: https://www.eon.com/en/business-customers/city-

energy-solutions/projects/hyllie.html 

Exeter Transport Strategy. (2020). Retrieved from 

https://devoncc.sharepoint.com/sites/PublicDocs/Corporate/HaveYourSay/Forms/AllItems.as

px?id=%2Fsites%2FPublicDocs%2FCorporate%2FHaveYourSay%2FTransport%2FExeter%20Tra

nsport%20Strategy%202020%2D2030%2Epdf&parent=%2Fsites%2FPublicDocs%2FCorporate

%2FHaveYou 

Flexible Power. (2021). Retrieved from Flexible Power: https://www.flexiblepower.co.uk/ 

Gear Change. (2020). Retrieved from 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_d

ata/file/904146/gear-change-a-bold-vision-for-cycling-and-walking.pdf 

General Aviation Roadmap. (2021). Retrieved from 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_d

ata/file/980399/general-aviation-roadmap-spring-2021.pdf 

Green Economy Coalition. (2017, September 20). Retrieved from Communal ownership drives 

Denmark's wind revolution: https://www.greeneconomycoalition.org/news-and-

resources/people-power-denmarks-energy-cooperatives 

Page 157



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 133  
 

Greening Mission Bay. (2005, August 1). Retrieved from Spur: 

https://www.spur.org/publications/urbanist-article/2005-08-01/greening-mission-bay 

Guardian. (2021, March 27th). Retrieved from UK government scraps green homes grant after six 

months: https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2021/mar/27/uk-government-scraps-

green-homes-grant-after-six-months 

Heart of the South West. (2021, March 31). Heart of the South West Local Skills Report. Retrieved 

from heartofswlep.co.uk: https://skillslaunchpad.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/Heart-

of-the-South-West-Skills-Launchpad-2021-2024-5mb-V2.pdf 

Heart of the South West. (2021, March 31). Local Skills Report Annex A: Core Indicators. Retrieved 

from skillslaunchpad.org: https://skillslaunchpad.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/Local-

Skills-Report-Annex-A-Core-Indicators.pdf 

Heart of the South West Local Industrial Strategy. (2020). Retrieved from 

https://heartofswlep.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/201119-Heart-of-the-South-West-

Local-Industrial-Strategy.pdf 

Heart of the South West: Local Skills Report. (2021, March 31). Retrieved from Skills Launchpad: 

https://skillslaunchpad.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/Skills-launchpad-report-31-

March-2021.pdf 

Heat and Building Strategy. (2021). Retrieved from 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_d

ata/file/1036226/E02666137_CP_388_Heat_and_Buildings_Accessible.pdf 

Heat and buildings strategy. (2021). Retrieved from Heat and buildings strategy: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/heat-and-buildings-strategy 

HESA. (2021, June). Table 4e - Intellectual property: Spin-off activities by HE provider 2014/15 to 

2019/20. Retrieved from hesa.ac.uk: https://www.hesa.ac.uk/data-and-

analysis/providers/business-community/table-4e 

HM Government. (2008, 11 26). Climate Change Act 2008. Retrieved 03 29, 2021, from 

legislation.gov.uk: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2008/27/contents 

HM Government. (2020). The Energy White Paper: Powering our Net Zero Future.  

HM Government. (2020, November). The Ten Point Plan for a Green Industrial Revolution. Retrieved 

from HM Government: 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_d

ata/file/936567/10_POINT_PLAN_BOOKLET.pdf 

HM Government. (2020a, November). The Ten Point Plan for a Green Industrial Revolution. Retrieved 

from HM Government: 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_d

ata/file/936567/10_POINT_PLAN_BOOKLET.pdf 

Page 158



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 134  
 

HMRC. (2021, April 22). Corporate tax: Research and Development Tax Credits. Retrieved from 

gov.uk: https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/corporate-tax-research-and-development-

tax-credit 

IDBR. (2020). Inter-Departmental Business Register. IDBR. 

IEA. (2020, March 6). Average annual capacity factors by technology, 2018. Retrieved from 

International Energy Agency: https://www.iea.org/data-and-statistics/charts/average-annual-

capacity-factors-by-technology-2018 

Industrial Decarbonisation Strategy. (2021). Retrieved from 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_d

ata/file/970229/Industrial_Decarbonisation_Strategy_March_2021.pdf 

Inside Copenhagen’s race to be the first carbon-neutral city. (2019, October 11). Retrieved from The 

Guardian: https://www.theguardian.com/cities/2019/oct/11/inside-copenhagens-race-to-be-

the-first-carbon-neutral-city 

Is this the greenest city in the world? (2008, March 23). Retrieved from The Guardian: 

https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2008/mar/23/freiburg.germany.greenest.city 

Lloyds Bank Business Barometer. (2021, May). Retrieved from 

https://www.lloydsbankinggroup.com/assets/pdfs/media/press-releases/2021-press-

releases/lloyds-bank/2021.05.28-may-business-barometer.pdf 

McKinsey & Comapny. (2021, June 25). Defining the skills citizens will need in the future world of 

work. Retrieved from mckinsey.com: https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/public-and-

social-sector/our-insights/defining-the-skills-citizens-will-need-in-the-future-world-of-work 

Miljøforvaltningen, T. o. (2012). CPH 2025 Climate Plan. Copenhagen: Teknik- og Miljøforvaltningen. 

Mission Bay Development Group. (n.d.). Retrieved from Mission Bay Development Group: 

https://www.mbaydevelopment.com/mission-bay-new 

National Grid. (2021). Network Route Maps. Retrieved from www.nationalgrid.com: 

https://www.nationalgrid.com/uk/electricity-transmission/network-and-

infrastructure/network-route-maps 

National Grid. (2021). Network Route Maps. Retrieved from 

https://www.nationalgrid.com/uk/electricity-transmission/network-and-

infrastructure/network-route-maps 

National Infrastructure Strategy. (2020). Retrieved from 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_d

ata/file/938539/NIS_Report_Web_Accessible.pdf 

Net Zero Strategy. (2021). Retrieved from Net Zero Strategy: 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_d

ata/file/1033990/net-zero-strategy-beis.pdf 

Page 159



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 135  
 

Nomis. (2021). Annual population survey. Retrieved from Nomis: 

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/construct/summary.asp?mode=construct&version=0&d

ataset=17 

Nomis. (2021). Business Register and Employment Survey. Retrieved from NOMIS: 

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/construct/summary.asp?mode=construct&version=0&d

ataset=189 

Ofgem. (2017). Unlocking the capacity of the electricity networks. Ofgem. 

Ofgem. (2020). RIIO-ED2 Methodology Decision: Overview. Ofgem. 

OFGEM. (2021). The GB transmission network. Retrieved from https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/: 

https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/gas/transmission-networks/gb-gas-transmission-network 

ONS. (2020, November 17). Business demography, UK. Retrieved from ons.gov.uk: 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/businessindustryandtrade/business/activitysizeandlocation/datasets

/businessdemographyreferencetable 

ONS. (2020, 06 24). Estimates of the population for the UK, England and Wales, Scotland and 

Northern Ireland. Retrieved from ONS People, population and community: 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populatio

nestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland 

ONS. (2020). Estimates of the population for the UK, England and Wales, Scotland and Northern 

Ireland. Retrieved from 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populatio

nestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland 

ONS. (2020). Median house prices for administrative geographies: HPSSA dataset 9. ONS. 

ONS. (2021, June 21). Median house prices for administrative geographies: HPSSA dataset 9. 

Retrieved from ons.gov.uk: 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/housing/datasets/medianhousepri

cefornationalandsubnationalgeographiesquarterlyrollingyearhpssadataset09/current 

ONS. (2021, May 26). Regional gross domestic product: local authorities. Retrieved from ons.gov.uk: 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/grossdomesticproductgdp/datasets/regionalgrossdomesti

cproductlocalauthorities 

Parliament, U. (2021). Constituency data: broadband coverage and speeds. Retrieved from 

commonslibrary.parliament.uk: https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/constituency-data-

broadband-coverage-and-speeds/ 

Parliamentary Office of Science and Technology. (2001). Postnote - U.K. Electricity Network. 

Parliamentary Office of Science and Technology. 

Planning Act. (2008). Retrieved from https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2008/29/contents 

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. (2004). Retrieved from Legislation.gov.uk: 

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/contents 

Page 160



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 136  
 

Planning for the Future. (2020). Retrieved from 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_d

ata/file/958420/MHCLG-Planning-Consultation.pdf 

RTPI. (2019). Planning for a smart energy future. .  

Scandinavica.com. (2004). The world's leader in Wind Power. Scandinavica. 

Selling value of electricity and gas for all consumers in the United Kingdom (UK) from 2010 to 2019. 

(2020, Nov 23). Retrieved from statista: https://www.statista.com/statistics/545396/value-

electricity-gas-all-consumers-united-kingdom-uk/ 

SGN. (2020a). Data provided for gas network lines. 

Shared Workspaces and Co-working in 2020. (2020). Retrieved from 

https://www.coworkingresources.org/blog/the-future-of-shared-

workspaces?utm_source=cwr&utm_medium=cta-banner&utm_campaign=coworking-in-2020 

Skills for Jobs: lifelong Learning for Opportunity and Growth. (2021). Retrieved from 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_d

ata/file/957856/Skills_for_jobs_lifelong_learning_for_opportunity_and_growth__web_versio

n_.pdf 

Spending Review. (2020). Retrieved from https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/spending-

review-2020-documents/spending-review-2020 

Statistica. (2020, November 12). Average load factor of renewable energies in the United Kingdom 

(UK) from 2015 to 2019, by source. Retrieved from Statistica: 

https://www.statista.com/statistics/383314/average-renewable-energy-load-factor-in-the-

united-kingdom-uk/ 

Subsidy Control Consultation. (2020). Retrieved from 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_d

ata/file/957958/subsidy-control-consultation-document.pdf 

Team Devon COVID-19 Economic and Business Recovery Prospectus. (2020). Retrieved from 

https://devoncc.sharepoint.com/sites/PublicDocs/Corporate/Council/Forms/AllItems.aspx?id

=%2Fsites%2FPublicDocs%2FCorporate%2FCouncil%2FCoronavirus%20advice%20in%20Devon

%2FTeam%20Devon%20COVID%2D19%20Economy%20and%20Business%20Recovery%20Pro

spectus%2Epdf&p 

The Global Cities Where Tech Venture Capital Is Concentrated. (2016). Retrieved from 

https://www.theatlantic.com/technology/archive/2016/01/global-startup-cities-venture-

capital/429255/ 

The Green Book. (Updated 2020). Retrieved from 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_d

ata/file/938046/The_Green_Book_2020.pdf 

Page 161



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 137  
 

The impact of the Coronavirus pandemic on the aviation sector. (2020). Retrieved from 

https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/1452/documents/13275/default/ 

The National Planning Policy Framework. (Updated 2019). Retrieved from 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_d

ata/file/810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf 

These are the UK tech hubs that will thrive after the pandemic. (2021). Retrieved from Wired: 

https://www.wired.co.uk/article/uk-tech-hubs-pandemic 

Transport Decarbonisation Plan . (2021). Retrieved from 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_d

ata/file/1009448/decarbonising-transport-a-better-greener-britain.pdf 

UK aviation sector worth £15 billion before pandemic. (2021, June 18). Retrieved from Travel Mole: 

https://www.travelmole.com/news_feature.php?news_id=2044635 

UK Economic Outlook. (2021, June). Retrieved from KPMG: 

https://assets.kpmg/content/dam/kpmg/uk/pdf/2021/06/kpmg-uk-economic-outlook-june-

2021-report.pdf 

UK EV charging infrastructure update (part 2): Show me the money. (2021, June 18). Retrieved from 

Deloitte: https://www2.deloitte.com/uk/en/pages/energy-and-resources/articles/uk-ev-

charging-infrastructure-update-show-me-the-money.html 

UK Hydrogen Strategy. (2021). Retrieved from 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_d

ata/file/1011283/UK-Hydrogen-Strategy_web.pdf 

What is the contribution of rural Enterprise in Levelling Up and how can this be further enabled? 

(2021, March). Retrieved from NICRE: 

https://www.ncl.ac.uk/mediav8/nicre/files/What%20is%20the%20contribution%20of%20rura

l%20enterprise%20to%20Levelling%20Up,%20and%20how%20can%20this%20be%20further

%20enabled.pdf 

WPD. (2020, 11). Long term development. Retrieved 04 25, 2021, from Western Power Distribution: 

https://www.westernpower.co.uk/our-network/long-term-

development#:~:text=Long%20term%20development%20The%20Long%20Term%20Develop

ment%20Statement,new%20or%20additional%20use%20of%20our%20distribution%20syste

m. 

WPD. (2020f). Green Recovery Call for Evidence. Retrieved from www.westernpower.co.uk: 

https://www.westernpower.co.uk/green-recovery/ 

WPD. (2021a, Janurary). Network Capacity. Retrieved from https://www.westernpower.co.uk/: 

https://www.westernpower.co.uk/our-network/network-capacity-map/ 

WPD. (2021b). Distributed generation EHV constraint maps. Retrieved from 

https://www.westernpower.co.uk: https://www.westernpower.co.uk/our-

network/distributed-generation-ehv-constraint-maps 

Page 162



A Clean Growth Vision for Development in East Devon | Devon County Council 

 
 

Page | 138  
 

WPD. (2021c). Network Capacity Map. Retrieved from Western Power Distribution: 

https://www.westernpower.co.uk/our-network/network-capacity-map/ 

WPD. (2021d). Distribution Future Energy Scenarios Application. Retrieved from 

www.westernpower.co.uk: https://www.westernpower.co.uk/distribution-future-energy-

scenarios-application 

WPD. (2021e). Constraint Management Zone (CMZ) - Polygons. Retrieved from 

connecteddata.westernpower.co.uk: 

https://connecteddata.westernpower.co.uk/dataset/constraint-management-zone-cmz-

polygons 

WWU. (2020). WWU Long Term Development Statement 2020. Retrieved from 

www.wwutilities.co.uk: https://www.wwutilities.co.uk/media/3902/wwu-long-term-

developement-statement-2020.pdf 

WWU. (2021). Data files provided showing the Gas Network Lines. 

 

 

Page 163



Appendix 1 
 

SMART GRID and Energy Trading Research Centre 

Opportunity 1:  Smart Grid and Energy Trading Research Centre £15m 

Project Name Smart Grid and Energy Trading Research Centre 

Size 35,000 sq ft 

Indicative Cost £15m (depending on land price) 

Jobs Potential 350-400 

GVA Potential £17.7m 

Location In the enterprise zone (Either directly linked to the Science Park or on new land close 
to the Airport).  Critically, the centre is proximate to the Fab Link grid connection 
point and potential future Bulk Supply point at Broadclyst.   

Partnerships Links to the University of Exeter Engineering Department, Western Power Distribution 
Innovation Team, HotSW LEP Energy Group, Met Office. 

 

The role of the Smart Grid and Energy Trading Research Centre can be summarised as follows:  

• Attracting companies to come to work with the University of Exeter to establish and grow their business. 

Companies will be attracted by the co-location with the Fab Link grid connection, opportunity for innovative 

trials, the clustering of expertise and East Devon SMART Grid system. 

• Engaging ‘upstream’ with cutting-edge power-grids, optimisation and financial mechanisms research. 

• Engage ‘downstream’ with the skills development, Entrepreneurship and Higher Education providers to 

encourage research spin-outs and graduate/post graduate start-ups. 

• Provide a key conduit for SMART Energy projects including research grants, commercial innovation and 

large-scale demonstrators. 

Opportunity 2:  East Devon Private Wire Feasibility Study 

Project Name East Devon Private Wire Feasibility Study 

Duration 6 month feasibility study 

Indicative Cost £50,000-£75,000 

Jobs Potential TBC 

GVA Potential Potential reduction in grid connection costs with resulting economic benefits 

Location Opportunity to take connection from FABLink  

Partnerships Links to the University of Exeter Engineering Department, Western Power Distribution 
Innovation Team and HotSW LEP Energy Group. 

 

The aim of the East Devon Private Wire Feasibility Study is to: 

• Understand and model alternatives to direct investment in grid infrastructure assuming an immediate 

investment of £10m and seeking to compare against forecast grid upgrade costs to 2040. 

• Develop the techno-economic case for investment. 

• Exploring whether battery storage could reduce grid connection requirements. 

• Secure potential anchor sites and users, investigating their power needs and operating model to enable the 

Private Wire network to deliver these. 

• Investigate regulatory challenges and how these can be overcome. 

• Liaise with BEIS and other funding bodies regarding innovation funding for a large-scale demonstrator. 

 

 

 

Zero-Carbon Place-Making 

Energy from Nature 

Page 164



ZERO Carbon Community and Living Lab 

Opportunity 3:  Zero Carbon Community and Living Lab 

Project Name ZERO Carbon Community and Living Lab 

Size Zero Carbon Living Lab focused on the delivery of 1,000 zero carbon homes. 

Indicative GDV £300m-£400m 

Jobs Potential 3001.  This would require refinement based on specific benefits of the Living Lab. 

GVA Potential £15.2m ongoing.  This could be substantially higher if the community and live lab 
projects link through to innovation in the built environment. 

Location A network Zero Carbon villages, based on the principles of the 20-minute 
neighbourhood, nestled between the A30 and A3052, supported by a Built 
Environment Innovation Hub.   

Partnerships Links to the University of Exeter, Exeter College, Homes England, and nationally 
recognised innovators in the Built Environment e.g. UKGBC, LETI 

 

Opportunity 4:  Built Environment Innovation and Skills Hub 

 

Project Name Built Environment Innovation and Skills Hub  

Size 20,000 sq ft 

Indicative Cost £10m (depending on land price) 

Jobs Impacted 2,000 workers up-skilled annually 

GVA Potential £15m (assumes a blend of increased GVA/job based on skills uplift and new start-ups) 

Location In the enterprise zone (Either directly linked to the Science Park or on new land close 
to the Airport and Future Skills Centre).  Critically, the centre is proximate to the Low 
Carbon Developments in East Devon.   

Partnerships Links to the University of Exeter, Exeter College, Homes England, nationally 
recognised innovators in the Built Environment e.g. UKGBC, LETI and local and 
national contractors and developers (e.g. Bloor Homes, Redrow, Kier etc.). 

 

Sustainable Aviation Research Centre 

Opportunity 5:  Sustainable Aviation Research Centre 

Project Name Sustainable Aviation Research Centre 

Size 35,000 sq ft plus hangar space and re-fuelling facilities 

Indicative Cost £20m (depending on land price) 

Jobs Potential 350-400 locally, with significant impact on UK research 

GVA Potential £20m 

Location Located on the North side of the Airport, London Road.  The site is currently owned 
by the Airport. 

Partnerships Linked to a University investment in sustainable aviation research.  Exeter Airport.  
Loganair/Ampaire.  Sustainable Aviation UK. Rigby Group Plc and Wider Industry 
partners.   

The role of the Sustainable Aviation Research Centre can be summarised as follows:  

• Promoting research into sustainable aviation technology including sustainable fuels 

• Providing space for technological advancements into sustainable aviation 

• Generating increased use of sustainable flight through the provision of renewable refuelling capabilities, 

whilst generating new revenue streams 

• Provide a commercial base for Sustainable Aviation Research  

• Attract Sustainable Aviation companies to establish and grow their businesses at Exeter Airport.   

 
1 3.1 jobs for every home built.  Drawn from “The Economic Footprint of House Building in England and Wales”, 2018.  To adjust 
for potential source bias we have reduced this by a factor of 10 before applying. 

Invest & Learn 

Inclusive Growth 

Zero-Carbon Place-Making 

Page 165



Zero Carbon Finance 

Opportunity 6:  Sustainable Finance Cluster 

Project Name Sustainable Finance Cluster 

Size Initial work-hub cluster 15,000 sq ft with grow on space 

Indicative Cost £6-7m (depending on land price) 

Jobs Potential 100-150 locally 

GVA Potential £8.75m, while demonstrating potential for the sector to uplift productivity 

Location A number of locations could be possible.  There is potential benefit to locating the 
cluster next to the Smart Grid and Energy Trading Research centre to combine 
financing expertise with energy expertise. 

Partnerships Links to the University of Exeter Business School, BEIS, UK Infrastructure Bank, Met 
Office 

 

Opportunity 7:  Crystal Clear Clyst Bond Design Study 

Project Name Crystal Clear Clyst Bond Design Study 

Duration 12 month feasibility study 

Indicative Cost £100,000-£110,000 

Jobs Potential TBC 

GVA Potential Potential maintenance and skills development 

Location Opportunity for study to be undertaken locally and skills retained within the region  

Partnerships Links to the University of Exeter Business School, Environment Agency, DEFRA 

 

Clean Growth Gateway Park 

Opportunity 8:  Clean Growth Gateway Park 

Project Name Clean Growth Gateway Park 

Size Potentially significant site comprising: 

• Dedicated EV Service Station 

• Farm shop 

• Electric / Hydrogen Freight Re-fuelling facilities 

• Warehousing 

• Energy Storage capabilities 

Indicative Cost Private sector 

Jobs Potential 200+ depending on site configuration 

GVA Potential £10m but potentially larger depending on site configuration 

Location Within proximity to the Strategic Road Network 

Partnerships Local food and drink supplier 

 

Invest & Learn 

Zero-Carbon Place-Making 

Zero-Carbon Place-Making 

Page 166



 

Figure 1: Gridserve’s First UK Electric Forecourt in Essex 

The aim of the Clean Growth Gateway Park and Mobility Hub is to: 

• Support the transition to electric passenger vehicles and provide future facilities and infrastructure for zero 

carbon freight.  

• Offers a potential site for a Mobility and Interchange Hub to reduce personal travel into Exeter and wider 

developments. 

• Offers the potential to reduce congestion on the Strategic Road Network. 

Page 167





1 

 

 

Impact Assessment 
 

Assessment of: A Clean Growth Vision for Development      

Service:  Economy Enterprise and Skills 

Head of Service:    Keri Denton 

Version / date of sign off by Head of Service:   20/12/21 

Assessment carried out by (job title):   Melanie Sealey 
 

1. Description of project / service / activity / policy under review 
This study was carried out to consider the opportunities for clean growth in the West of East Devon to feed in as evidence to the East Devon 

District Council local plan consultation process. The Council has declared a climate emergency and committed to reach net zero for the Council in 

2030 and for the County by 2050. This study helps identify how the Council can support economic growth in future, while meeting its net zero 

ambitions through sector innovation, natural capital investment, green skills and reducing emissions from transport and energy, focussing on part 

of East Devon. 

 

2. Reason for change / review 
Devon has declared a climate emergency. The report has been commissioned as a pilot approach by the Council to support establishing a clear 

P
age 169



2 

 

framework for transitioning to a net zero economy. This approach can be applied to support other local plan development at the appropriate time, 

and subject to budget, to support the Devon Carbon Plan implementation. 

 

3. Aims / objectives, limitations and options going forwards (summary)  
If endorsed by the Council the report will become part of the evidence base for the East Devon local plan consultation. 

4. People affected, diversity profile and analysis of needs 
The vision is based on the idea that long-term job growth will be focused on knowledge-based assets and increased innovation.  This is linked to 

Redefining how we work and live well - unrivalled potential for the provision of a world-class lifestyle offer, set within the context of the Clyst Valley 

Regional Park and offers the potential for new types of workspace, that seize the opportunities for hybrid working. Also for Zero-Carbon Place-

making - ensuring that every home is designed to be zero carbon and to create a sustainable, net zero carbon community. So the intention is for 

the residents of the area to have an improved quality of life across all aspects of diversity. 

 

5. Stakeholders, their interest and potential impacts 
Stakeholders include local residents, businesses and the public sector. The aim of the study is to generate opportunities for growth, innovation, 

skills and jobs in the area covered without negatively impacting on our net zero targets, in fact by maximising the opportunity from them. The 

intention is for impacts to be positive for residents, businesses and the environment. 

6. Additional research used to inform this assessment 
This assessment is of a research piece of work, so no additional research has been carried out. 

7. Description of consultation process and outcomes 
If endorsed by the Council, the report will act as evidence and go into the East Devon local plan consultation process. This is online on the East 

Devon District Council website for all to input to for a defined period. 

8. Equality analysis 
 

P
age 170



3 

 

Giving Due Regard to Equality and Human Rights    
                                                                                                           

The local authority must consider how people will be affected by the service, policy or practice.  In so doing we must give due regard to the need 

to: eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation; advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations. 

 

Where relevant, we must take into account the protected characteristics of age, disability, gender, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, 

marriage and civil partnership, sexual orientation, race, and religion and belief.  This means considering how people with different needs get the 

different services they require and are not disadvantaged, and facilities are available to them on an equal basis in order to meet their needs; 

advancing equality of opportunity by recognising the disadvantages to which protected groups are subject and considering how they can be 

overcome.  

 

We also need to ensure that human rights are protected. In particular, that people have: 

• A reasonable level of choice in where and how they live their life and interact with others (this is an aspect of the human right to ‘private and 

family life’).   

• An appropriate level of care which results in dignity and respect (the protection  to a private and family life, protection  from torture and the 

freedom of thought, belief and religion within the Human Rights Act and elimination of discrimination and the promotion of good relations 

under the Equality Act 2010).  

• A right to life (ensuring that nothing we do results in unlawful or unnecessary/avoidable death). 

• The Equality Act 2010 and other relevant legislation does not prevent the Council from taking difficult decisions which result in service 

reductions or closures for example, it does however require the Council to ensure that such decisions are: 

o Informed and properly considered with a rigorous, conscious approach and open mind, taking due regard of the effects on the 

protected characteristics and the general duty to eliminate discrimination, advance equality and foster good relations. 

o Proportionate (negative impacts are proportionate to the aims of the policy decision) 

o Fair  

o Necessary  

o Reasonable, and 

o Those affected have been adequately consulted. 

P
age 171



4 

 

Characteristics Potential or actual issues for this 

group. 

 

[Please refer to the Diversity Guide 

and See RED] 

How will the project / service / policy / activity: 

• eliminate or reduce the potential for direct or indirect discrimination, 

harassment or disadvantage, where necessary. 

• advance equality (meet needs / ensure access, encourage 

participation, make adjustments for disabled people, ‘close gaps’). 

• foster good relations between groups (tackled prejudice and 

promoted understanding), if relevant? 

In what way do you consider any negative consequences to be reasonable 

and proportionate in order to achieve a legitimate aim? 

Are you complying with the DCC Equality Policy? 

All residents (include 

generic equality 

provisions) 

All residents have an equal right to 

input into local planning 

consultation processes 

No impact 

Age Older people need to be considered 

regarding use of public transport 

and new technology in any 

recommendations. 

No impact although if recommendations were implemented in future, these 

factors would need to be considered. 

Disability (incl. sensory, 

mobility, mental health, 

learning disability, 

neurodiversity, long term 

ill health) and carers of 

disabled people 

Disabled people need to be 

considered regarding use of public 

transport and new technology, such 

as electric vehicles in any 

recommendations. 

No impact, although if recommendations were implemented in future, these 

factors would need to be considered. 

Culture and ethnicity: 

nationality/national origin, 

ethnic origin/race, skin 

colour, religion and belief 

None specifically – climate change 

affects all Devon residents equally. 

No impact 

Sex, gender and gender 

identity (including men, 

None specifically – climate change 

affects all Devon residents equally. 

No impact 

P
age 172

https://www.devon.gov.uk/equality/communities/diversity/guide
https://www.devon.gov.uk/impact/toolkit/seeing-red/
https://www.devon.gov.uk/equality/policy-and-legislation/equality-policy


5 

 

Characteristics Potential or actual issues for this 

group. 

 

[Please refer to the Diversity Guide 

and See RED] 

How will the project / service / policy / activity: 

• eliminate or reduce the potential for direct or indirect discrimination, 

harassment or disadvantage, where necessary. 

• advance equality (meet needs / ensure access, encourage 

participation, make adjustments for disabled people, ‘close gaps’). 

• foster good relations between groups (tackled prejudice and 

promoted understanding), if relevant? 

In what way do you consider any negative consequences to be reasonable 

and proportionate in order to achieve a legitimate aim? 

Are you complying with the DCC Equality Policy? 

women, non-binary and 

transgender people), and 

pregnancy and maternity 

(including women’s right 

to breastfeed) 

Sexual orientation and 

marriage/civil partnership 

None specifically – climate change 

affects all Devon residents equally. 

No impact 

Other relevant socio-

economic factors such as 

family size/single 

people/lone parents, 

income/deprivation, 

housing, education and 

skills, literacy, sub-cultures, 

‘digital exclusion’, access 

to transport options, 

rural/urban 

Rural transport options need to be 

considered regarding use of public 

transport and new technology, such 

as electric vehicles in any 

recommendations. 

No impact, although if recommendations were implemented in future, these 

factors would need to be considered. 

 

P
age 173

https://www.devon.gov.uk/equality/communities/diversity/guide
https://www.devon.gov.uk/impact/toolkit/seeing-red/
https://www.devon.gov.uk/equality/policy-and-legislation/equality-policy


6 

 

  

P
age 174



7 

 

9. Human rights considerations: 
No negative consequences envisaged. 

 

10. Supporting independence, wellbeing and resilience. Give consideration to the groups listed 

above and how they may have different needs: 

In what way can you support and create opportunities for people and communities (of place and interest) to be independent, 

empowered and resourceful?  

 
There are no negative impacts on equality considerations from a decision to endorse this report. The report is aiming to improve the life of 

residents in the area, particularly around aspects of sustainability but also considering improvements to work life balance and reducing the impact 

on the local environment, making communities more resilient. 

In what way can you help people to be safe, protected from harm, and with good health and wellbeing?  
Not applicable 

In what way can you help people to be connected, and involved in community activities?  
Not applicable 

11. Environmental analysis 

An impact assessment should give due regard to the following activities in order to ensure we meet a range of environmental legal duties. The 

policy or practice does not require the identification of environmental impacts using this Impact Assessment process because it is subject to (please 

mark X in the relevant box below and proceed to the 4c, otherwise complete the environmental analysis table): 

P
age 175



8 

 

Devon County Council’s Environmental Review Process   

Planning Permission   

Environmental Impact Assessment   

Strategic Environmental Assessment    

 

P
age 176



9 

 

 Describe any actual or potential negative 

consequences.  

(Consider how to mitigate against these). 

Describe any actual or potential neutral or positive 

outcomes. 

(Consider how to improve as far as possible). 

Reduce, reuse, recycle and 

compost:  

No impact identified. The report aims to reduce waste and improve recycling 

and reuse, including composting. 

Conserve and enhance 

wildlife:  

No impact identified. The report aims to maximise the biodiversity benefits from 

clean growth, including in the Clyst valley regional park. 

Safeguard the distinctive 

characteristics, features and 

special qualities of Devon’s 

landscape:  

The report is feeding into East Devon’s local plan 

with an aim to make growth net zero. However 

growth could have an impact on Devon’s 

landscape. These would be safeguarded through 

the planning process. 

Clean growth aims to reduce carbon and transport 

emissions, improving the enjoyment of Devon’s landscape. 

Conserve and enhance Devon’s 

cultural and historic heritage:  

Any impacts would be safeguarded through the 

planning process. 

No impact identified. 

Minimise greenhouse gas 

emissions:  

No impact identified. The report shows how greenhouse gas emissions can be 

minimised while jobs and growth are created in innovative 

sectors, that help meet net zero targets. 

Minimise pollution (including 

air, land, water, light and 

noise):  

Any impacts would be safeguarded through the 

planning process. 

The report shows how emissions can be minimised while 

jobs and growth are created in innovative sectors, that help 

meet net zero targets. 

Contribute to reducing water 

consumption:  

Any impacts would be safeguarded through the 

planning process. 

The report aims to minimise water consumption from new 

growth. 

P
age 177



10 

 

Ensure resilience to the future 

effects of climate change 

(warmer, wetter winters; drier, 

hotter summers; more intense 

storms; and rising sea level):  

No impact identified. The report is aimed towards making growth net zero, so 

that it does not further impact on climate change and 

some innovative solutions proposed could have a positive 

effect on future resilience. 

Other (please state below):    

 

12. Economic analysis 
 

 Describe any actual or potential negative 

consequences.  

(Consider how to mitigate against these).  

Describe any actual or potential neutral or positive 

outcomes. 

(Consider how to improve as far as possible). 

Impact on knowledge and 

skills: 

No impact identified. The report shows key sectors for growth in knowledge and 

skills linked to net zero growth 

Impact on employment levels: No impact identified. The report shows key sectors for job creation linked to net 

zero growth 

Impact on local business: No impact identified. The report shows innovation and business opportunities 

linked to net zero growth 

 

13. Describe and linkages or conflicts between social, environmental and economic impacts 

(Combined Impacts): 
The report identifies the links between social, environmental and economic impacts of clean growth in the area covered. No conflicts identified. 

P
age 178



11 

 

14. How will the economic, social and environmental well-being of the relevant area be 

improved through what is being proposed?  And how, in conducting the process of 

procurement, might that improvement be secured? 
The Clean Growth Vision developed for the west of East Devon supports the development of clean growth sectors, skills and technologies in the 

area and provides recommendations and catalytic projects for future investment. So this improves the social, economic and environmental 

wellbeing of the area, should the recommendations be implemented.  

  

 

15. How will impacts and actions be monitored? 
No direct impacts, so no monitoring required at this stage.  

P
age 179





CSO/22/1 
Cabinet  

12 January 2022 
 
NOTICES OF MOTION 
 
Report of the County Solicitor 
 
Recommendation: that consideration be given to any recommendations to be made to 
the County Council in respect of the Notice of Motion set out hereunder having regard to 
the relevant factual briefing/background papers and any other representations made to 
the Cabinet. 
~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
 
The NoticeS of Motion submitted to the County Council by the CouncillorS shown below 
have been referred to the Cabinet in accordance with Standing Order 8(2) - for 
consideration, reference to another committee or to make a recommendation back to the 
Council.   
 
A factual ‘Briefing Note/Position Statement’ prepared by the relevant Chief Officer and / 
or Head of Service is also included, to facilitate the Cabinet’s discussion of each Notice 
of Motion.  
 

(a) Restoring Railway Resilience (Councillor Hannaford) 

 
Council warmly welcomes and celebrates the restoration of the Okehampton to 
Exeter daily rail services after an absence of forty nine years.  

 
After many years of strong cross party support at Devon County Council, we are 
especially pleased and proud that the first reopening under the governments “ 
Restoring Your Railway Programme” has taken place at the heart of Devon.  

 
Hopefully heralding a national railway service revival across the whole country, 
that will see a transformational change in commuter movements, and a substantial 
reduction in harmful emissions.  

  
Council also welcomes the £50,000 to develop a business case to reinstate 
passenger rail links between Tavistock and Plymouth, and the new additional 
funding to reopen Cullompton Railway Station.  

 
However, council is greatly concerned, that there is still an estimated huge gap in 
regional railway service investment of 4.5 billion for the South West Region, based 
on its ONS projected population over the period to 2045. 

 
Therefore in order to continue to build upon the restoring your railway programme, 
increase the far South West’s general connectivity, secure our railway resilience, 
and crucially assist with the climate emergency, council commits its active 
support, working with others to lobby, help facilitate, and advocate for the 
following projects; 
 
 The completion of the Great Western electrification programme. 

Page 181

Agenda Item 9



 The development of the North of Dartmoor line, connecting Plymouth, via 
Okehampton and Tavistock.  

 Additional passing loops, and an increase in line speeds, between Exeter and 
Salisbury to improve journey times between Exeter and Waterloo Station.  

 Encouraging and working with the logistics sector to commit to a serious 
switch to rail freight for the distribution of consumer goods, food, and industrial 
products. 

 
Furthermore, Council resolves to make formal representations to the Government, 
national and regional transport bodies, the business sector, and our local Devon 
Members of Parliament, to secure the necessary funding and investment to 
progress these much needed and long awaited improvements. 

 

Briefing Note / Position Statement from the Head of Planning, 
Transportation and Environment   

  
The County Council has for several years been working in partnership with its 
Peninsula local authorities of Cornwall Council, Plymouth City Council, Torbay 
Council and Somerset County Council to make the case for investment in rail. 
This collaborative effort culminated in the publication of its 20-year plan for rail in 
2016, which was presented by the Peninsula Rail Task Force to Government in 
the House of Commons. Five authorities speaking with a united voice and backed 
by our South West MPs has helped make significant progress in delivering a more 
resilient and better-connected railway with increased capacity and comfort for its 
passengers. 
 
Since the report was published, over £300m investment has been secured to 
improve our railway, as follows:  
 

 Over £50m investment in improving resilience of the line north of Cowley and 
in Somerset Levels 

 Over £120m and a further £30m committed to deliver a new sea wall and 
promenade in Dawlish, including cliff stabilisation and rock fall shelters at 
tunnel portals between Dawlish and Teignmouth. 

 Over £40m to reopen the Dartmoor Line between Exeter, Crediton and 
Okehampton 

 Over £50m investment in creating 21st century maintenance depot facilities at 
Exeter St David’s and Long Rock (Penzance), capable of servicing longer 
trains 

 £30m Cornwall mainline re-signalling to increase capacity for better local 
services 

 £14m refurbishment of the Sleeper Service 

 New Inter-City Express Trains delivered with significantly increased seating 
capacity for passengers on an hourly speeded up timetable, and 

 Improved rail services offering better connectivity, including: 
o 2-hourly semi-fast trains between Paddington and Exeter 
o 2 trains per hour even headway Plymouth-Penzance 
o Extra XCT services between Bristol and Exeter 
o Half hourly service Exmouth – Paignton 

Page 182

Agenda Item 9



o New Stations Fund monies secured for Marsh Barton Station (Exeter) 
and Edginswell Station (Torbay) 

 
 
Changing Rail Context 
 
Since the publication of the 20-year plan there have been significant impacts on 
the rail industry as result of the COVID-19 pandemic, which has required a review 
of the Peninsula’s rail priorities. For instance, travel patterns have changed 
dramatically, with fewer ‘9-5 workers’ travelling daily to their offices and 
confidence in travelling on public transport reduced through fear of infection. In the 
South West passenger numbers have recovered stronger than in other parts of 
the country due to having a strong leisure and education market less dependent 
on commuter and business travel; however nationally revenues are significantly 
down and so a medium-term priority for Government is to reduce the level of 
subsidy. 
 
Decarbonisation of transport and tackling climate change is now a much higher 
priority for local authorities. While rail is already a low carbon mode of transport, 
the South West has ageing diesel train fleets and so low carbon traction options, 
including the transfer of more road freight to rail, are key aspirations for the 
Peninsula region. 
 
The Levelling Up agenda, which aims to revitalise disadvantaged communities 
and redress economic imbalances, has also gained a higher profile nationally. 
Following the recent publication of the Integrated Rail Plan for the North and 
Midlands, it is important that the South West region, which has some of the lowest 
levels of productivity in the country, is also able to present a compelling case for 
further investment in its fragile rail network. 
 
The above changes have accelerated the need for industry reforms with an initial 
focus on revenue recovery efforts post-COVID and establishing 'a strategic freight 
unit' to boost the sector and deliver a cleaner and greener future. Great British 
Railways (GBR) has been created to drive forward these reforms and Devon 
County Council, through its Peninsula Transport Sub National Transport Body 
involvement, will be meeting with the GBR transition team in early January 2022 
as part of their call for evidence. 
 
Rail Strategy Refresh 
 
Taking into account the changing policy context, the impact of the pandemic and 
rail industry reforms, the Peninsula local authorities are again working 
collaboratively through the Peninsula Transport Sub National Transport Body to 
refresh its Rail Strategy. Speaking with a single voice as a region, backed by 
South West MPs, is the most effective way to secure further investment in our 
railway, including the areas identified in this notice of motion. 
 
In response to the specific proposals, the escalating costs of electrification have 
significantly reduced the prospects of the electrification programme extending into 
the South West. Despite this, the Peninsula authorities remain keen on exploring 
potential for discrete sections of electrification west of Newton Abbot and wishes 
to explore other low carbon traction options. For instance, the Peninsula 

Page 183

Agenda Item 9



authorities are interested in the outcomes of GWR’s trial of battery-powered trains 
on the Greenford branchline in London. 
 
The Restoring Your Railway Ideas Fund monies secured by the County Council 
for Tavistock to Plymouth rail line is an important milestone as it means it is now 
formally recognised by Government as a pipeline rail industry scheme. We have 
seen with Cullompton Railway Station that the Ideas Fund led to it gaining 
Strategic Outline Business Case approval and unlocking future development 
funding. We are prioritising this work as the next phase of the northern route 
railway and hope to build on the momentum gained from the successful Dartmoor 
Line reopening. This was a hugely successful project showcasing what can be 
achieved when local authorities, the rail industry and the local community work 
closely together. The Tavistock to Plymouth Rail business case work involving 
partners will start in January 2022. 
 
The County Council has previously made the case for passing loops west of 
Honiton and the infrastructure has been identified in the industry’s West of 
England Line Study 2020. It remains a high priority for the Peninsula as there are 
multiple benefits for rail passengers achieved through strengthening the second 
strategic rail line into the South West. This includes: 
 

 Improved resilience, enabling greater capacity to divert Paddington to Exeter 
trains via Yeovil junction 

 Improved reliability of journeys, currently constrained by single line sections   

 Increased frequency of services between Exeter and East Devon towns and 
potential for cross city services from west/north of the city through to East 
Devon locations  

 
Finally, regarding freight, the South West Sub National Transport Bodies have 
jointly commissioned a freight strategy, which is nearing completion. The strategy 
includes recommendations that support mode shift of freight to rail, including 
establishing a plan for a network of rail freight intermodal terminals in the South 
West and ensuring the rail industry allocates sufficient freight train paths on the 
main line and diversionary routes. We will continue to develop these proposals 
and build this into the emerging rail strategy plans for the Peninsula. 
 
The County Council is committed to decarbonising transport and securing 
improved strategic rail connections into the South West in line with what has been 
proposed in the notice of motion. This can be most effectively achieved through 
developing a Peninsula-wide Rail Strategy that is well aligned with stakeholder 
aspirations and responds positively to the planned Great British Railways industry 
reforms. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 184

Agenda Item 9



(b) After COP 26 (Councillor Atkinson) 

 
The final draft of the COP26 agreement recognises " the urgent need for multilevel and 
cooperative action." which is understood by those negotiating on behalf of local 
government to refer to governance, and mean that action should include all levels of 
government from local to central. 

 
This Council  
 

 will work with Government and Local Government networks, to make sure the COP26 
text is translated into  meaningful  local and national programmes to reduce carbon 
which are supported by agreed and sufficient financing by Government;    

 demands that national plans formulated by the Government are discussed and 
negotiated between local and devolved Governments and not imposed centrally by 
Government; 

 demands that when the Government promotes new financial measures addressing 
climate change, these should be discussed with local governments and associations 
before implementation to ensure that the resources are used effectively  at a local 
level and provide value for money; and 

 considers the current national Government competitive approach introduced in 2010, 
which has introduced an array of short-term and one-off funding pots for which 
Councils have to dedicate resources to bidding for  to access to often small pots of 
money is not an effective way to address action to reduces global warming. 

 

Briefing Note / Position Statement from the Head of Planning, 
Transportation and Environment   

 
Devon County Council declared a climate emergency in February 2019. The 
Authority convened the Devon Climate Emergency partnership with the aim of 
“Creating a resilient, net-zero carbon Devon – where people and nature thrive.” 
The Devon Climate Declaration commits partners to collaborating to achieve net-
zero emissions in Devon by 2050 at the latest. 
 
Partners include all tiers of government in Devon with town and parish councils 
being represented by the Devon Association of Local Councils. The Devon 
Carbon Plan being prepared by the partnership provides the strategic overview 
and will nest with similar plans being developed at district and town & parish level. 
Carbon emissions data and activity-planning toolkits have been provided for town 
and parish councils to start acting alongside the strategic actions in the Devon 
Carbon Plan. 
 
The Interim Devon Carbon Plan, which was prepared whilst the Devon Climate 
Assembly was being planned and delivered, makes clear that cooperation with 
national government to develop new funding streams and regulatory mechanisms 
will be vital to achieve net-zero. 
 
This authority regularly communicates with government on matters relating to the 
climate emergency, including through the Devon Local Nature Partnership, the 
Heart of the South West Local Enterprise Partnership, the South West Energy 
Hub, and the Environment Board of the Association of Directors of Environment, 
Planning & Transport. 

 

 

Page 185

Agenda Item 9



(c) Behaviour Change and Phasing Out Fossil Fuels (Councillor 
Hodgson) 

 

Further to the outcomes of COP26, which failed to secure strong commitments to 
phase out fossil fuels, this council will seek to support behaviour change in 
residents and businesses in the County by implementing initiatives modelled on 
the Welsh Government’s One Planet Standard and associated Policies.  This will 
include a commitment to switch funding from fossil fuel intense (e.g. new road 
building) projects to alternative (e.g. Active Travel) projects that will support low 
carbon, and healthier lifestyles. 

 
Background information at this link - 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=eSDnAnpaGHs  

 

Briefing Note / Position Statement from the Head of Planning, 
Transportation and Environment   

 

The One Planet Standard 
 

The One Planet Standard encourages organisations to respect planet Earth’s 
natural boundaries and capacities by adjusting the impacts of their activities to a 
level that one planet could provide for. The principle goes beyond that of a carbon 
footprint to include an organisation’s effect on broader environmental issues – this 
is termed an ecological footprint. Most individuals and organisations in developed 
countries have an ecological footprint greater than one planet can sustain if 
everybody on the planet behaved in the same way. 

 
The Devon Climate Emergency 

 
The Devon Climate Emergency partnership recognises this ‘overshoot’ and the 
interlinked nature of the climate and ecological emergencies. It has the aim of 
“Creating a resilient, net-zero carbon Devon – where people and nature thrive.” 

 
The Interim Devon Carbon Plan contains actions to increase residents’ and 
organisations’ awareness of how they can reduce their impact on climate change 
and the natural environment. The communications channels of the Devon Climate 
Emergency projects, funded by this Authority, and the communications activity of 
its partners are continuing to do this. 

 
The Plan also describes how investment needs to occur in technologies and 
approaches that will enable the transition to net-zero, alongside behaviour 
change, and create healthier lifestyles. 

 
Reprioritising Funding 

 
This authority has not allocated funding within the capital programme to new road 
building schemes for the past three years and has no plans to do so in its five-
year forward plan. 

 
Funding for public infrastructure from government comes with specific spending 
priorities and outcomes which currently limit the extent to which funding can be 

Page 186

Agenda Item 9

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=eSDnAnpaGHs


redirected. However, attitudes are changing – the opportunity to bid for the Bus 
Service Improvement Plan, the decarbonisation of buildings and active travel 
schemes are examples. 

 
This Authority is leading the development and testing of tools to assess the 
carbon emissions from highways maintenance and construction activity. Having 
worked that out, new materials and approaches are being designed to do these 
jobs with fewer carbon emissions. 

 

(d) Community Composting Initiatives (Councillor Hodgson) 

 

In the spirit of COP 26 to reduce the carbon footprint of waste recycling, this 
Council will encourage and support community composting initiatives that are 
supported by Parish Councils in the County.   

Briefing Note / Position Statement from the Head of Planning, 
Transportation and Environment   

  
The County Council has supported Community Composting for a number of years. 
A composting credit is currently paid to registered groups at a rate of £33 per 
tonne of garden waste received. On average the groups compost approximately 
1000 tonnes a year, and last year were paid circa £33,000. 

 
Through Community Action Groups (CAG) Devon, funded by DCC, composting 
events for the community have been held recently to support and advise those 
wishing to carry out composting. On October 16th  Sustainable Bishop and CAG 
Devon co-hosted a successful Dr Compost event attended by 20 people. Further 
details can be seen on the CAG Devon website  Getting your hands dirty with Dr 
Compost! - CAG Devon.  A second Dr Compost session was held on 20th 
November at Knightshayes attended by 22 (including 3 NT staff). Both events 
were very well received. 

 
There are plans to update the RecycleDevon community composting guidance 
which currently signposts to the Devon Community Composting Network site. 
There are also plans to offer simple advice with regards to planning issues. 

 
 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 
This Report has no specific equality, environmental, legal or public health implications 
that will not be assessed and appropriate safeguards and/or actions taken or included 
within the detailed policies or practices or requirements in relation to the matters referred 
to herein.  

 ANDREW YENDOLE 
 

[Electoral Divisions:  All] 
Local Government Act 1972: List of Background Papers 
Contact for Enquiries:  K Strahan  
Tel No:  01392 382264  Room: G31  
Background Paper             Date       File Reference 
NIL 

Page 187

Agenda Item 9





1 
FARMS ESTATE COMMITTEE 

13/12/21 
 

 

FARMS ESTATE (INTERVIEWING) COMMITTEE 
 

13 December 2021  
 
Present:- 
 
Councillors J Yabsley (Chair), J Brook (Vice-Chair), C Whitton and Mrs 
L Warner (Tenants’ representative) 

 

 
* 16   Items Requiring Urgent Attention 

 
There was no item raised as a matter of urgency. 
 

* 17   Exclusion of the Press and Public 
 
RESOLVED that the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following items of business under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972 on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in Paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 of Schedule 12A of the Act, 
namely information relating to, and which was likely to reveal the identity of, 
tenants and information relating to the financial or business affairs of tenants 
and the County Council and, in accordance with Section 36 of the Freedom of 
Information Act 2000, by virtue of the fact that the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighed the public interest in disclosing the 
information. 
 

 18   Farm Re-lettings:  Higher Artiscombe Farm, Gulworthy and Little Stone 
Farm, South Molton 
 
(An item taken under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 
during which the press and public were excluded, no representations having 
been received to such consideration under Regulation 5(5) of the Local 
Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012). 
 
The Head of Digital Transformation and Business Support reported on the 
circumstances of this reletting.  
 
To interview applicants for the following holdings due to be vacated by current 
tenants in the foreseeable future (timetable and supporting documents 
circulated separately). 
 
The Committee then considered the rent for the holdings and interviewed 
prospective tenants. 
 
 
 

Page 189

Agenda Item 11a



2 
FARMS ESTATE COMMITTEE 
13/12/21 

 
(a)  Higher Artiscombe Farm, Gulworthy 
 
It was MOVED by Councillor Yabsley, SECONDED by Councillor Brook and 
  
RESOLVED that the tenancy of Higher Artiscombe Farm, Gulworthy be 
offered to Mr JW on the subject to contract terms and conditions proposed 
and in the event that Mr JW does not take up the offer of tenancy the farm can 
be offered in the alternative to Mr SE as runner up. 
 
(b)  Little Stone Farm, South Molton 
 
It was MOVED by Councillor Brook, SECONDED by Councillor Yabsley and 
  
RESOLVED that the tenancy of Little Stone Farm, South Molton be offered to 
Mrs JRW on the subject to contract terms and conditions proposed and in the 
event that Mrs JRW does not take up the offer of tenancy the farm can be 
offered in the alternative to Mr CF as runner up. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
NOTES: 

1. Minutes should always be read in association with any Reports for a 
complete record. 

2. If the meeting has been webcast, it will be available to view on the 
webcasting site for up to 12 months from the date of the meeting 
 

*  DENOTES DELEGATED MATTER WITH POWER TO ACT 
 
The Meeting started at 9.00 am and finished at 5.00 pm 

 

Page 190

Agenda Item 11a

http://www.devoncc.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


1 
FARMS ESTATE COMMITTEE 

14/12/21 
 

 

FARMS ESTATE (INTERVIEWING) COMMITTEE 
 

14 December 2021  
 
Present:- 
 
Councillors J Yabsley (Chair), J Brook (Vice-Chair), C Whitton and Mrs  
L Warner (Tenants’ representative) 

 

 
* 19   Items Requiring Urgent Attention 

 
There was no item raised as a matter of urgency. 
 

* 20   Exclusion of the Press and Public 
 
RESOLVED that the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following items of business under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972 on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in Paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 of Schedule 12A of the Act, 
namely information relating to, and which was likely to reveal the identity of, 
tenants and information relating to the financial or business affairs of tenants 
and the County Council and, in accordance with Section 36 of the Freedom of 
Information Act 2000, by virtue of the fact that the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighed the public interest in disclosing the 
information. 
 

 21   Farm Re-lettings:  Thorndon Farm, Broadwoodwidger, Ten Oaks Farm, 
Roborough and Perriton Barton Farm, Whimple 
 
(An item taken under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 
during which the press and public were excluded, no representations having 
been received to such consideration under Regulation 5(5) of the Local 
Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012). 
 
The Head of Digital Transformation and Business Support reported on the 
circumstances of this reletting.  
 
To interview applicants for the following holdings due to be vacated by current 
tenants in the foreseeable future (timetable and supporting documents 
circulated separately). 
 
The Committee then considered the rent for the holdings and interviewed 
prospective tenants. 
 
 
 

Page 191

Agenda Item 11b



2 
FARMS ESTATE COMMITTEE 
14/12/21 

 
(a)  Thorndon Farm, Broadwoodwidger 
 
It was MOVED by Councillor Brook, SECONDED by Councillor Whitton and 
  
RESOLVED that the tenancy of Thorndon Farm, Broadwoodwidger be offered 
to Mr CF on the subject to contract terms and conditions proposed and in the 
event that Mr CF does not take up the offer of tenancy the farm can be offered 
in the alternative to Mr SE as runner up. 

 
(b) Ten Oaks Farm, Roborough 
 
It was MOVED by Councillor Brook, SECONDED by Councillor Yabsley and 
  
RESOLVED that the tenancy of Ten Oaks Farm, Roborough be offered to Mr 
DF on the subject to contract terms and conditions proposed. 

 
(c)  Perriton Barton Farm, Whimple 
 
It was MOVED by Councillor Brook, SECONDED by Councillor Yabsley and 
  
RESOLVED that the tenancy of Perriton Barton Farm, Whimple be offered to 
Mr DM on the subject to contract terms and conditions proposed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
NOTES: 

1. Minutes should always be read in association with any Reports for a 
complete record. 

2. If the meeting has been webcast, it will be available to view on the 
webcasting site for up to 12 months from the date of the meeting 
 

*  DENOTES DELEGATED MATTER WITH POWER TO ACT 
 
The Meeting started at 9.00 am and finished at 4.00 pm 

 

Page 192

Agenda Item 11b

http://www.devoncc.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


1 
FARMS ESTATE COMMITTEE 

15/12/21 
 

 

FARMS ESTATE COMMITTEE 
 

15 December 2021  
 
Present:- 
 
Councillors J Yabsley (Chair), J Brook (Vice-Chair), C Whitton and Mrs 
L Warner (Tenants’ representative) 

 

 
* 22   Items Requiring Urgent Attention 

 
There was no item raised as a matter of urgency. 
 

* 23   Exclusion of the Press and Public 
 
RESOLVED that the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following items of business under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972 on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in Paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 of Schedule 12A of the Act, 
namely information relating to, and which was likely to reveal the identity of, 
tenants and information relating to the financial or business affairs of tenants 
and the County Council and, in accordance with Section 36 of the Freedom of 
Information Act 2000, by virtue of the fact that the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighed the public interest in disclosing the 
information. 
 

 24   Farm Re-lettings:  Coppa Dolla Farm, Denbury and Nunford Farm, 
Colyton 
 
(An item taken under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 
during which the press and public were excluded, no representations having 
been received to such consideration under Regulation 5(5) of the Local 
Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012). 
 
The Head of Digital Transformation and Business Support reported on the 
circumstances of this reletting.  
 
To interview applicants for the following holdings due to be vacated by current 
tenants in the foreseeable future (timetable and supporting documents 
circulated separately). 
 
The Committee then considered the rent for the holdings and interviewed 
prospective tenants. 
 
 
 

Page 193

Agenda Item 11c



2 
FARMS ESTATE COMMITTEE 
15/12/21 

 
(a)  Coppa Dolla Farm, Denbury 
 
It was MOVED by Councillor Brook, SECONDED by Councillor Whitton and 
  
RESOLVED that the tenancy of Coppa Dolla Farm, Denbury be offered to Mr 
JI on the subject to contract terms and conditions proposed and in the event 
that Mr JI does not take up the offer of tenancy the farm can be offered in the 
alternative to Mr AH as runner up. 

 
(b)  Nunford Farm, Colyton 
 
It was MOVED by Councillor Brook, SECONDED by Councillor Yabsley and 
  
RESOLVED that the tenancy of Nunford Farm, Colyton be offered to Mr ST 
on the subject to contract terms and conditions proposed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
NOTES: 

1. Minutes should always be read in association with any Reports for a 
complete record. 

2. If the meeting has been webcast, it will be available to view on the 
webcasting site for up to 12 months from the date of the meeting 
 

*  DENOTES DELEGATED MATTER WITH POWER TO ACT 
 
The Meeting started at 9.00 am and finished at 4.00 pm 

 

Page 194

Agenda Item 11c

http://www.devoncc.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


 
 

 

 
 

DEVON COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

COUNCIL/CABINET FORWARD PLAN 
 

 
 

 
In line with the public’s general rights of access to information and the promotion of transparency in the way which decisions are taken by or on 

behalf of the Council, Devon County Council produces a Forward Plan of any Key Decisions to be taken by the Cabinet and any Framework 

Decisions to be made by the County Council. The Plan normally covers a period of a minimum of four months from the date of publication and 

is updated every month. 

 

The County Council has defined key decisions as those which by reason of their strategic, political or financial significance or which will have a 

significant effect on communities in more than one division are to be made by the Cabinet or a Committee of the Cabinet.  Framework 

Decisions are those decisions, which, in line with Article 4 of the Council’s Constitution must be made by the County Council.  

 

The Cabinet will, at every meeting, review its forthcoming business and determine which items are to be defined as key decisions and the date 

of the meeting at which every such decision is to be made, indicating what documents will be considered and where, in line with legislation, any 

item may exceptionally be considered in the absence of the press and public. The revised Plan will be published with the papers for the 

meeting. Where possible the Council will attempt to keep to the dates shown in the Plan. It is possible that on occasion may need to be rescheduled. 

Please ensure therefore that you refer to the most up to date Plan. 

 

Click to see an up to date version of the Forward Plan on the Council’s web site at any time. 

 

Also see the website for Copies of Agenda and Reports of the Cabinet or other Committees of the County Council referred to in this Plan  

 

P
age 195

A
genda Item

 13



 
 

 

 

FORWARD PLAN 
 
All items listed in this Forward Plan will be discussed in public at the relevant meeting, unless otherwise indicated for the 
reasons shown 
 
Any person who wishes to make representations to the Council/Cabinet about (a) any of the matters proposed for consideration 
in respect of which a decision is to be made or (b) whether or not they are to be discussed in public or private, as outlined 
below, may do so in writing, before the designated Date for Decision shown, to The Democratic Services & Scrutiny Secretariat, 
County Hall, Exeter, EX2 4QD or by email to: members.services@devon.gov.uk 
 
 

 

PART A - KEY DECISIONS 

(To Be made by the Cabinet) 

Date of 
Decision 

Matter for 
Decision 

Consultees Means of 
Consultation*
* 

Documents to be considered in 
making decision 

County Council 
Electoral 
Division(s) 
affected by 
matter 

 

 Regular / Annual Matters for 
Consideration 

 

12 
January 
2022 

Target Budget and Service 
Targets for 2022/2023 / Budget 
Monitoring 
 

  Report of the Director of Finance  
outlining all relevant considerations, 
information and material including any 
equality and / or impact assessments, 
as necessary. 

All Divisions 

P
age 196

A
genda Item

 13



 
 

 
 

   

9 March 
2022 

Flood Risk Management Action 
Plan 2022/2023 
Update on the current year's 
programme and approval of 
schemes and proposed 
investment in 2022/2023 

Liaison 
through 
Devon 
Operation 
Drainage 
Group 

All other 
Risk 
Managemen
t Authorities 

Report of the Head of Planning, 
Transportation and Environment  
outlining all relevant considerations, 
information and material including any 
equality and / or impact assessments, 
as necessary. 

All Divisions 

11 
February 
2022 

Admission Arrangements and 
Education Travel Review: 
Approval to admission 
arrangements for subsequent 
academic year 
 

School / 
Academies 
/Members 

Online Report of the Head of Education and 
Learning  outlining all relevant 
considerations, information and 
material including any equality and / or 
impact assessments, as necessary. 

All Divisions 

13 April 
2022 

Highway Maintenance Capital 
Budget and On Street Parking 
Account: Progress on the 
2021/2022 Capital Programme 
and Proposals for the 2022/2023 
Programmes 
 

  Report of the Chief Officer for 
Highways, Infrastructure Development 
and Waste  outlining all relevant 
considerations, information and 
material including any equality and / or 
impact assessments, as necessary. 

All Divisions 

13 July 
2022 

Revenue and Capital Outturn 
2021/2022 
 

N/A N/A Report of the Director of Finance  
outlining all relevant considerations, 
information and material including any 
equality and / or impact assessments, 
as necessary. 

All Divisions 

14 
September 
2022 

Adult Social Care - Sufficiency 
Assessment - Annual Return 
 

  Report of the Locality Director  outlining 
all relevant considerations, information 
and material including any equality and 
/ or impact assessments, as necessary. 

All Divisions 

P
age 197

A
genda Item

 13



 
 

 
 

   

 Specific Matters for 
Consideration 

 

12 
January 
2022 

Clean Growth Opportunities – 
East Devon case study – 
adoption of a report to feed into 
the EDDC local plan consultation 
 

n/a n/a Report of the Head of Economy, 
Enterprise and Skills  outlining all 
relevant considerations, information 
and material including any equality and 
/ or impact assessments, as necessary. 

Broadclyst 

Between  
11 
February 
2022 and 
9 March 
2022 

Bideford Library Project:  
Approval to award the contract 
 

N/A N/A Report of the Head of Communities  
outlining all relevant considerations, 
information and material including any 
equality and / or impact assessments, 
as necessary. 

Bideford East 

9 March 
2022 

Budget Monitoring - Month 10 
 

N/A N/A Report of the Director of Finance  
outlining all relevant considerations, 
information and material including any 
equality and / or impact assessments, 
as necessary. 

All Divisions 

9 March 
2022 

Stover Park - Approval of funding 
bid to the National Lottery 
Heritage Fund for Restoring the 
Park 
 

Restoring 
Stover 
Advisory 
Board 

Quarterly 
progress 
updates 
throughout 
developmen
t phase 

Report of the Chief Officer for 
Highways, Infrastructure Development 
and Waste  outlining all relevant 
considerations, information and 
material including any equality and / or 
impact assessments, as necessary. 

Bovey Rural 

P
age 198

A
genda Item

 13



 
 

 
 

   

9 March 
2022 

Plymouth and South Devon 
Freezone 
 

Land 
owners, 
Plymouth 
and South 
Devon 
Freezone 
Stakeholder 
Group 

Meetings 
and an 
Event 

Report of the Head of Planning, 
Transportation and Environment, Head 
of Economy, Enterprise and Skills, 
Director of Finance  outlining all 
relevant considerations, information 
and material including any equality and 
/ or impact assessments, as necessary. 

Bickleigh & 
Wembury 

P
age 199

A
genda Item

 13



 
 

 
 

   

9 March 
2022 

Managing Big Problems in Small 
Places in Rapid Response type 
Catchments: Approval to submit 
Outline Business Case to deliver 
a Flood Resilience Partnership 
project across Devon funded by 
Government’s Flood & Coastal 
Resilience Innovation 
Programme 
 

Project 
stakeholders 
including 
project 
partners and 
contributors: 
Environment 
Agency, 
Devon’s 
Unitary and 
District 
Councils, 
National 
Parks 
Authorities, 
North Devon 
Biosphere, 
Blackdown 
Hills AONB, 
partner 
environment
al non-
governmenta
l 
organisations
, South West 
Water, 
University of 
Exeter, 
University of 
Plymouth, 
Cllr Roger 
Croad 

Stakeholder
s meetings 
and partners 
meetings to 
inform the 
project’s 
objectives 
and 
activities. 
Project 
Expression 
of Interest 
(Project 
Application) 
consultation 
with 
stakeholder
s via 
meetings 
and 
corresponde
nce 

Report of the Head of Planning, 
Transportation and Environment  
outlining all relevant considerations, 
information and material including any 
equality and / or impact assessments, 
as necessary. 

All Divisions 

P
age 200

A
genda Item

 13



 
 

 
 

   

9 March 
2022 

Part 2 - Skypark Development 
Partnership Joint Venture – 
Update to Proposals 
 

N/A N/A Report of the Head of Economy, 
Enterprise and Skills  outlining all 
relevant considerations, information 
and material including any equality and 
/ or impact assessments, as necessary. 

Broadclyst 

13 April 
2022 

Devon County Council’s 
submission to the Devon Climate 
Emergency partnership’s 
consultation about its response to 
the Devon Climate Assembly’s 
recommendations 
 

All members Standing 
Overview 
Group – 
Corporate, 
Infrastructur
e and 
Regulatory 
Services 
Committee 

Report of the Head of Planning, 
Transportation and Environment  
outlining all relevant considerations, 
information and material including any 
equality and / or impact assessments, 
as necessary. 

All Divisions 

13 April 
2022 

Approval of revisions to the 
Highway Infrastructure Asset 
Management Strategy 
 

Corporate, 
Infrastructure 
and 
Regulatory 
Services 
Scrutiny 
Committee 

Meeting Report of the Chief Officer for 
Highways, Infrastructure Development 
and Waste  outlining all relevant 
considerations, information and 
material including any equality and / or 
impact assessments, as necessary. 

All Divisions 

14 
September 
2022 

Budget Monitoring - Month 4 
 

N/A N/A Report of the Director of Finance  
outlining all relevant considerations, 
information and material including any 
equality and / or impact assessments, 
as necessary. 

All Divisions 

P
age 201

A
genda Item

 13



 
 

 
 

   

9 
November 
2022 

Budget Monitoring - Month 6 
 

N/A N/A Report of the Director of Finance  
outlining all relevant considerations, 
information and material including any 
equality and / or impact assessments, 
as necessary. 

All Divisions 

9 
November 
2022 

Childcare Sufficiency 
Assessment - Annual Return 
 

  Report of the Head of Education and 
Learning  outlining all relevant 
considerations, information and 
material including any equality and / or 
impact assessments, as necessary. 

All Divisions 

PART B -FRAMEWORK DECISIONS 
(Requiring approval of the County Council) 

Date of 
Decision 

Matter for 
Decision 

Consultees Means of 
Consultation** 

Documents to be considered in 
making decision 

County Council 
Electoral 
Division(s) 
affected by 
matter 

 

19 
January 
2022 
 
17 
February 
2022 

Pay Policy Statement 2022/2023 
 

Appointments
, 
Remuneratio
n and Chief 
Officer 
Conduct 
Committee 

Meetings Report of the CEX outlining all 
relevant considerations, information 
and material including any equality 
and / or impact assessments, as 
necessary. 

All Divisions 

P
age 202

A
genda Item

 13



 
 

 
 

   

11 
February 
2022 
 
17 
February 
2022 

Revenue Budget, Medium Term 
Financial Strategy 2022/2023 - 
2025/2026 and the Capital 
Programme for 2022/2023 - 
2026/2027 
 

Consultation 
with Trade 
Unions / 
Business and 
those that 
champion the 
interests of 
older people 
and the 
voluntary 
sector. 
Scrutiny 
Committees 

Meetings Report of the Director of Finance 
outlining all relevant considerations, 
information and material including 
any equality and / or impact 
assessments, as necessary. 

All Divisions 

PART C - OTHER MATTERS 
(i.e. Neither Key Nor Framework Decisions) 

Date of 
Decision 

Matter for 
Decision 

Consultees Means of 
Consultation** 

Documents to be considered in 
making decision 

County Council 
Electoral 
Division(s) 
affected by 
matter 

 

 Regular / Annual Matters for 
Consideration 

 

P
age 203

A
genda Item

 13



 
 

 
 

   

Between  
12 
January 
2022 and 
8 May 
2025 

Standing Items, as necessary 
(Minutes, References from 
Committees, Notices of Motion 
and Registers of Delegated or 
Urgent Decisions) 
 

As necessary  Report of the TBC  outlining all relevant 
considerations, information and 
material including any equality and / or 
impact assessments, as necessary. 

All Divisions 

Between  
12 
January 
2022 and 
8 May 
2025 
 
Between  
12 
January 
2022 and 
8 May 
2025 

Standing Items, as necessary 
(Minutes, References from 
Committees, Notices of Motion 
and Registers of Delegated or 
Urgent Decisions) 
[NB:  Items relating to the letting or 
occupancy of individual holdings  may 
contain information about, or which is likely 
to reveal the identity of, an applicant for a 
holding and about the financial and business 
affairs of the Council and any prospective or 
existing tenant that may need to be 
discussed in the absence of the press and 
public] 

To be considered 
at the Farms 
Estates 
Committee, 
including any 
advice of the 
Council’s Agents 
NPS South West 
Ltd 

 Report of the Head of Digital 
Transformation and Business Support, 
Director of Finance  outlining all 
relevant considerations, information 
and material including any equality and 
/ or impact assessments, as necessary. 

All Divisions 

13 July 
2022 

Treasury Management 
Stewardship Outturn Report 
 

Corporate 
Infrastructure 
and 
Regulatory 
Services 
Scrutiny 
Committee 

 Report of the Director of Finance  
outlining all relevant considerations, 
information and material including any 
equality and / or impact assessments, 
as necessary. 

All Divisions 

P
age 204

A
genda Item

 13



 
 

 
 

   

13 July 
2022 

Public Health Annual Report 
2021/2022 
 

  Report of the Director of Public Health  
outlining all relevant considerations, 
information and material including any 
equality and / or impact assessments, 
as necessary. 

All Divisions 

9 
November 
2022 

Torbay and Devon Safeguarding 
Adults Partnership - Annual 
Report 
 

  Report of the Chair outlining all relevant 
considerations, information and 
material including any equality and / or 
impact assessments, as necessary. 

All Divisions 

14 
December 
2022 

Treasury Management 
Stewardship Mid Year Report 
 

CIRS 
Scrutiny 
Committee 

Committee Report of the Director of Finance  
outlining all relevant considerations, 
information and material including any 
equality and / or impact assessments, 
as necessary. 

All Divisions 

 Specific Matters for 
Consideration 

 

P
age 205

A
genda Item

 13



P
age 206

A
genda Item

 13


	Agenda
	7 Budget Monitoring (Month 8) and Target Budget and Service Targets 2022/2023
	8 A Clean Growth Vision for Development
	A Clean Growth Vision for the West of East Devon - Vision, Strategy, and Anchor Opportunities
	Clean Growth Vision FINAL
	Clean Growth Strategy Draft Report 16122021
	Appendix 1 Anchor Opportunities 301121

	Impact Assessment -  A Clean Growth Vision for Development

	9 Notice(s) of Motion
	11a Farms Estate Interviewing Committee - 13th December, 2021
	Minutes

	11b Farms Estate Interviewing Committee - 14th December, 2021
	Minutes

	11c Farms Estate Interviewing Committee - 15th December, 2021
	Minutes

	13 Forward Plan
	Plan


